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Syllabus objectives
and learning outcomes

CERTIFICATE IN ACCOUNTING AND FINANCE
FINANCIAL ACCOUNTING AND REPORTING I

Objective

To broaden the knowledge base of basic accounting acquired in earlier modules with
emphasis on International Financial Reporting Standards.

Learning Outcome

On the successful completion of this paper candidates will be able to:

1 prepare financial statements in accordance with the relevant law of the country
and in compliance with the reporting requirement of the international
pronouncements.

2 account for transactions relating to tangible and intangible assets including
transactions relating to their common financing matters.

3 understand the implication of contingencies; changes in accounting policies and
estimates; errors and events occurring after reporting period.

4 account for transactions relating to taxation.

5 demonstrate knowledge of basic ethical issues in preparation and reporting of
financial information.

6 apply financial analysis on given financial and non-financial information.
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Grid Weighting

Final Accounts 8-12
Consolidation of single subsidiary 10-20
Accounting for tangible and intangible assets, leases and borrowing cost 25-35
Provisions and contingencies; changes in accounting policies and 25-35
estimates; errors and events occurring after reporting period; and taxation

Ethics 5-10
Financial analysis 5-10

Total 100

Contents Level Learning Outcome

Preparation of financial
statements — Final accounts

Preparation of financial
statements of limited
companies in line with the
requirement of the Companies
Ordinance, 1984 and
International Financial
Reporting Standards (IAS 1
and 7 and others included in
the syllabus) excluding
liquidations reconstructions
and mergers

LO1.1.1: Prepare statements of financial
position in accordance with the guidance in
IAS 1 from data and information provided
LO1.1.2: Identify the laws, regulations,
reporting standards and other requirements
applicable to statutory financial statements of a
limited company

LO1.1.3: Prepare and present the following in
accordance with the disclosure requirements of
IAS1, Companies ordinance, fourth schedule /
fifth schedule.

e Statement of financial position

e  Statement of comprehensive income.

e Statement of changes in equity

e Notes to the financial statements

LO1.1.4: Prepare statement of cash flows in
accordance with the requirements of 1AS 7.

Preparation of financial
statements — Consolidation
of a single subsidiary

Elimination of investment in
subsidiary and parent’s equity

LO1.2.1: Describe the concept of a group as a
single economic unit.

LO1.2.2: Define using simple examples
subsidiary, parent and control

LO1.2.3: Describe situations when control is
presumed to exist.
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Contents Level Learning Outcome

LO1.2.4: Identify and describe the
circumstances in which an entity is required to
prepare and present consolidated financial
statements

LO1.2.5: Eliminate (by posting journal entries)
the carrying amount of the parent’s investment
in subsidiary against the parent’s portion of
equity of subsidiary and recognize the
difference between the two balances as either
e goodwill; or

e gain from bargain purchase

Preparation of financial
statements — Consolidation
of a single subsidiary
(continued)

Identification of non-controlling
interest

LO1.3.1: Define and describe non- controlling

interest in the case of a partially owned

subsidiary.

LO1.3.2: Identify the non-controlling interest in

the following.

e net assets of a consolidated subsidiary;
and

e  profit or loss of the consolidated
subsidiary for the reporting period

Profit and loss from intra-
company transactions relating
to assets and inventories
without tax implications

LO1.4.1: Post adjusting entries to eliminate the
effects of intergroup sale of inventory and
depreciable assets.

Preparation of consolidated
statements of financial position

LO1.5.1: Prepare and present simple
consolidated statements of financial position
involving a single subsidiary in accordance
with IFRS 10.

Preparation of consolidated
statements of comprehensive
income

LO1.6.1: Prepare and present a simple
consolidated statement of comprehensive
income involving a single subsidiary in
accordance with IFRS 10.

Accounting for tangible and
intangible assets, leases and
borrowing costs

Recognition, de-recognition,
measurement, depreciation /
amortization and measurement
after recognition of non-
current assets (IAS 16 and IAS
38)

LO2.1.1: Explain and apply the accounting
treatment of property, plant and equipment and
intangible assets.

LO2.1.2: Formulate accounting policies in
respect of property, plant and equipment and
intangible assets.

© Emile Woolf International
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Contents Level Learning Outcome

Leases (IAS 17)

2

LO2.2.1: Describe the method of determining a

lease type i.e. an operating or finance lease.
LO2.2.2: Prepare journal entries and present
extracts of financial statements in respect of
lessee accounting, lessor accounting, and sale
and lease back arrangements after making
necessary calculations.

LO2.2.3: Formulate accounting policies in
respect of different lease transactions.
LO2.2.4: Analyse the effect of different leasing
transactions on the presentation of financial
statements.

Recognition of borrowing costs
(IAS 23)

LO2.3.1: Describe borrowing cost and
qualifying assets using examples.

LO2.3.2: Identify and account for borrowing
costs in accordance with IAS 23.

LO2.3.3: Disclose borrowing costs in financial
statements.

LO2.3.4: Formulate accounting policies in
respect of borrowing cost.

Provisions and
contingencies; changes in
accounting policies and
estimates; errors and events
occurring after reporting
period

Provisions, contingent liabilities
and contingent assets (IAS-37)

LO3.1.1: Define liability, provision, contingent
liability and contingent asset describe their
accounting treatment.

LO3.1.2: Distinguish between provisions,
contingent liabilities or contingent assets.
LO3.1.3: Understand and apply the recognition
and de-recognition criteria for provisions
LO3.1.4: Calculate/ measure provisions such
as warranties/guarantees, restructuring,
onerous contracts, environmental and similar
provisions, provisions for future repairs or
refurbishments.

LO3.1.5: Account for changes in provisions
LO3.1.6: Disclosure requirements for
provisions

Accounting policies, changes
in accounting estimates; and
errors (IAS-8)

LO3.2.1: Define accounting policies,
accounting estimates and prior period errors.
LO3.2.2: Account for the effect of change in
accounting estimates and policies in the
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Contents Level @ Learning Outcome

financial statements.

LO3.2.3: Understand and analyze using
examples, IFRS guidance on accounting
policies, change in accounting policies and
disclosure.

LO3.2.4: Understand and analyze using
examples, IFRS guidance on accounting
estimates, changes in accounting estimates
and disclosure.

LO3.2.5: Understand and analyze using
examples, IFRS guidance on errors, correction
of errors and disclosure.

Events occurring after the
reporting period (IAS-10)

LO3.3.1: Explain using examples events after
the reporting period, adjusting events, and
non-adjusting events.

LO3.3.2: Understand and analyze using
examples IFRS guidance on the recognition,
measurement and disclosure of adjusting
events and non-adjusting events.

L0O3.3.3: Understand and analyze using
examples, going concern issues arising after
the end of the reporting period.

Accounting for taxation

Taxation: Current year, prior
years and deferred (IAS-12)
Note that the deferred
consequences of the following
transactions are not
examinable:
e Business combination
(including goodwiill

e Assets carried at fair value

e Un-used tax losses and
credits

e Re-assessment of un-
recognized deferred tax
assets

e Investments in
subsidiaries, branches,
associates and interest in
joint venture

e Items recognized outside
profit and loss account

¢ Share based payment

LO4.1.1: Define temporary differences and
identify temporary differences that cause
deferred tax liabilities and deferred tax assets
LO4.1.2: Determine amounts to be recognised
in respect of temporary differences

LO4.1.3: Prepare and present deferred tax
calculations using the balance sheet approach.
LO4.1.4: Account for the major components of
tax expense/income and its relationship with
accounting profit.

LO4.1.5: Formulate accounting policies in
respect of deferred tax

LO4.1.6: Apply disclosure requirements of
IAS12 to scenarios of a moderate level of
complexity
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Contents Level Learning Outcome

Ethics

Fundamental principles
(sections 100 to 150 of the
Code of Ethics for Chartered
Accountants)

LO5.1.1: Describe with examples the
fundamental principles of professional ethics of
integrity, objectivity, professional competence
and due care, confidentiality and professional
behaviour

LO5.1.2: Apply the conceptual framework to
identify, evaluate and address threats to
compliance with fundamental principles

An understanding of ethics
relating to preparation and
reporting of financial
information (Section 320 of
Code of Ethics for Chartered
Accountants)

LO5.2.1: Explain using simple examples the
ethical responsibilities of a chartered
accountant in preparation and reporting of
financial information

Financial analysis

Compute various ratios from

data and information provided.

LO6.1.1: Following ratios:

e Current ratio

e Acid-test ratio/quick ratio
e  Gross profit

¢ Return on equity

e Return on assets

e Return on capital employed
o  Debt-equity ratio

e Inventory turnover

e Debtor turnover

e Creditor turnover
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Legal background to the preparation
of financial statements

1 Regulatory framework for accounting in Pakistan

2 Companies’ Ordinance 1984: Fourth Schedule
3 Companies’ Ordinance 1984: Fifth Schedule
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INTRODUCTION

Learning outcomes

The overall objective of the syllabus is to broaden the knowledge base of basic accounting
acquired in earlier modules with emphasis on International Financial Reporting Standards.

LO1 Prepare financial statements in accordance with the relevant law of the
country and in compliance with the reporting requirement of the
international pronouncements.

LO1.1.2 Identify the laws, regulations, reporting standards and other requirements
applicable to statutory financial statements of a limited company

LO1.1.3 Prepare and present the following in accordance with the disclosure
requirements of IAS1, Companies ordinance, fourth schedule / fifth schedule:
Statement of financial position; Statement of comprehensive income; AND
Statement of changes in equity.

© Emile Woolf International 2 The Institute of Chartered Accountants of Pakistan



Chapter 1: Legal background to the preparation of financial statements

1 REGULATORY FRAMEWORK FOR ACCOUNTING IN PAKISTAN

Section overview

Accounting regulation in Pakistan

Companies’ Ordinance 1984: Introduction to accounting requirements
Companies’ Ordinance 1984 Introduction to the fourth and fifth schedules
Accounting standards: Three tier approach

Summary: Which schedules and standards?

International Financial Reporting Standards

1.1 Accounting regulation in Pakistan

The objective of financial statements is to provide information about the financial
position, financial performance and cash flows of an entity that is useful to a wide
range of users in making economic decisions.

The Securities and Exchange Commission of Pakistan

The Securities and Exchange Commission of Pakistan (SECP) was established
by the Securities and Exchange Commission of Pakistan Act, 1997 and became
operational in 1999.

It is the corporate and capital market regulatory authority in Pakistan. Its stated
mission is “To develop a fair, efficient and transparent regulatory framework,
based on international legal standards and best practices, for the protection of
investors and mitigation of systemic risk aimed at fostering growth of a robust
corporate sector and broad based capital market in Pakistan” (SECP website).

One of the roles of the SECP is to decide on accounting rules that must be
applied by companies in Pakistan.

Companies must prepare financial statements in accordance with accounting
standards approved as applicable and notified in the official gazette by the
Securities and Exchange Commission of Pakistan (SECP) and in accordance
with rules in the Companies’ Ordinance 1984.

The Institute of Chartered Accountants in Pakistan (ICAP)

ICAP regulates the Chartered Accountancy profession. It is the body responsible
for recommending accounting standards for notification by the Securities and
Exchange Commission of Pakistan. The process is explained later.

1.2 Companies’ Ordinance 1984: Introduction to accounting requirements

The Companies Ordinance 1984 is the primary source of company law in
Pakistan. Amongst other things it establishes the requirements for financial
reporting by all companies in Pakistan.

General requirements

Every company must prepare annual accounts (financial statements) that provide
a true and fair view on the performance and activities of the company during the
year.

© Emile Woolf International 3 The Institute of Chartered Accountants of Pakistan
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1.3

The financial statements comprise:

O a balance sheet (statement of financial position): a structured representation
of the financial position of an entity;

U an income statement (statement of comprehensive income): a structured
representation of the financial position of an entity.

O a statement of changes in equity;
U a cash flow statement;

U notes to the accounts which contain a summary of significant accounting
policies and other information that sets out explanations of figures in the main
statements and provides supplementary information.

Section 234

Section 234 requires that every balance sheet (statement of financial position)
must give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the company as at the end
of its financial year, and every profit and loss account or income and expenditure
account of a company must give a true and fair view of the profit and loss of the
company for the financial year.

All items of expenditure must be recognised in the profit or loss account unless it
may be fairly charged over several years. In such cases the whole amount must
be stated with the reasons why only part is charged against the income of the
financial year.

Other requirements

Assets and liabilities must be classified under headings appropriate to the
company's business.

The period reported on in the accounts is called the financial year.

Companies’ Ordinance 1984: Introduction to the fourth and fifth schedules

The Companies Ordinance 1984 contains a series of appendices called
schedules which set out detailed requirements in certain areas.

The fourth schedule to the Companies Ordinance 1984

This schedule sets out the detailed requirements that must be complied with in
respect of the balance sheet and profit and loss account of a listed company. It
also applies to private and non-listed public companies that are a subsidiary of a
listed company.

The schedule specifies that listed companies must follow International Financial
Reporting Standards as notified for this purpose in the Official Gazette.

The fifth schedule to the Companies Ordinance 1984

This schedule applies to the balance sheets and profit and loss accounts of all
other companies.

This schedule defines and applies to economically significant companies,
medium sized companies and small sized companies. These categories
determine which accounting standards are followed. The three categories are
defined in the next section.

© Emile Woolf International 4 The Institute of Chartered Accountants of Pakistan
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1.4 Accounting standards: Three tier approach

The regulatory framework in Pakistan uses a three tier approach to specify which
accounting standards must be followed by an organisation.

Tier 1: Publically accountable entities
This includes:

O Any entity that has filed, or is in the process of filing, its financial statements
with the Securities and Exchange Commission of Pakistan.

O Any entity that holds assets in a fiduciary capacity for a broad group of
outsiders. This group includes banks, insurance companies, securities
brokers, pension funds, mutual funds and investment banking entities.

U Any entity that is a public utility or a similar entity that provides an essential
public service.

O Any entity that is economically significant meaning, that it has:
. turnover (revenue) in excess of Rs. 1 billion, excluding other income;
. in excess of 750 employees; or

. total borrowings (excluding normal trade credit and accrued liabilities)
in excess of Rs, 500 million.

Any entity in this category must apply IFRS as approved as applicable and
notified in the official gazette by the Securities and Exchange Commission of
Pakistan.

For clarity:

QO A listed company must follow the fourth schedule and apply IFRS (as specified
and notified by the SECP).

O An unlisted economically significant entity must follow the fifth schedule and
apply IFRS (as specified and notified by the SECP).

If there is a conflict between IFRS and any SECP guidance or decision the SECP
view must be applied.

Tier 2: Medium Sized Entities (MSEs)-
An entity falls into this category if:
4 Itis not a listed company or a subsidiary of a listed company; and

U It has not filed, or is not in the process of filing, its financial statements with the
Securities and Exchange Commission of Pakistan (SECP); and

O It does not hold assets in a fiduciary capacity for a broad group of outsiders,
such as a bank, insurance company, securities broker/dealer, pension fund,
mutual fund or investment banking entity; and

O Itis not a public utility or similar entity that provides an essential public service;
and

4 it is not economically significant (see the above criteria); and
O not a Small-Sized Entity (SSE) as defined below.

Any entity in this category must apply Accounting and Financial Reporting
Standards for Medium-Sized Entities (a single document drafted and issued by
ICAP). This standard is not examinable.
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Tier 3: Small Sized Entities (SSES)
An entity falls into this category if:

O its paid up capital plus undistributed reserves (total equity after taking into
account any dividend proposed for the year) does not exceed Rs. 25 million;
and

4 its annual turnover (revenue) excluding other income does not exceed Rs. 250
million.

All of the above-mentioned conditions must be satisfied in order to qualify as a
Small-Sized Company.

Any entity in this category must apply Accounting and Financial Reporting
Standards for Small-Sized Entities (a single document drafted and issued by
ICAP). This standard is not examinable.

1.5 Summary: Which schedules and standards?

Entity Which standards? Which schedule?

Listed entities Full IFRS as approved and  Fifth schedule
notified by SECP

Public utility Full IFRS as approved and  Fourth schedule
notified by SECP

Unlisted Full IFRS as approved and  Fifth schedule

economically notified by SECP

significant entities

Medium sized Accounting and Financial Fourth schedule

entity Reporting Standards for
Medium-Sized Entities

Small sized entity  Accounting and Financial Fourth schedule

Reporting Standards for
Small-Sized Entities

1.6 International Financial Reporting Standards

The International Accounting Standards Committee (IASC) was established in
1973 to develop international accounting standards with the aim of harmonising
accounting procedures throughout the world.

The first International Accounting Standards (IASs) were issued in 1975. The
work of the IASC was supported by another body called the Standing
Interpretation Committee. This body issued interpretations of rules in standards
when there was divergence in practice. These interpretations were called
Standing Interpretation Committee Pronouncements or SICs.

In 2001 the constitution of the IASC was changed leading to the replacement of
the IASC and the SIC by new bodies called the International Accounting
Standards Board (IASB) and the International Financial Reporting Interpretations
Committee (IFRIC).

The IASB adopted all IASs and SICs that were extant at the time but said that
standards written from that time were to be called International Financial
Reporting Standards (IFRS). Interpretations are known as IFRICs.

The term IFRS is also used to refer to the whole body of rules (i.e., IAS and IFRS
in total).
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Thus IFRS is made up as follows:

Published by the IASC  Published by the IASB

(up to 2001) (from 2001)
Accounting standards IASs IFRSs
Interpretations SICs IFRICs

Note that many IASs and SICs have been replaced or amended by the IASB
since 2001.

International accounting standards cannot be applied in any country without the
approval of the national regulators in that country. All jurisdictions have some
kind of formal approval process which is followed before IFRS can be applied in
that jurisdiction.

Note that interpretations are not examinable at this level.

Adoption process for IFRS in Pakistan

The previous sections refer to the approval of IFRS by the SECP and notification
of that approval in the Official Gazette

Adoption of an IFRS involves the following steps:

O As a first step the IFRS/IAS is considered by ICAP’s Accounting Standards
Committee (ASC), which identifies any issues that may arise on adoption.

U The ASC refers the matter to the Professional Standards and Technical
Advisory Committee (PSTAC) of ICAP. This committee determines how the
adoption and implementation of the standard can be facilitated. It considers
issues like how long any transition period should be and whether adoption of
the standard would requires changes in regulations.

4 If the PSTAC identifies the need for changes to regulations it refers the matter
to the Securities and Exchange Commission of Pakistan (SECP) (and/or the
State Bank of Pakistan (SBP) for matters affecting banks and other financial
institutions). This process is managed by the Coordination Committees of
ICAP and SECP (SBP).

O After the satisfactory resolution of issues the PSTAC and the Council
reconsider the matter of adoption.

O ICAP recommends the adoption to the SECP (SBP) by decision of the
Council. The decision to adopt the standard rests with the SECP and SBP.

U IFRSs are adopted by the Securities and Exchange Commission of Pakistan
by notification in the Official Gazette. When notified, the standards have the
authority of the law.

There follows a table which lists all IFRSs and indicates whether each has been
approved for use in Pakistan and whether it is examinable at this level.
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WEr  Epnhe
IAS 1 — Presentation of Financial Statements Yes Yes
IAS 2 — Inventories Yes Covered earlier
IAS 7 — Cash Flow Statements Yes Yes
IAS 8 — Accounting Policies, Changes in
Accounting Estimates and Errors Yes Yes
IAS 10 — Events occurring after the reporting period Yes Yes
IAS 11 — Construction Contracts Yes
IAS 12 — Income Taxes Yes Yes (in part)
IAS 14 — Segment Reporting Yes
IAS 16 — Property, Plant and Equipment Yes Yes
IAS 17 — Leases Yes Yes
IAS 18 — Revenue Yes Covered earlier
IAS 19 — Employee Benefits Yes
IAS 20 — Accounting for Government Grants and
Disclosure of Government Assistance Yes
IAS 21 — The Effects of Changes in Foreign
Exchange Rates Yes
IAS 23 — Borrowing Costs Yes Yes
IAS 24 — Related Party Disclosures Yes
IAS 26 — Accounting and Reporting by Retirement
Benefit Plans Yes
IAS 27 — Consolidated and Separate Financial
Statements Yes
IAS 28 — Accounting for Investments in Associates Yes
IAS 29 — Financial Reporting in Hyperinflationary Not relevant in
Economies Pakistan
IAS 31 - Financial Reporting of Interests in Joint
Ventures Yes
IAS 32 — Financial Instruments: Presentation Yes
IAS 33 — Earnings Per Share Yes
IAS 34 — Interim Financial Reporting Yes
IAS 36 — Impairment of Assets Yes
IAS 37 — Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and
Contingent Assets Yes Yes
IAS 38 — Intangible Assets Yes Yes
IAS 39 — Financial Instruments: Recognition and Yes (but deferred
Measurement for banks)
IAS 40 — Investment Property Yes (but deferred

for banks)
IAS 41 — Agriculture Yes
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Standard Applicable in Examinable at

Pakistan? this level?

IFRS 1 — First time adoption of IFRS No (under

consideration)
IFRS 2 — Share-based payment Yes
IFRS 3 — Business combinations Yes Yes (in part)
IFRS 4 — Insurance contracts Yes
IFRS 5 — Non-current assets held for sale and
discontinued operations Yes
IFRS 6 — Exploration for and evaluation of mineral
resources Yes
IFRS 7 — Financial Instruments: Disclosures Yes (but deferred

for banks)

IFRS 8 — Operating segments Yes
IFRS 9 — Financial Instruments No (under

consideration)
IFRS 10 — Consolidated financial statements No (under

consideration) Yes (in part)
IFRS 11 — Joint arrangements No (under

consideration)
IFRS 12 — Disclosure of interests in other entities No (under

consideration)
IFRS 13 — Fair value measurement No (under

consideration)
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2 COMPANIES’ ORDINANCE 1984: FOURTH SCHEDULE

Section overview

Fixed assets (non-current assets)
Long term investments

Long term loans and advances
Long term deposits and prepayments
Current assets

Share capital and reserves
Non-current liabilities

Current liabilities

Contingencies and commitments
Profit and loss account

Other disclosures

These requirements must be followed in addition to those in IFRS.

2.1 Fixed assets (non-current assets)

Fixed assets (other than investments) must be classified as follows:
QO property, plant and equipment:
. land (distinguishing between freehold and leasehold);

. buildings (distinguishing between building on freehold land and those
on leasehold land);

. plant and machinery;

o furniture and fittings;

. vehicles;

. office equipment;

. capital work in progress;

. development property; and

. others (to be specified)

4 intangible:
. goodwill;
. brand names;

. computer software;

. licences and franchises;

. patents, copyright, trademarks and designs;
. intangible assets under development; and

. others (to be specified).

© Emile Woolf International 10 The Institute of Chartered Accountants of Pakistan



Chapter 1: Legal background to the preparation of financial statements

2.2 Long term investments
The aggregate amount (under separate sub-headings) in respect of the following:
O investments in related parties; and
U other investments.

The investments must be shown under the heading long term investments,
indicating separately:

U at cost;
U using the equity method,;

O held to maturity investments, which are not due to mature within next twelve
months; and

U available for sale investments which are not intended to be sold within the next
12 months.

This section introduces several terms which require further explanation. They are
covered in more detail in certain international accounting standards which are not
in your syllabus. However, the Companies’ Ordinance 1984 is in your syllabus
and refers to these. Therefore, they will be explained briefly.

Related parties

A related party is an entity or person with the ability to control the company or
exercise significant influence over the company in making financial and operating
decisions or an entity over which the company has ability to control or exercise
significant influence.

IAS 24 Related Party Disclosures includes a list of related parties and specifies
disclosures. This standard is not in this syllabus.
The equity method

The equity method is a method of accounting where an investment is initially
recognised at cost and the carrying amount is increased or decreased to
recognise the investor’s share of the profit or loss of the investee after the date of
acquisition.

IAS 28: Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures specifies the use of the
equity method in accounting for associates and joint ventures.

IAS 28 is not in your syllabus.

Held to maturity investments

This is a type of asset defined in IAS 39: Financial Instruments: Recognition and
Measurement.

Held to maturity investments are financial assets with fixed or determinable
payments and fixed maturity that an entity has the positive intention and ability to
hold to maturity.

They are measured at amortised cost. The amortised cost of a financial asset is
the amount invested initially plus interest recognised at the effective rate less any
cash received in respect of the asset.

IAS 39 is not in your syllabus.
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Available for sale investment

This is also a type of asset defined in IAS 39: Financial Instruments: Recognition
and Measurement.

An available for sale investment is one that is not a loan or receivable, nor held to
maturity nor held for trading purposes.

IAS 39 requires that available for sale investments are remeasured to fair value
at each reporting date. Any difference is recognised as other comprehensive
income (see chapter 2) and accumulated as a separate reserve in equity.

IAS 39 is not in your syllabus.

2.3 Long term loans and advances

The following must be shown (under separate sub-headings) distinguishing
between considered good and considered bad or doubtful.

O Loans and advances to related parties and disclosing:

o Details of each borrower (name, amount, terms and details of security
held if any);
. Maximum amount outstanding since the later of the date of

incorporation or the date of the previous balance sheet.

O Other loans and advances disclosing in respect of amounts to those other
than suppliers the name of the borrower and the terms of repayment if the
amount is material with particulars of security.

@ lllustration: Long term loans and advances
h A disclosure note might look like this.

Statement of financial position (extract) 2013 2012
Non-current assets Rs. Rs.
Loans and advances 237,900 158,750
Note to the accounts: 2013 2012
Rs. Rs.
To employees - secured, considered good 197,026 167,952
To supplier - unsecured, considered good 98,736 28,734

295,762 196,686
Less current portion shown under current assets (57,862) (37,936)
237,900 158,750

Loans to employees are interest free loans for the purpose of cars. They
are repayable within 3 years and are secured on the vehicles. The
maximum amount of the loans during the year was Rs. 201,345 (2012:
174,321).

The loan to supplier is an unsecured loan given to the TZ Electric Company
to fund the development of electrical supply infrastructure at our Lahore
depot. The loan is repayable in equal instalments over. Mark-up is charged
at 2% per annum.
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2.4 Long term deposits and prepayments
Long-term deposits and long-term prepayments must be stated separately.

Any material item must be disclosed separately.

2.5 Current assets

Current assets must be classified in a way appropriate to the company's affairs,
including the following:

U stores, spare parts and loose tools distinguishing each from the other where
practicable;

O stock-in-trade, distinguishing between appropriate classifications (for example,
raw materials and components, work in progress, finished products etc.).

U trade debts (other than loans and advances) showing separately:

. debts considered good and debts considered doubtful or bad must be
separately stated;

. debts considered good must be distinguished between secured and
unsecured;

. the aggregate amount due from directors, chief executive and
executives; and

. the aggregate amount due from related parties with the names of
those related parties.

O loans and advances due for repayment within a period of twelve months from
the reporting date showing separately:

. loans and advances considered good and those considered doubtful
or bad;

. the aggregate amount due from directors, chief executive and
executives;

. the aggregate amount due from related parties with the names of
those related parties;

U trade deposits and short term prepayments and current account balances with
statutory authorities;

O interest accrued;
O other receivables specifying separately the materials items;
U financial assets other than any included above showing separately:

. the aggregate amount due from directors, chief executive and
executives;

. the aggregate amount due from related parties with the names of
those related parties;

O tax refunds due from the Government, showing separately different types of
tax;

U cash and bank balances, distinguishing between current and deposit
accounts.

Any provision made for a fall in value of any current asset is shown as a
deduction from the gross amount of that asset.
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Definition
o)

& Executive: An employee, other than the chief executive and directors, whose basic
salary exceeds five hundred thousand rupees in a financial year.

A disclosure note might look like this.

@ lllustration: Stock in trade

Statement of financial position (extract) 2013 2012
Current assets Rs. Rs.
Stock in trade 547,132 523,890
Note to the accounts: 2013 2012
Rs. Rs.
Raw materials 139,950 153,856
Work in progress 178,434 163,433
Finished goods 179,100 162,121
Goods purchased for sale 51,962 48,261
549,446 527,671
Less: Provision for slow moving items (2,314) (3,781)

547,132 523,890

A disclosure note might look like this.

@ lllustration: Trade debts

Statement of financial position (extract) 2013 2012
Current assets Rs. Rs.
Trade debts 493,657 472,010
Note to the accounts: 2013 2012
Rs. Rs.
Considered good - secured 19,247 15,652
Considered good - unsecured 474,410 456,358
Considered doubtful - unsecured 10,192 8,763
503,849 480,773
Less: Provision for doubtful debts (10,192) (8,763)

493,657 472,010

The considered good - unsecured trade debts include Rs. 47, 438 (2012
Rs. 26,342) from X Limited, a related party.

2.6 Share capital and reserves

Share capital and reserve must be classified under the following sub-heads:
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U issued, subscribed and paid up capital, distinguishing in respect of each class
between:

o shares allotted for consideration paid in cash;
o shares allotted for consideration other than cash; and
o shares allotted as bonus shares; and

O reserves (distinguishing between capital reserves and revenue reserves).

Definition
o)

& Capital reserve: A reserve not regarded free for distribution by way of dividend.
(Includes capital redemption reserve, capital repurchase reserve account, share
premium account, profit prior to incorporation).

Revenue reserve: A reserve that is normally regarded as available for distribution.

lllustration: Share capital
i

A disclosure note might look like this.
Statement of financial position (extract) 2013 2012

Rs. 000 Rs. 000

Issued subscribed and paid-up capital (Ordinary
shares of Rs. 10 each) 41,800 38,000

Note to the accounts: 2013 2012 2013 2012

Rs. 000 Rs. 000 Number Number
of shares of shares

Authorised share
capital (Ordinary
shares of Rs. 10
each) 50,000 50,000 5,000,000 5,000,000

Issued subscribed
and paid-up capital
(Ordinary shares of

Rs. 10 each)

Fully paid in cash 35,000 35,000 3,500,000 3,500,000
Fully paid for

consideration other

than cash 3,000 3,000 300,000 300,000
Bonus issue 3,800 nil 380,000 nil

41,800 38,000 4,800,000 3,800,000
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2.7 Non-current liabilities

Non-current liabilities must be classified under the following sub-headings:
U long term financing;

U debentures;

U liabilities against assets subject to finance lease;

U long term murabaha,;

O long term deposits; and

U deferred liabilities.

Long term loans must be classified as secured and unsecured, and the following
must be shown separately under each class:

O loans from banking companies and other financial institutions, other than
those as specified below;

U loans from related parties; and
Q4 other loans.
Long-term deposits must be classified according to their nature.

2.8 Current liabilities

Current liabilities and provisions must be classified under the following sub-
headings:

O trade and other payables, which shall be classified as:

. creditors;

o murabaha;

. accrued liabilities;

. advance payments;

. payable to employee retirement benefit funds;

o unpaid and unclaimed dividend; and

. others ( to be specified, if material);
O interest, profit, return or mark-up accrued on loans and other payables;
O short term borrowings which shall be classified as:

. short-term borrowings, distinguishing between secured and
unsecured and between loans taken from:

- banking companies and other financial institutions other than
related parties;

— related parties; and

— others;

. short-term running finance, distinguishing between secured and
unsecured;

U current portion of long term borrowings;
U current portion of long term murabaha; and
U provision for taxation, showing separately income tax and other taxes.
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lllustration: Trade and other payables
cia A disclosure note might look like this.
Statement of financial position (extract) 2013 2012
Current liabilities Rs. Rs.
Trade and other payables 316,715 268,803
Note to the accounts: 2013 2012
Rs. Rs.
Trade creditors 275,102 228,869
Accrued liabilities 13,610 14,599
Advance payments 23,457 22,222
Others 4,546 3,113
316,715 268,803

2.9 Contingencies and commitments
The following must be shown separately as a footnote to the balance-sheet:

O the aggregate amount of any guarantees given by the company on behalf of
any related party and where practicable, the general nature of the guarantee;

O where practicable the aggregate amount or estimated amount, if it is material,
of contracts for capital expenditure, so far as not provided for or a statement
that such an estimate cannot be made; and

O any other commitment, if the amount is material, indicating the general nature
of the commitment.

2.10 Profit and loss account

The profit and loss account must disclose separately the manufacturing, trading
and operating results.

A manufacturing concern must show the cost of goods manufactured.

The profit and loss account must disclose all material items of income and
expenses including the following:

U The turnover (sales) showing the gross sales figure with trade discount and
sales tax as a deduction.

0 Expenses, classified according to their function under the following sub-heads
(along with additional information on their nature):

. cost of sales;

. distribution cost;

o administrative expenses;

. other operating expenses; and

. finance cost.

U Other operating income:
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. income from financial assets;

o income from investments in and debts, loans, advances and
receivables to each related party; and

. income from assets other than financial assets.

O Finance cost must show separately the amount of interest on borrowings from
related parties (if any).

L Other information:

. debts written off as irrecoverable distinguishing between trade debts,
loans, advances and other receivables; and

. provisions for doubtful or bad debts distinguishing between trade
debts, loans, advances and other receivables.

. In each case the company must disclose:

— debts due by directors, chief executive, and executives of the
company and any of them severally or jointly with any other
person; and

- debts due by other related parties.

O The aggregate amount of auditors’ remuneration, showing separately fees,
expenses and other remuneration for services rendered as auditors and for
services rendered in any other capacity and stating the nature of such other
services. (Amounts must be shown separately for joint auditors).

O If a donation is made and any director or his spouse has interest in the donee,
the company must disclose the names of such directors, their interest in the
donee and the names and address of all donees.

lllustration: Turnover
cia A disclosure note might look like this.
Profit and loss account (extract) 2013 2012
Rs. Rs.
Turnover 578,554 533,991
Note to the accounts: 2013 2012
Rs. Rs.
Gross sales 673,669 611,670
Less:
Sales tax (83,839) (74,566)
Trade discounts (11,276) (3,113)
578,554 533,991
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Payments to senior management

A company must disclose the aggregate amount charged in the financial
statements in respect of the directors, chief executive and executives by the
company as fees, remuneration, allowances, commission, perquisites or benefits
or in any other form or manner and for any services rendered.

The company must give full particulars of the aggregate amounts separately for
the directors, chief executive and executives together with the number of such
directors and executives, under appropriate headings such as:

U fees;

U managerial remuneration;

U commission or bonus, indicating their nature;

U reimbursable expenses which are in the nature of a perquisite or benefit;
a

pension, gratuities, company's contribution to provident, superannuation and
other staff funds, compensation for loss of office and in connection with
retirement from office;

O other perquisites and benefits in cash or in kind stating their nature and, where
practicable, their approximate money values; and

4 the amounts, if material, by which any items shown above are affected by any
change in an accounting policy.

@ lllustration: Remuneration of chief executive, directors and executives
h Note to the accounts Chief Executive
executive directors Executives
Rs.000 Rs.000 Rs.000
Fees 1,650 5,478 _
Managerial remuneration 11,225 33,675 323,280
Bonus 2,000 6,000 12,000
Retirement benefits 2,000 4,800 37,900
Housing 8,666 _ _
Transport 2,345 6,734 26,778
27,886 56,687 399,958
Number of persons 1 4 48

Sale of fixed assets

For sale of fixed assets where the book value of the asset or assets exceeds in
aggregate fifty thousand rupees, a company must disclose particulars of the
assets and in aggregate:

O cost or valuation, as the case may be;
U the book value;
O the sale price and the mode of disposal (e.g. by tender or negotiation); and

U particulars of the purchaser.
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2.11 Other disclosures
A company must disclose the following:

O The general nature of any credit facilities available to the company under any
contract (other than trade credit) and not used as at the date of the balance

sheet.
O Any penalty imposed under any law by any authority.
U The fact of any reduction, enhancement or waiver of a penalty.

Where any property or asset, acquired with the funds of the company, is not held
in the name of the company, or is not in the possession and control of the
company, this fact must be disclosed together with a description and value of the
property or asset and the person in whose name and possession or control it is.
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3 COMPANIES’ ORDINANCE 1984: FIFTH SCHEDULE

Section overview

Sundry requirements

Fixed assets (non-current assets)
Long term investments

Long term loans and advances
Long term deposits and prepayments
Current assets

Share capital and reserves
Non-current liabilities

Current liabilities

Contingencies and commitments
Profit and loss account

Other disclosures

3.1 Sundry requirements

3.2

The figures in the financial statements may be rounded to the thousands of
rupees.

Financial statements must disclose:

U all material information necessary to make the financial years statements clear
and understandable;

O any change in an accounting policy that has a material effect in the current
year or may have a material effect in the subsequent year together with
reasons for the change and the financial effect of the change, if material.

Fixed assets (non-current assets)
Fixed assets (other than investments) must be classified as follows:
O property, plant and equipment:

. land (distinguishing between free-hold and leasehold);

. buildings (distinguishing between building on free-hold land and those
on leasehold land);

. plant and machinery;

. furniture and fittings;

. vehicles;

. office equipment

. capital work in progress:

. development property; and

. others (to be specified)
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4 intangible:
o goodwill;
o brand names;
o computer software;
o licences and franchises;
. patents, copyright, trademarks and designs; and
. others (to be specified).

3.3 Long term investments
The aggregate amount (under separate sub-headings) in respect of the following:
U investments in related parties; and
U other investments.

A company that is not a small sized company must also disclose investments
under the heading long term investments, indicating separately:

U held to maturity investments, which are not due to mature within next twelve
months; and

O available for sale investments which are not intended to be sold within the next
12 months.

O market value of listed securities and book value of unlisted securities as per
their latest available financial statements.

3.4 Long term loans and advances

The following must be shown (under separate sub-headings) distinguishing
between considered good and considered bad or doubtful.

O Loans and advances to related parties and disclosing:
U Other loans and advances.

Any provision made for bad or doubtful loans and advances is shown as a
deduction under each sub-heading above.

Information on terms and conditions, securities obtained and any other material
information must be disclosed.

3.5 Long term deposits and prepayments

Long-term deposits and long-term prepayments must be stated separately.

3.6 Current assets

Current assets must be classified in a way appropriate to the company's affairs,
including the following:

O stores, spare parts and loose tools distinguishing each from the other where
practicable;

U stock-in-trade, distinguishing between appropriate classifications (for example,
raw materials and components, work in progress, finished products etc.).

O trade debts (other than loans and advances) showing separately:
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. debts considered good and debts considered doubtful or bad must be
separately stated,;

. debts considered good must be distinguished between secured and
unsecured,;

. the aggregate amount due from directors, chief executive and
executives (does not apply to small sized companies); and

. the aggregate amount due from related parties with the names of
those related parties (does not apply to small sized companies).

O loans and advances due for repayment within a period of twelve months from
the reporting date showing separately:

. loans and advances considered good and those considered doubtful
or bad;

. the aggregate amount due from directors, chief executive and
executives (does not apply to small sized companies);

. the aggregate amount due from related parties with the names of
those related parties (does not apply to small sized companies);

U trade deposits and short term prepayments and current account balances with
statutory authorities;

O interest accrued;
O other receivables specifying separately the materials items;
4 financial assets other than any included above showing separately:

. the aggregate amount due from directors, chief executive and
executives (does not apply to small sized companies);

. the aggregate amount due from related parties with the names of
those related parties (does not apply to small sized companies);

O tax refunds due from the Government, showing separately different types of
tax;

O cash and bank balances, distinguishing between current and deposit
accounts.

Any provision made for a fall in value of any current asset is shown as a
deduction from the gross amount of that asset.

3.7 Share capital and reserves
Share capital and reserve must be classified under the following sub-heads:

O issued, subscribed and paid up capital, distinguishing in respect of each class
between:

. shares allotted for consideration paid in cash;
. shares allotted for consideration other than cash; and
. shares allotted as bonus shares; and

U reserves by distinguishing between capital reserves and revenue reserves.
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3.8 Non-current liabilities

A company which is not a small company must classify non-current liabilities
under the following sub-headings:

U long term financing;

U debentures;

U liabilities against assets subject to finance lease;
4 long term murabaha,;

U long term deposits; and

U deferred liabilities.

Long term loans must be classified as secured and unsecured, and the following
must be shown separately under each class:

O loans from banking companies and other financial institutions, other than
those as specified below;

O loans from related parties; and
4 other loans.
Long-term deposits must be classified according to their nature.

3.9 Current liabilities

Current liabilities and provisions must be classified under the following sub-
headings:

O trade and other payables, which shall be classified as:

o creditors;

. murabaha;

o accrued liabilities;

. advance payments;

. payable to employee retirement benefit funds;

o unpaid and unclaimed dividend; and

. others (to be specified, if material);
O interest, profit, return or mark-up accrued on loans and other payables;
O short term borrowings which shall be classified as:

. short-term borrowings, distinguishing between secured and
unsecured and between loans taken from:

- banking companies and other financial institutions other than
related parties;

- related parties; and

— others;

. short-term running finance, distinguishing between secured and
unsecured,;

U current portion of long term borrowings;
U current portion of long term murabaha; and
O provision for taxation, showing separately income tax and other taxes.
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3.10 Contingencies and commitments
The following must be shown separately as a footnote to the balance-sheet:

O the aggregate amount of any guarantees given by the company on behalf of
any related party and where practicable, the general nature of the guarantee;

O where practicable the aggregate amount or estimated amount, if it is
material, of contracts for capital expenditure, so far as not provided for or a
statement that such an estimate cannot be made; and

U any other commitment, if the amount is material, indicating the general
nature of the commitment.

3.11 Profit and loss account

The profit and loss account must disclose separately the manufacturing, trading
and operating results.

A manufacturing concern must show the cost of goods manufactured.

The profit and loss account must disclose all material items of income and
expenses including the following:

O The turnover (sales) showing the gross sales figure with trade discount and
sales tax as a deduction.

O Expenses, classified according to their function under the following sub-
heads (along with additional information on their nature):

o cost of sales;
. distribution cost;
o administrative expenses;
. other operating expenses; and
. finance cost.
U Other operating income:
o income from financial assets;

. income from investments in and debts, loans, advances and
receivables to each related party; and

o income from assets other than financial assets.

U Finance cost must show separately the amount of interest on borrowings
from related parties (if any). This does not apply to a small sized company.

L Other information:

. debts written off as irrecoverable distinguishing between trade debts,
loans, advances and other receivables; and

. provisions for doubtful or bad debts distinguishing between trade
debts, loans, advances and other receivables.

. In each case the company must disclose:

- debts due by directors, chief executive, and executives of the
company and any of them severally or jointly with any other
person; and

- debts due by other related parties.
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Payments to senior management
This does not apply to a small sized company.

A company must disclose the aggregate amount charged in the financial
statements in respect of the directors, chief executive and executives by the
company as fees, remuneration, allowances, commission, perquisites or
benefits or in any other form or manner and for any services rendered.

The company must give full particulars of the aggregate amounts separately for
the directors, chief executive and executives together with the number of such
directors and executives, under appropriate headings such as:

U fees;

U managerial remuneration;

O commission or bonus, indicating their nature;

O reimbursable expenses which are in the nature of a perquisite or benefit;
a

pension, gratuities, company's contribution to provident, superannuation and
other staff funds, compensation for loss of office and in connection with
retirement from office;

O other perquisites and benefits in cash or in kind stating their nature and,
where practicable, their approximate money values; and

O the amounts, if material, by which any items shown above are affected by
any change in an accounting policy.

3.12 Other disclosures
A company must disclose the following:

O The general nature of any credit facilities available to the company under any
contract (other than trade credit) and not used as at the date of the balance
sheet.

U Any penalty imposed under any law by any authority.
O The fact of any reduction, enhancement or waiver of a penalty.

Where any property or asset, acquired with the funds of the company, is not
held in the name of the company, or is not in the possession and control of the
company, this fact must be disclosed together with a description and value of
the property or asset and the person in whose name and possession or control
it is.

If any loan or advance has been granted on terms softer than those generally
prevalent in trade or any relief allowed in matters of interest, repayment,
security or documentation, details with reasons for this must be disclosed along
with the nature of interest of the company or its directors or other officers.
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INTRODUCTION

The overall objective of the syllabus is to broaden the knowledge base of basic accounting
acquired in earlier modules with emphasis on International Financial Reporting Standards.

LO1 Prepare financial statements in accordance with the relevant law of the
country and in compliance with the reporting requirement of the
international pronouncements.

LO1.11 Prepare statements of financial position in accordance with the guidance in
IAS 1 from data and information provided

LO1.1.2 Identify the laws, regulations, reporting standards and other requirements
applicable to statutory financial statements of a limited company

LO1.1.3 Prepare and present the following in accordance with the disclosure
requirements of IAS1, Companies ordinance, fourth schedule / fifth schedule:
statement of financial position, statement of comprehensive income,
statement of changes in equity, and notes to the financial statements.
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1 THE COMPONENTS OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Section overview

Preparing financial statements
General purpose financial statements
Complete set of financial statements
Comparative information
Identification of financial statements
Reporting period

Elements of financial statement

1.1 Preparing financial statements

You should already have studied the basic rules of financial accounting, so you
ought to be reasonably familiar with how a statement of financial position and a
statement of comprehensive income are prepared. The basic rules can be
summarised as follows.

O  The balances on all the accounts in the general ledger (nominal ledger or
main) are extracted. These are a list of balances on all ledger accounts for
assets, liabilities, capital, income and expenses.

U Adjustments are made for ‘year-end’ items, such as:
. depreciation charges for non-current assets;
. accruals and prepayments for expense items;
. adjusting the allowance for bad (irrecoverable) debts;
. closing inventory; and

O  Adjustments are made for any items that have not been accounted for or
have been incorrectly accounted for. (Questions at this level might include
lease accounting, deferred taxation, provisions etc.).

O  The adjusted income and expense balances are entered into a statement of
comprehensive income to establish the profit or loss for the period.

O  The adjusted asset, liability and capital balances, together with the retained
profit for the year, are entered into a statement of financial position as at
the end of the reporting period.

This process can be used to prepare the statement of comprehensive income
and statement of financial position of a sole proprietor, a partnership or a
company.

Some entities must publish financial statements in accordance with international
financial reporting standards (international accounting standards). IAS 1
Presentation of Financial Statements, sets out the rules on the form and content
of financial statements which such entities must comply with. The rules contained
in international standards are known collectively as IFRS or IAS.

The following sections explain and summarise the IAS 1 requirements. This exam
will ask you to prepare financial statements in accordance with IAS 1 and the
Companies Ordinance 1984 so remember that the more specific guidance in the
fourth schedule will need to be followed in addition to what is explained in this
chapter.
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1.2 General purpose financial statements

Definition
o) o T ,
& General purpose financial statements (referred to as ‘financial statements’) are

those intended to meet the needs of users who are not in a position to require an
entity to prepare reports tailored to their particular information needs.

The financial statements published by large companies as part of their annual
reports are general purpose financial statements.
Objective

The objective of general purpose financial statements is to provide information
about the financial position, financial performance and cash flows of a company
that is useful to a wide range of users in making economic decisions.

Financial statements also show the results of the management’s stewardship of
the resources entrusted to it.

To meet this objective, financial statements provide information about an entity’s:
assets;

liabilities;

equity;

income and expenses, including gains and losses;

(I I N Iy I

contributions by and distributions to owners in their capacity as owners; and
U4 cash flows.

This information, along with other information in the notes, assists users of
financial statements in predicting the entity’s future cash flows and, in particular,
their timing and certainty.

1.3 Complete set of financial statements

IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements specifies what published ‘general-
purpose’ financial statements should include, and provides a format for a
statement of financial position, statement of comprehensive income, and
statement of changes in equity.

A complete set of financial statements consists of:

O  a statement of financial position as at the end of the period;
U  a statement of comprehensive income for the period;

O  a statement of changes in equity for the period;

O  a statement of cash flows (covered in chapter 3); and

U  notes to these statements, consisting of a summary of significant

accounting policies used by the entity and other explanatory information;
and

U  comparative information.

A company can use other use titles for the above statements.
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1.4 Comparative information

A company must disclose comparative information in respect of the previous
period for all amounts reported in the current period’s financial statements.

A company must present (as a minimum) statements of financial position,
comprehensive income cash flows and changes in equity for the previous
accounting period in addition to those for the current period.

Furthermore, when a company applies a new accounting policy retrospectively or
retrospectively restates or reclassifies items in its financial statements, the
financial statements must also include a statement of financial position as at the
beginning of the earliest comparative period. This means that when one of the
above circumstances occurs, the entity must present statements of financial
position, as at:

Q the end of the current period;
O  the end of the previous period; and
U the beginning of the earliest comparative period.

1.5 Identification of financial statements
Listed companies usually publish financial statements as part of an annual report.

The financial statements must be clearly identified and distinguished from other
information in the same published document. This is very important as the
financial statements are audited whereas other information in the annual report is
not. Users must be able to identify the information that has been audited.

Each component of the financial statements must be properly identified with the
following information displayed prominently:

O  the name of the reporting entity;

O  whether the financial statements cover an individual entity or a group
(consolidated accounts for groups are described in later chapters);

O the date of the end of the reporting period or the period covered by the
statement, whichever is appropriate;

(M

the currency in which the figures are reported;

(M

the level of rounding used in the figures (for example, whether the figures
thousands of rupees or millions of rupees).

1.6 Reporting period

Financial statements should be presented at least annually. If an entity changes
the date of the end of its reporting period, and a reporting period longer or shorter
than one year is used, its financial statements should disclose:

U  the period covered by the financial statements
O  the reason why the period is not one year, and

O  the fact that the comparative figures for the previous year are not
comparable.
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1.7

‘0.'9

‘0.'9

Elements of financial statements

The objective of financial reporting is to provide useful information. In order to be
useful information must be understandable. A large company enters into
thousands of transactions so in order for users to be able to understand the
impact of these they must be summarised in some way.

Financial statements group transactions into broad classes according to their
economic characteristics. These broad classes are called the elements of
financial statements.

O  The elements directly related to the measurement of financial position in
the statement of financial position are assets, liabilities and equity.

U The elements directly related to the measurement of performance in the
statement of comprehensive income are income and expenses.

Assets

Definition: Asset

A resource controlled by the entity, as a result of past events, and from which
future economic benefits are expected to flow to the entity.

Control is the ability to obtain economic benefits from the asset, and to restrict
the ability of others to obtain the same benefits from the same item.

An entity usually uses assets to produce goods or services to meet the needs of
its customers, and because customers are willing to pay for the goods and
services, this contributes to the cash flow of the entity. Cash itself is an asset
because of its command over other resources.

Many assets have a physical form, but this is not an essential requirement for the
existence of an asset.

Assets result from past transactions or other past events. An asset is not created
by any transaction that is expected to occur in the future but has not yet
happened.

An asset should be expected to provide future economic benefits to the entity.
Providing future economic benefits can be defined as contributing, directly or
indirectly, to the flow of cash (and cash equivalents) into the entity.

Liabilities

Definition: Liability

A present obligation of an entity, arising from past events, the settlement of
which is expected to result in an outflow of resources that embody economic
benefits.

A liability is an obligation that already exists. An obligation may be legally
enforceable as a result of a binding contract or a statutory requirement, such as a
legal obligation to pay a supplier for goods purchased.

Obligations may also arise from normal business practice, or a desire to maintain
good customer relations or the desire to act in a fair way. For example, an entity
might undertake to rectify faulty goods for customers, even if these are now
outside their warranty period. This undertaking creates an obligation, even
though it is not legally enforceable by the customers of the entity.
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A liability arises out of a past transaction or event. For example, a trade payable
arises out of the past purchase of goods or services, and an obligation to repay a
bank loan arises out of past borrowing.

The settlement of a liability should result in an outflow of resources that embody
economic benefits. This usually involves the payment of cash or transfer of other
assets. A liability is measured by the value of these resources that will be paid or
transferred.

Equity

.,D Definition: Equity
The residual interest in the assets of the entity after deducting all its liabilities.

Equity of companies may be sub-classified into share capital, retained profits and
other reserves.

Income

Financial performance is measured by profit or loss. Profit is measured as
income less expenses.

Definition: Income
o)

Increase in economic benefits during the accounting period in the form of inflows
or enhancements of assets or decreases of liabilities that result in increases in
equity, other than those relating to contributions from equity participants.

Income includes both revenue and gains.

U Revenue is income arising in the course of the ordinary activities of the
entity. It includes sales revenue, fee income, royalties’ income, rental
income and income from investments (interest and dividends).

O  Gains include gains on the disposal of non-current assets. Realised gains
are often reported in the financial statements net of related expenses. They
might arise in the normal course of business activities. Gains might also be
unrealised. Unrealised gains occur whenever an asset is revalued upwards,
but is not disposed of. For example, an unrealised gain occurs when
marketable securities owned by the entity are revalued upwards.
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Expenses

Definition: Expenses

Decreases in economic benefits during the accounting period in the form of
outflows or depletions of assets or incurrences of liabilities that result in
decreases in equity, other than those relating to distributions to equity
participants.

Expenses include:

Q

Expenses arising in the normal course of activities, such as the cost of
sales and other operating costs, including depreciation of non-current
assets. Expenses result in the outflow of assets (such as cash or finished
goods inventory) or the depletion of assets (for example, the depreciation of
non-current assets).

Losses include for example, the loss on disposal of a non-current asset,
and losses arising from damage due to fire or flooding. Losses are usually
reported as net of related income. Losses might also be unrealised.
Unrealised losses occur when an asset is revalued downwards, but is not
disposed of. For example, and unrealised loss occurs when marketable
securities owned by the entity are revalued downwards
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2 GENERAL FEATURES OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Section overview

Introduction

Fair presentation and compliance with IFRSs
Going concern

Accrual basis of accounting

Materiality and aggregation

Offsetting

Frequency of reporting

Comparative information

Consistency of presentation

21

2.2

Introduction

IAS 1 describes and provides guidance on the following general features of
financial statements:

U Fair presentation and compliance with IFRSs
Going concern

Accrual basis of accounting

Materiality and aggregation

Offsetting

Frequency of reporting

Comparative information

Iy Iy Ny Iy Ny By I

Consistency of presentation

Fair presentation and compliance with IFRSs

Disclosure of compliance

An entity whose financial statements comply with IFRSs must disclose that fact.
Financial statements shall not be described as complying with IFRS unless they
comply with all the requirements of each applicable Standard and Interpretation.
Fair presentation

Financial statements must present fairly the financial position, financial
performance and cash flows of an entity.

This means that they must be a faithful representation of the effects of
transactions and other events in accordance with the definitions and recognition
criteria for assets, liabilities, income and expenses set out in IFRS.

The application of IFRSs, with additional disclosure when necessary, is
presumed to result in financial statements that achieve a fair presentation.
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Fair presentation requires:

O  the selection and application of accounting policies in accordance with IAS
8, Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors;

U the presentation of information, including accounting policies, in a manner
that provides relevant, reliable, comparable and understandable
information; and,

U the provision of additional disclosures when the particular requirements in
IFRSs are insufficient to enable users to understand the impact of particular
transactions or other events on the entity’s financial position and financial
performance.

True and fair override

In extremely rare circumstances, management might conclude that compliance
with a requirement in IFRS would be so misleading that it would conflict with the
objective of financial statements set out in IFRS.

In these cases the requirement should not be followed as longs as the relevant
regulatory framework requires or otherwise does not prohibit this.

When an entity departs from a requirement in IFRS it must disclose:

U that management has concluded that the financial statements present fairly
the entity’s financial position, financial performance and cash flows;

O thatit has complied with applicable IFRS except that it has departed from a
particular requirement to achieve a fair presentation; and

. details of the departure:

. the Standard (or Interpretation) from which the entity has departed
and:

. the nature of the departure (including the treatment that is required by
IFRS);

. the reason why that treatment would be so misleading in the
circumstances that it would conflict with the objective of financial
statements set out in the “Framework”;

o the treatment adopted; and,

. for each period presented, the financial impact of the departure on
each item in the financial statements that would have been reported
in complying with the requirement.

If the relevant regulatory framework prohibits departure from a requirement the
entity must make the following disclosures to reduce the misleading aspects of
compliance “to the maximum extent possible”:

U the Standard (or Interpretation) requiring the entity to report information
concluded to be misleading and:

O  the nature of the requirement;

(M

the reason why management has concluded that complying with that
requirement is so misleading in the circumstances that it conflicts with the
objective of financial statements; and,

U  for each period presented, the adjustments to each item in the financial
statements that management has concluded would be necessary to
achieve a fair presentation.
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2.3 Going concern

Financial statements must be prepared on a going concern basis unless
management either;

U intends to liquidate the entity; or,
O  to cease trading; or
O  has no realistic alternative but to do so.

Management must assess an entity’s ability to continue as a going concern when
preparing financial statements.

In making this assessment management must take into account all available
information about the future. (This is for at least twelve months from the reporting
date).

Disclosures

If management is aware, in making its assessment, of material uncertainties
related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt upon the entity’s
ability to continue as a going concern, those uncertainties must be disclosed.

If the financial statements are not prepared on a going concern basis, that fact
must be disclosed, together with:

O  the basis on which the financial statements are prepared; and,
O  the reason why the entity is not regarded as a going concern.

2.4 Accrual basis of accounting

Financial statements (except for cash flow information) must be prepared under
the accrual basis of accounting.

Under the accrual basis of accounting, items are recognised as assets, liabilities,
equity, income and expenses (the elements of financial statements) when they
satisfy the definitions and recognition criteria for those elements set out in the
“Framework”.

2.5 Materiality and aggregation

Each material class of similar items must be presented separately in the financial
statements.

Items of a dissimilar nature or function must be presented separately unless they
are immaterial.

An item that is not sufficiently material to warrant separate presentation on the
face of the financial statements may nevertheless be sufficiently material for it to
be presented separately in the notes.

Information is material if its non-disclosure could influence the economic
decisions of users taken on the basis of the financial statements.

Materiality depends on the size and nature of the item or aggregation of items
judged in the particular circumstances of its omission.
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2.6 Offsetting

Assets and liabilities must not be offset except when offsetting is required by
another Standard.

The reporting of assets net of valuation allowances—for example, obsolescence
allowances on inventories and doubtful debts allowances on receivables—is not
offsetting.

Items of income and expense must be offset when, and only when IFRS requires
or permits it. For example:

O  gains and losses on the disposal of non-current assets are reported by
deducting from the proceeds on disposal the carrying amount of the asset
and related selling expenses; and,

O  expenditure that is reimbursed under a contractual arrangement with a third
party (for example, a subletting agreement) is netted against the related
reimbursement.

Also gains and losses arising from a group of similar transactions are reported on
a net basis (for example, foreign exchange gains and losses or gains and losses
arising on financial instruments held for trading purposes).

Such gains and losses must be reported separately if their size, nature or
incidence is such that separate disclosure is necessary for an understanding of
financial performance.

2.7 Frequency of reporting
Financial statements must be presented at least annually.

When an entity’s reporting date changes its financial statements are presented
for a period longer or shorter than one year. In such cases an entity must
disclose, in addition to the period covered by the financial statements:

O  the reason for using a period other than one year; and,

O the fact that amounts presented in the financial statements are not
comparable.

2.8 Comparative information

Comparative information must be disclosed in respect of the previous period for
all amounts reported in the financial statements unless IFRS permits or requires
otherwise.

Comparative information must be included for narrative and descriptive
information when it is relevant to an understanding of the current period’s
financial statements.

When the presentation or classification of items in the financial statements is
amended, comparative amounts must be reclassified (unless the reclassification
is impracticable). When comparative amounts are reclassified, an entity must
disclose:

(| the nature of the reclassification;
(| the amount of each item or class of items that is reclassified; and,
(| the reason for the reclassification.
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The following must be disclosed when reclassification of comparative amounts is
impracticable:

a the reason for not reclassifying the amounts; and,

U the nature of the adjustments that would have been made if the amounts
were reclassified.

2.9 Consistency of presentation

The presentation and classification of items in the financial statements must be
retained from one period to the next unless:

O  asignificant change in the nature of the operations of the entity or a review
of its financial statement presentation demonstrates that a change in
presentation results in a more appropriate presentation of transactions or
other events; or

O  achange in presentation is required by an IFRS.
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3

STRUCTURE AND CONTENT OF THE STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL
POSITION

Section overview

m Introduction
m  Current and non-current assets and liabilities
m  Current assets
m  Current liabilities
m Information to be presented on the face of the statement of financial position
m  Equity capital and reserves
3.1 Introduction
IFRS uses terms which are incorporated into this study text. However, it does not
forbid the use of other terms and you might see other terms used in practice.
IAS 1 sets out the requirements for information that must be presented in the
statement of financial position or in notes to the financial statements, and it also
provides implementation guidance. This guidance includes an illustrative format
for a statement of financial position. This format is not mandatory but you should
learn it and use it wherever possible.
3.2 Current and non-current assets and liabilities

Current and non-current items should normally be presented separately in the
statement of financial position, so that:

a current and non-current assets are divided into separate classifications;
and

U current and non-current liabilities are also classified separately.

Chapter 12 explains the concept of deferred taxation and how to account for it.
Deferred tax balances must not be classified as current assets or current
liabilities.

Alternative

A company is allowed to use a presentation based on liquidity instead of
current/non-current if this provides information that is reliable and more relevant.
Financial institutions often use this approach.

Whichever method of presentation is used, a company must disclose the amount
expected to be recovered or settled after more than twelve months for each asset
and liability that combines amounts expected to be recovered or settled:

O  no more than twelve months after the reporting period, and

O  more than twelve months after the reporting period.
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3.3 Current assets

IAS 1 states that an asset should be classified as a current asset if it satisfies
any of the following criteria:

U The entity expects to realise the asset, or sell or consume it, its normal
operating cycle.

O  The asset is held for trading purposes.

(M

The entity expects to realise the asset within 12 months after the reporting
period.

O  Itis cash or a cash equivalent. (Note: An example of ‘cash’ is money in a
current bank account. An example of a ‘cash equivalent’ is money held in a
term deposit account with a bank.)

All other assets should be classified as non-current assets.

Operating cycle

The operating cycle is the time between the acquisition of assets for processing
and their realisation in cash or cash equivalents. When the entity's normal
operating cycle is not clearly identifiable, it is assumed to be twelve months.

Current assets include assets (such as inventories and trade receivables) that
are sold, consumed or realised as part of the normal operating cycle even when
they are not expected to be realised within twelve months after the reporting
period.

@ lllustration:
h X Limited uses small amounts of platinum in its production process.

Platinum price has fallen recently so just before its year-end X Limited bought an
amount of platinum sufficient to cover its production needs for the next two years.

This would be a current asset. The amount expected to be used after more than
12 months should be disclosed.

Current assets also include assets held primarily for the purpose of trading and
the current portion of non-current financial assets.

Non-current assets

These are tangible, intangible and financial assets of a long-term nature.
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3.5

Current liabilities

IAS 1 also states that a liability should be classified as a current liability if it
satisfies any of the following criteria:

U The entity expects to settle the liability in its normal operating cycle.

O  The liability is held primarily for the purpose of trading. This means that all
trade payables are current liabilities, even if settlement is not due for over
12 months after the end of the reporting period.

a It is due to be settled within 12 months after the end of the reporting period.

U The entity does not have the unconditional right to defer settlement of the
liability for at least 12 months after the end of the reporting period.

All other liabilities should be classified as non-current liabilities.

Changing from non-current liability to current liability

Liabilities that were originally non-current may become current in a subsequent
year, when they become repayable within 12 months.

Example:

A company has a financial year end of 31 December. On 31 October Year 1, it
took out a bank loan of Rs> 50,000. The loan principal is repayable as follows:

1. Rs. 20,000 on 31 October Year 3
2. Rs. 30,000 on 31 October Year 4
The loan would be presented as follows:
As at 31 December Year 1
The full bank loan of Rs. 50,000 will be a non-current liability
As at 31 December Year 2

A current liability of Rs. 20,000 repayable on 31 October Year 3 and a non-current
liability of Rs. 30,000 repayable on 31 October Year 4.

As at 31 December Year 3
Current liability of Rs. 30,000

There is an exception to this rule. A liability can continue to be shown as a long-
term liability, even if it is repayable within 12 months, if the entity has the
‘discretion’ or right to refinance (or ‘roll over’) the loan at maturity.

Information to be presented on the face of the statement of financial
position

IAS 1 provides a list of items that, as a minimum, must be shown on the face of
the statement of financial position as a ‘line item’ (in other words, on a separate
line in the statement).

Note that companies in Pakistan are also subject to the requirements of the
fourth and fifth schedules to the Companies’ Ordinance 1984.

The following table shows the IAS 1 requirements with the Companies’
Ordinance equivalent requirements alongside.
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Elements

IAS 1 line items (minimum)

Companies Ordinance 1984

Assets Property, plant and equipment  Plant and equipment
Investment property
Intangible assets Intangible assets
Financial assets Long term investments
Long term loans and advances
Long term deposits and
prepayments
Investments accounted for
using the equity method
Biological assets
Inventories Store, spare parts, loose tools
Stock-in-trade
Trade and other receivables Trade debts
Loans and advances
Deposits and prepayments
Interest accrued
Other receivables
Financial assets
Tax refunds due
Cash and cash equivalents. Cash and bank balances
Liabilities  Trade and other payables Trade and other payables
Interest, mark-up etc. on loans
Provisions
Financial liabilities Borrowings
Deposits
Murabaha
Current tax liabilities and assets Provision for taxation
Deferred tax liabilities and
assets
Equity Issued capital and reserves Issued, subscribed and paid up

attributable to the owners of the
entity.

capital, distinguishing in respect
of each class between:
Reserves by distinguishing
between capital reserves and
revenue reserves.

Note that there is no conflict between IAS 1 and the Companies’ Ordinance in
this respect. IAS 1 specifies a minimum requirement and the Companies’
Ordinance simply sets a more detailed standard. All companies following these
requirements from the Companies’ Ordinance would automatically comply with
IAS 1.
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Separate line items are also required in the statement of financial position in
accordance with the requirements of IFRS5: Non-current assets held for sale
and discontinued operations.

An entity must include additional line items if these are relevant to an
understanding of the entity’s financial position.

Information to be shown on the face of the statement of financial position or in
notes

Some of the line items in the statement of financial position should be sub-
classified into different categories, giving details of how the total figure is made
up. This sub-classification may be presented either:

O  as additional lines on the face of the statement of financial position (adding
up to the total amount for the item as a whole) or

a in notes to the financial statements.
For example:

O  Tangible non-current assets should be divided into sub-categories, as
required by IAS 16 Property, Plant and Equipment.

O Inventories are sub-classified in accordance with IAS 2 Inventories into
categories such as merchandise, materials, work-in-progress and finished
goods.

U Equity capital and reserves must also be sub-categorised, into categories
such as paid-up share capital, share premium and reserves.
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IAS 1 does not specify a format for a statement of financial position that must be
used. However, the implementation guidance includes an illustrative statement of
financial position. The example below is based on that example.

@ lllustration: Statement of financial position of an individual entity
h Statement of financial position of ABCD Entity as at 31 December 20XX

Rs. m Rs. m

Assets
Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment 205.1
Intangible assets 10.7
Investments (‘available for sale financial assets’) 6.8

"""" 222.6
Current assets
Inventories 17.8
Trade and other receivables 15.3
Cash and cash equivalents 0.7

"""" 33.8
Total assets 256.4

Statement of financial position of ABCD Entity as at 31 December 20XX

Rs. m Rs. m
Share capital 50.0
Other reserves 31.9
Retained earnings (accumulated profits) 60.6
“““ 142.5
Total equity
Non-current liabilities
Long-term borrowings 30.0
Deferred tax 4.5
Total non-current liabilities 34.5
Current liabilities
Trade and other payables 67.1
Short-term borrowings (bank overdraft) 3.2
Current portion of long-term borrowing 5.0
Current tax payable 4.1
Total current liabilities 79.4
""" 113.9
Total liabilities
Total equity and liabilities 256.4

A specimen format to incorporate the requirements of the fourth schedule to the
Companies’ Ordinance 1984 is given at section 8 of this chapter.
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3.6 Equity capital and reserves

Certain information about equity capital and reserves must be shown either on
the face of the statement of financial position or in the statement of changes in
equity or in the notes to the financial statements.

This information includes:

a the number of shares authorised;

O  the number of shares issued and fully paid, and issued but not fully paid;
U the par value of each share;
a

a reconciliation between the number of shares ‘outstanding’ (shares in
issue) at the beginning and at the end of the year;

O  the rights and restrictions attached to each class of shares (if any);
O  adescription of the nature and purpose of each reserve.

Note on the presentation of dividends

Dividends paid during the financial year appear in:
O  the statement of changes in equity, and

U the statement of cash flows.

Dividends declared before the year end but not approved by the year end must
not be recognised as a liability. They would be shown, together with the amount
per share, in a note to the financial statements.
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4 STRUCTURE AND CONTENT OF THE STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE
INCOME

Section overview

A single statement or two statements

Information to be presented on the face of the statement of comprehensive
income

Analysis of expenses
Material items
Preparing a statement of financial position or statement of comprehensive income

4.1 A single statement or two statements
Total comprehensive income during a period is the sum of:
O  the profit or loss for the period; and
O  other comprehensive income.

IAS 1 requires an entity to present all items of income and expense during a
period in a statement of comprehensive income. (now known as a statement of
profit or loss and other comprehensive income).

This may be presented as a single statement with two parts:

O  a statement of profit or loss which shows the components of profit or loss
(beginning with Revenue and ending with Profit (or Loss) for the year; and

O  a statement of other comprehensive income.

Alternatively these two parts can be presented as two separate statements.
Whichever approach is used the following must be shown:

a profit or loss;

O  total other comprehensive income;

O  comprehensive income for the period (the total of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income).

Other comprehensive income

IFRS specifies what must be included as other comprehensive income. Such
items include:

U  amounts recognised on revaluation of a non-current assets in accordance
with 1AS 16 Property, plant and equipment and IAS 38 Intangible
assets.

O  The tax consequences of any such revaluation.
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OX

IAS 1 does not specify an exact format for the statement of comprehensive
income but the example below is based on a suggested presentation included in
the implementation guidance. (In this example, expenses are classified by
function — See paragraph 4.3 of this section).

Example: statement of comprehensive income of an individual entity
XYZ Entity: Statement of comprehensive income for the year ended 31
December 20XX

Rs. 000

Revenue 678
Cost of sales 250
Gross profit 428
Other income 12
Distribution costs (98)
Administrative expenses (61)
Other expenses (18)
Finance costs (24)
Share of profit of associate 32
Profit before tax 271
Taxation (50)
Profit for the year from continuing operations 221
Loss for the year from discontinued operations (15)
PROFIT FOR THE YEAR 206
Other comprehensive income
Gains on property revaluation 24
Share of other comprehensiveincome of associate 5
Available for sale financial assets 17
Other comprehensive income for the year (net of tax) 46
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE YEAR 252
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4.2 Information to be presented on the face of the statement of comprehensive
income

As a minimum, IAS 1 requires that the statement of comprehensive income
should include line items showing the following amounts for the financial period:

Revenue

Finance costs (for example, interest costs)

Share of the profit or loss of entities accounted for by the ‘equity method’
Tax expense

A single amount for the total of discontinued operations

Each component of ‘other comprehensive income’

Share of the other comprehensive income of entities accounted for by the
‘equity method

Total comprehensive income

Groups of companies must consolidate their financial statements. A consolidation
is the representation of the financial position and financial performance of a
series of separate entities as if they are a single entity. This is explained in
chapters 4 to 6).

For a consolidated statement of comprehensive income the following items
should also be shown on the face of the statement as allocations of profit or
income in the period:

Profit or loss for the period attributable to non-controlling interests (also called
minority interests)

Profit or loss attributable to the owners (equity holders) of the parent entity
Total comprehensive income attributable to non-controlling interests

Total comprehensive income attributable to the owners of the parent entity

Additional line items should be presented on the face of the statement of
comprehensive income when it is relevant to an understanding of the entity’s
financial performance.

Recoghnition in profit or loss

With the introduction of a requirement to present a statement of comprehensive
income, it is important to distinguish between:

a items that should be included in the section of the statement between
‘revenue’ and ‘profit’; and

O  other comprehensive income.

A useful way of making this distinction is that if an item is included in the
statement of comprehensive income, between ‘revenue’ and ‘profit’, the item is
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‘recognised within profit or loss’. This term is now used in accounting
standards.
Reclassification adjustments

A reclassification adjustment occurs when an item that has been recognised as
‘other comprehensive income’ in the statement of comprehensive income is
subsequently re-classified as profit or loss.

Information to be shown on the face of the statement of comprehensive income or
in the notes

The following information may be shown either on the face of the statement of
comprehensive income or in a note to the financial statements:

O  material items of income and expense

O  an analysis of expenses.

4.3 Analysis of expenses
Expenses should be analysed. Either of two methods of analysis may be used:
U according to the function of the expense.
O  according to the nature of expenses; or

IAS 1 states that entities should choose the method that provides the more
relevant or reliable information. However, the fourth and fifth schedules to the
Companies’ Ordinance 1984 require classification by function with additional
information on nature.

IAS 1 encourages entities to show this analysis of expenses on the face of the
statement of comprehensive income rather than in a note to the accounts.
Analysis of expenses by their function

When expenses are analysed according to their function, the functions are
commonly ‘cost of sales’, ‘distribution costs’, ‘administrative expenses’ and ‘other
expenses’. This method of analysis is also called the ‘cost of sales method'.

lllustration: Statement of comprehensive income - Expenses analysed by
Ga function
Rs. m
Revenue 7,200
Cost of sales (2,700)
Gross profit 4,500
Other income 300
Distribution costs (2,100)
Administrative expenses (1,400)
Other expenses (390)
Finance costs (60)
Profit before tax 850
Income tax expense (250)
Profit for the period 600
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IAS 1 also requires that if the analysis by function method is used, additional
information about expenses must be disclosed including:

O  depreciation and amortisation expense; and
U  employee benefits expense (staff costs).

Analysis of expenses by their nature

When expenses are analysed according to their nature, the categories of
expenses will vary according to the nature of the business.

In a manufacturing business, expenses would probably be classified as:
O  raw materials and consumables used;

O  staff costs (‘employee benefits costs’);

O  depreciation.

Items of expense that on their own are immaterial are presented as ‘other
expenses’.

There will also be an adjustment for the increase or decrease in inventories of
finished goods and work-in-progress during the period.

Other entities (non-manufacturing entities) may present other expenses that are
material to their business.

An example of a statement of comprehensive income, showing expenses by their
nature is shown below for completeness, with illustrative figures included.

@ lllustration: Statement of comprehensive income - Expenses analysed by nature
h Rs. m Rs. m
Revenue 7,200
Other income 300
7,500
Changes in inventories of finished goods and 20

work-in-progress (reduction = expense, increase =
negative expense)

Raw materials and consumables used 1,200
Staff costs (employee benefits expense) 2,000
Depreciation and amortisation expense 1,000
Other expenses 2,300
Finance costs (interest cost) 60

6,650
Profit before tax 850
Income tax expense 250
Profit for the period 600
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4.4

4.5

Material items
Material items that might be disclosed separately include:

a a write-down of inventories from cost to net realisable value, or a write-
down of items of property, plant and equipment to recoverable amount;

the cost of a restructuring of activities;

disposals of items of property, plant and equipment;
discontinued operations;

litigation settlements;

L 000 C@o

a reversal of a provision.

Preparing a statement of financial position or statement of comprehensive
income

If you are required to prepare a statement of financial position, a statement of
comprehensive income in a format suitable for publication in accordance with IAS
1, you need to know the appropriate format.

If you are preparing a statement of comprehensive income in the ‘cost of sales’ or
‘expenses by function’ method, you might need to separate total costs for items
such as employee benefits costs and depreciation charges into cost of sales,
distribution costs and administrative charges. The basis for separating these
costs between the functions would be given in the question.
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5 STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY (SOCIE)

Section overview

m The contents of a statement of changes in equity
m  Retrospective adjustments

5.1 The contents of a statement of changes in equity

A set of financial statements must include a statement of changes in equity
(SOCIE).

A SOCIE shows for each component of equity the amount at the beginning of the
period, changes during the period, and its amount at the end of the period.

Components of equity include:
Q share capital;

Q share premium;

O  retained earnings;

O  revaluation surplus.

Note that according to s235 of the Companies’ Ordinance 1984 the revaluation
surplus is shown in the balance sheet (statement of financial position) after
capital and reserves. This implies that the surplus is not viewed as a part of
equity. This is a conflict with IFRS but companies in Pakistan would follow the
Companies Ordinance in this circumstance.

In a SOCIE for a group of companies, the amounts attributable to owners of the
parent entity and the amounts attributable to the non-controlling interest should
be shown separately. (Non-controlling interest is a concept used in group
accounts. This is covered in chapter 4)

For each component of equity, the SOCIE should show changes resulting from:
O  profit or loss for the period;
O  each item of other comprehensive income;

O  transactions with owners in their capacity as owners.

Transactions with owners in their capacity as owners

These include:

U new issues of shares;

U payments of dividends;

U  repurchases and cancellation of its own shares by the company.

These transactions are not gains or losses so are not shown in the statement so
comprehensive income but they do affect equity. The SOCIE highlights such
transactions.
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5.2 Retrospective adjustments

IAS8 Accounting policies, changes in accounting estimates and errors
requires that when an entity changes an accounting policy or restates amounts in
the financial statements to correct errors, the adjustments should be made
retrospectively (to the extent that this is practicable).

Retrospective adjustments result in changes in the reported amount of an equity
component, usually retained earnings. Retrospective adjustments and re-
statements are not changes in equity, but they are adjustments to the opening
balance of retained earnings (or other component of equity).

Where retrospective adjustments are made, the SOCIE must show for each
component of equity (usually retained earnings) the effect of the retrospective
adjustment. This is shown first, as an adjustment to the opening balance, before
the changes in equity are reported. (This is covered in more detail in chapter 11)

lllustration: statement of changes in equity
PQR Entity:
Statement of changes in equity for the year ended 31 December 20X9
Share  Share General Accumulated
capital premium reserve profits Total
Rs.m Rs.m Rs.m Rs.m Rs.m
Balance at 31
December 20X8 200 70 80 510 860
Change in accounting
policy - - - (60) (60)
Restated balance 200 70 80 450 800
Changes in equity for
20X9
Issue of share capital 80 100 180
Dividend payments (90) (90)
Profit for the year 155 155
Other comprehensive 12
income for the year 12
Balance at 31
December 20X9 280 170 92 515 1,057
The statement reconciles the balance at the beginning of the period to that at the
end of the period for each component of equity.
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6 NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Section overview

Introduction

Structure

Disclosure of accounting policies
Other disclosures

6.1

6.2

Introduction

Notes contain information in addition to that presented in the statement of
financial position, statement of comprehensive income, statement of changes in
equity and statement of cash flows.

Notes provide narrative descriptions of items in those statements and information
about items that do not qualify for recognition in those statements. They also
explain how totals in those statements are formed.

Structure
The notes to the financial statements of an entity must:

O  present information about the basis of preparation of the financial
statements and the specific accounting policies selected and applied for
significant transactions and other significant events;

O  disclose the information required by IFRSs that is not presented elsewhere
in the financial statements; and

U provide additional information that is not presented on the face of the
financial statements but is relevant to an understanding of them.

Notes to the financial statements must be presented in a systematic manner.
Each item on the face of the statement of financial position, statement of
comprehensive income, statement of changes in equity and statement of cash
flows must be cross-referenced to any related information in the notes.

Notes are normally presented in the following order:
O  a statement of compliance with IFRS;
U  asummary of significant accounting policies applied;

U  supporting information for items presented on the face of each financial
statement in the order in which each financial statement and each line item
is presented; and

(| other disclosures, including:
. contingencies;
. uncontracted commitments; and

. non-financial disclosures.
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6.3 Disclosure of accounting policies

An entity must disclose the following in the summary of significant accounting
policies:

O  the measurement basis (or bases) used in preparing the financial
statements; and

O  the other accounting policies used that are relevant to an understanding of
the financial statements.

U the judgements (apart from those involving estimations) made by
management in applying the accounting policies that have the most
significant effect on the amounts of items recognised in the financial
statements. For example:

o whether financial assets are held-to-maturity investments;

. when substantially all the significant risks and rewards of ownership
of financial assets and lease assets are transferred to other entities;

. whether, in substance, particular sales of goods are financing
arrangements and therefore do not give rise to revenue; and

. whether the substance of the relationship between the entity and a
special purpose entity indicates that the entity controls the special
purpose entity.

Which policies?

Management must disclose those policies that would assist users in
understanding how transactions, other events and conditions are reflected in the
reported financial performance and financial position.

If an IFRS allows a choice of policy, disclosure of the policy selected is especially
useful.

Some standards specifically require disclosure of particular accounting policies.
For example, IAS 16 requires disclosure of the measurement bases used for
classes of property, plant and equipment.

It is also appropriate to disclose an accounting policy not specifically required by
IFRSs, but selected and applied in accordance with IAS 8. (See chapter 11).
Key measurement assumptions

An entity must disclose information regarding key assumptions about the future,
and other key sources of measurement uncertainty, that have a significant risk of
causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
within the next financial year.

In respect of those assets and liabilities, the notes must include details of:
U their nature; and

O  their carrying amount as at the reporting date.

Examples of key assumptions disclosed are:

U future interest rates;

(| future changes in salaries;

U  future changes in prices affecting other costs; and,

O useful lives.
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Examples of the types of disclosures made are:
O  the nature of the assumption or other measurement uncertainty;

O  the sensitivity of carrying amounts to the methods, assumptions and
estimates underlying their calculation, including the reasons for the
sensitivity;

O  the expected resolution of an uncertainty and the range of reasonably
possible outcomes within the next financial year in respect of the carrying
amounts of the assets and liabilities affected; and

O  an explanation of changes made to past assumptions concerning those
assets and liabilities, if the uncertainty remains unresolved.

6.4 Other disclosures
An entity must disclose in the notes:

O  the amount of dividends proposed or declared before the financial
statements were authorised for issue but not recognised as a distribution to
owners during the period, and the related amount per share; and

O  the amount of any cumulative preference dividends not recognised.

O  An entity must disclose the following, if not disclosed elsewhere in
information published with the financial statements:

(W]

the domicile and legal form of the entity;

(W]

a description of the nature of the entity’s operations and its principal
activities; and

O  the name of the parent and the ultimate parent of the group.
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7 ACCOUNTING FOR SHARE ISSUES

Section overview

Issue of equity shares

m Bonus issues

7.1

Issue of equity shares
When an entity issues new ordinary shares:
U  theissued shares become a part of equity, and

O  the entity receives cash from the issue, or possibly assets other than cash
(for which a carrying value is determined).

The issue price of new equity shares is usually higher than their face value or
nominal value. The difference between the nominal value of the shares and their
issue price is accounted for as share premium, and credited to a share premium
reserve. (This reserve is a part of equity).

lllustration: Share issue double entry
Debit Credit
Bank (cash received) X
Share capital (nominal value of shares issued) X
Share premium (with the excess of the issue price
of the shares over their nominal value) X

Transaction costs of issuing new equity shares for cash should be debited
directly to equity.

The costs of the issue, net of related tax benefit, are set against the share
premium account. (If there is no share premium on the issue of the new shares,
issue costs should be deducted from retained earnings).

Example:

A company issues 200,000 shares of Rs. 25 each at a price of Rs. 250 per share.
Issue costs are Rs. 3,000,000.
The share issue would be accounted for as follows:

Dr (Rs. 000)  Cr (Rs. 000)

Cash (200,000 x 250) 50,000
Share capital (200,000 x 25) 5,000
Share premium (200,000 x 250 - 25) 45,000
Share premium 3,000
Cash 3,000
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7.2 Bonus issues
When an entity issues new ordinary shares:

A bonus issue of shares (also called a scrip issue or a capitalisation issue) is an
issue of new shares to existing shareholders, in proportion to their existing
shareholding, for no consideration. In other words, the new shares are issued
‘free of charge’ to existing shareholders.

The new shares are created by converting an equity balance from the statement
of financial position into ordinary share capital.

@ lllustration: Share issue double entry
& Debit  Credit

Equity reserve X
Share capital (nominal value of shares issued) X
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8 FINANCIAL STATEMENT - SPECIMEN FORMATS

Section overview

m Statement of comprehensive income (analysis of expenses by function)
m  Statement of financial position

IAS 1 does not specify formats for financial statements. However, it includes
illustrative statements in an appendix to the Standard).

The illustrations below are based on the illustrative examples but have been
modified to incorporate elements required by the fourth schedule to the
Companies Ordinance 1984.

8.1 Statement of comprehensive income (analysis of expenses by function)

lllustration: Statement of comprehensive income (analysis of expenses by
Ga function)
Statement of comprehensive income for the year ended 31 December
2015
Rs. m

Revenue X
Cost of sales (X)
Gross profit X
Other income X
Distribution costs (X)
Administrative expenses (X)
Other expenses (X)
Profit from operations X
Other operating income

Income from financial assets X

Income from debts loans and advances to related parties X

X

Finance costs (X)
Profit before tax X
Taxation (X)
PROFIT FOR THE YEAR X
Other comprehensive income

Sundry gains and losses
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE YEAR X
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE YEAR X
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8.2 Statement of financial position

@ lllustration: Statement of financial position format

Statement of financial position as at 31 December 2015

Rs.m Rs.m
Assets
Non-current assets

Property, plant and equipment

Intangible assets

Goodwill

Long term investments (CO)

Long term loans and advances (CO)

Long term deposits and prepayments (CO)
Total non-current assets X
Current assets

Stores, spare parts and loose tools (CO) X

Stock-in-trade (CO)

Trade debts (CO) X

Current portion of long term loans and advances (CO) X

Cash and bank balances (CO) X
Total current assets

X X X X X X

Total assets X

Equity and liabilities

Capital and reserves
Share capital (Issued, subscribed and paid up
capital)
Share premium
Accumulated profits (Unappropriated profits)
Other reserves

Total capital and reserves

Revaluation surplus (CO)

Non-current liabilities
Long-term financing X
Long term liabilites agains assets subject to a
finance lease
Deferred tax

Total non-current liabilities

Current liabilities
Trade and other payables
Accrued interest / mark-up (CO)
Short-term borrowings
Current portion of long-term borrowing
Current tax payable

Total current liabilities

Total liabilities

>

X X| X X

x| X X

x

X[ X X X

Total equity and liabilities
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INTRODUCTION

Learning outcomes

The overall objective of the syllabus is to broaden the knowledge base of basic accounting
acquired in earlier modules with emphasis on International Financial Reporting Standards.

LO1 Prepare financial statements in accordance with the relevant law of the
country and in compliance with the reporting requirement of the
international pronouncements.

LO1.1.4 Prepare statement of cash flows in accordance with the requirements of IAS
7.
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1 STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS: INTRODUCTION

Section overview

Purpose of statements of cash flows
Statements of cash flows

The sections of a statement of cash flows
Cash flows from operating activities
Cash flows from investing activities

Cash flows from financing activities
Gross or net

1.1 Purpose of statements of cash flows

IAS 1 states that a statement of cash flows is a part of a complete set of the
financial statements of an entity. It provides information about:

O  the cash flows of the entity during the reporting period, and
O the changes in cash and cash equivalents during the period.

IAS 7: Statements of cash flows sets out the benefits of cash flow information to
users of financial statements.

O A statement of cash flows provides information that helps users to evaluate
changes in the net assets of an entity and in its financial structure (including
its liquidity and solvency).

O It provides information that helps users to assess the ability of the entity to
affect the amount and timing of its cash flows in order to adapt to changing
circumstances and unexpected opportunities.

O  Itis useful in assessing the ability of the entity to generate cash and cash
equivalents.

O It helps users of accounts to compare the performance of different entities
because unlike profits, comparisons of cash flows are not affected by the
different accounting policies used by different entities.

O  Historical cash flows are often a fairly reliable indicator of the amount,
timing and certainty of future cash flows.
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1.2 Statements of cash flows

A statement of cash flows provides information about where a business obtained
its cash during the financial period, and how it made use of its cash.

A statement of cash flows groups inflows and outflows of cash under three broad
headings:

O  cash from operating activities
U  cash used in (or obtained from) investing activities
U cash paid or received in financing activities.

It also shows whether there was an increase or a decrease in the amount of cash
held by the entity between the beginning and the end of the period.

@ lllustration:

Cash from operating activities XI(X)
Cash used in (or obtained from) investing activities X/(X)
Cash paid or received in financing activities. X/(X)
Net cash inflow (or outflow) during the period XI(X)
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the period X/(X)
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the period XI(X)

A statement of cash flows reports the change in the amount of cash and cash
equivalents held by the entity during the financial period.

Cash and cash equivalents

.,D Definition: Cash, cash equivalents and cash flows
& Cash comprises cash on hand and demand deposits.

Cash equivalents are short-term, highly liquid investments that are readily
convertible to known amounts of cash and which are subject to an insignificant risk
of changes in value.

Cash flows are inflows and outflows of cash and cash equivalents.

For the purpose of a statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents are
treated as being the same thing. This means that cash flows between cash and
cash equivalent balances are not shown in the statement of cash flows. These
components are part of the cash management of an entity rather than part of its
operating, investing and financing activities.

Cash and cash equivalents are held in order to meet short-term cash
commitments, rather than for investment purposes or other purposes.

Examples of cash equivalents are:
U abank deposit where some notice of withdrawal is required

U  short-term investments with a maturity of three months or less from the
date of acquisition (e.g. government bills).
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Bank borrowings are generally considered to be financing activities. In that case
they would be held outside cash and cash equivalents and movements on the
bank borrowings would be shown under financing activities as a cash inflow if
borrowing increase or as a cash outflow if borrowings fell.

Sometimes, bank overdrafts which are repayable on demand form an integral
part of an entity's cash management. In these circumstances, bank overdrafts are
included as a component of cash and cash equivalents.

Sundry disclosures

An entity must disclose the components of cash and cash equivalents and
present a reconciliation of the amounts in its statement of cash flows with the
equivalent items reported in the statement of financial position.

Any significant cash and cash equivalent balances held by the entity that are not
available for use by the group must be disclosed together with a commentary by
management. This might be the case when a group of companies has a
subsidiary whose dividend payments are subject to a debt covenant or exchange
control regulations which would prevent payment of a dividend to the parent
company.

Comment on technique

Theoretically this could be done by analysing every entry in and out of the cash
account(s) over the course of a period. However, the cash account is often the
busiest account in the general ledger with potentially many thousands of entries.
Documents that summarise the transactions are needed.

These documents already exist! They are the other financial statements
(statement of financial position and statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income).

@ lllustration:
h A business might buy 100 new non-current assets over the year. There would be
100 different entries for these in the cash account.

However, it should be easy to estimate the additions figure from comparing the
opening and closing balances for non-current assets and isolating any other causes
of movement.

For example if we know that property plant and equipment has increased by Rs.
100,000 and that the only other cause of movement was depreciation of Rs.
15,000 then additions must have been Rs.115,000.

A lot of the numbers in cash flow statements are derived from comparing opening
and closing positions of line items in the statement of financial position. Other
causes of movement can then be identified leaving the cash double entry as a
balancing figure.
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1.3 The sections of a statement of cash flows

The content and format of statements of cash flows are specified by IAS 7
Statements of cash flows. IAS 7 does not specify what the exact format of a
statement of cash flows should be, but it provides suggested layouts in an
appendix.

Entities are required by IAS 7 to report cash flows for the period under three
headings:

U cash flows from operating activities
O  cash flows from investing activities
U cash flows from financing activities.

All cash flows (except for changes from cash to cash equivalents or from cash
equivalents to cash) can be included in one of these three categories.

Together, the cash flows arising from these three categories of activity explain
the increase or decrease in cash and cash equivalents during the financial
period.

The cash flows for each category might be positive or negative. The total of the
cash flows for all three categories together explains the overall increase or
decrease in cash and cash equivalents during the period.

A single transaction might include more than one type of cash flow. For example
a cash repayment of a loan might include both interest and capital. In this case
the interest element might be classified as an operating activity and the capital
element as a financing activity.

1.4 Cash flows from operating activities

Operating activities are the normal trading activities of the entity. Cash flows from
operating activities are the cash inflows or cash outflows arising in normal trading
activities.

Operating activities normally provide an operating profit before tax. However,
profit is not the same as cash flow, and the cash flows from operating activities
are different from profit.

A statement of cash flows normally makes a distinction between:

O cash generated from operations, which is the cash from sales less the
cash payments for operating costs, and

U net cash from operating activities, which is the cash generated from
operations, less interest payments and tax paid on profits.

Cash flows from operating activities are primarily derived from the principal
revenue-producing activities of the entity. Therefore, they generally result from
the transactions and other events that enter into the determination of profit or
loss.
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Examples of cash flows from operating activities are:

O  cash receipts from the sale of goods and the rendering of services;
cash receipts from royalties, fees, commissions and other revenue;
cash payments to suppliers for goods and services;

cash payments to and on behalf of employees;

(I I Ny

cash receipts and cash payments of an insurance entity for premiums and
claims, annuities and other policy benefits;

(M

cash payments or refunds of income taxes unless they can be specifically
identified with financing and investing activities; and

O  cash receipts and payments from contracts held for dealing or trading
purposes.

Some transactions result in the recognition of a gain or loss profit or loss (e.g.
sale of an item of plant). However, the cash flows relating to such transactions
are cash flows from investing activities.

Cash payments to manufacture or acquire assets held for rental to others and
subsequently held for sale are cash flows from operating activities. The cash
receipts from rents and subsequent sales of such assets are also cash flows from
operating activities.

The amount of cash flows arising from operating activities is a key indicator of the
extent to which the operations of the entity have generated sufficient cash flows
to function without recourse to external sources of financing. In addition, it forms
a basis for forecasting future operating cash flows.

1.5 Cash flows from investing activities

The second section of a statement of cash flows shows cash flows from investing
activities. Investing activities are defined by IAS 7 as ‘the acquisition and disposal
of long-term assets and other investments not included in cash equivalents’.

Cash flows from investing activities might also include cash received from
investments, such as interest or dividends received.

The separate disclosure of cash flows arising from investing activities is important
because the cash flows represent the extent to which expenditures have been
made for resources intended to generate future income and cash flows.

Examples of cash flows arising from investing activities are:

U  cash payments to acquire property, plant and equipment, intangibles and
other long-term assets (including those relating to capitalised development
costs and self-constructed tangible assets);

U  cash receipts from sales of property, plant and equipment, intangibles and
other long-term assets;

O  cash payments to acquire equity or debt instruments;
U  cash receipts from sales of equity or debt instruments of other entities;
U  cash advances and loans made to other parties (other than advances and

loans made by a financial institution which would be an operating activity);

O  cash receipts from the repayment of advances and loans made to other
parties (other than advances and loans of a financial institution);
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1.6 Cash flow from financing activities

The third section of the statement of cash flows shows the cash flows from
financing activities. These activities are defined by IAS 7 as ‘activities that result
in changes in the size and composition of the contributed equity and borrowings
of the entity.’

Examples of cash flows arising from financing activities are:
U  cash proceeds from issuing shares or other equity instruments;
U cash payments to owners to acquire or redeem the entity's shares;

a cash proceeds from issuing debentures, loans, notes, bonds, mortgages
and other short-term or long-term borrowings;

U cash repayments of amounts borrowed; and

O  cash payments by a lessee for the reduction of the outstanding liability
relating to a finance lease.

The separate disclosure of cash flows arising from financing activities is important
because it is useful in predicting claims on future cash flows by providers of
capital to the entity.

1.7 Gross or net

Generally, major classes of cash flows arising from investing and financing
activities are reported gross. That is to say that cash receipts and cash payments
are shown separately even if from and to the same party.

However, cash flows arising from the following activities may be reported on a net
basis:

O  cash receipts and payments on behalf of customers when the cash flows
reflect the activities of the customer rather than those of the entity (for
example if rent is collected on behalf of and paid on to owners of
properties); and

U cash receipts and payments for items in which the turnover is quick, the
amounts are large, and the maturities are short (e.g. payments made by
credit card companies on behalf of their customers and receipts from those
customers.

It is unlikely that you will see this in a question.
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2 STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS: FORMAT

Section overview

m Format
m  The indirect method
m  The direct method

2.1 Format

Q

IAS 7 does not include a format that must be followed. However it gives illustrative
examples of formats that meet the requirements in the standard.

This section provides examples of these.

lllustration: Statement of cash flows

Rs. Rs.

Net cash flow from operating activities 75,300
Cash flows from investing activities:

Acquisition of shares (debentures, etc.) (5,000)

Purchase of property, plant and machinery (35,000)

Proceeds from sale of non-current assets 6,000

Interest received/dividends received 1,500

Net cash used in investing activities (32,500)
Cash flows from financing activities:

Proceeds from issue of shares 30,000

Proceeds from new loan 10,000

Repayment of loan (17,000)

Dividends paid to shareholders (25,000)

Net cash used in financing activities (2,000)
Net increase/decrease in cash/cash equivalents 40,800
Cash/cash equivalents at the beginning of the year 5,000
Cash/cash equivalents at the end of the year 45,800

Operating cash flows

IAS 7 permits two methods of presenting the cash flows from operating activities:
(| the direct method, and

4  theindirect method.

For clarity, what this means is that there are two approaches to arriving at the
figure of Rs. 75,300 in the above example.

IAS 7 allows entities to use either method of presentation. It encourages entities
to use the direct method. However, the indirect method is used more in practice.
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The two methods differ only in the way that they present the cash flows for cash
generated from operations. In all other respects, the figures in the statement of
cash flows using the direct method are identical to the figures in a statement
using the indirect method — cash flows from investing activities and financing
activities are presented in exactly the same way.

2.2 The indirect method

The indirect method identifies the cash flows from operating activities by
adjusting the profit before tax figure. It arrives at the cash from operating
activities figure indirectly by reconciling a profit figure to a cash figure.

The adjustments remove the impact of accruals and non-cash items and also
relocate some figures to other positions in the statement of cash flows.

The following illustration shows how the net cash flow from operating activities
figure seen in the previous example was arrived at using the indirect method.

@ lllustration:
h Statement of cash flows: indirect method Rs. Rs.
Cash flows from operating activities
Profit before taxation 80,000
Adjustments for:
Depreciation and amortisation charges 20,000
Interest charges in the statement of profit or loss 2,300
Gains on disposal of non-current assets (6,000)
Losses on disposal of non-current assets 4 500
100,800
Increase in trade and other receivables (7,000)
Decrease in inventories 2,000
Increase in trade payables 3,000
Cash generated from operations 98,800
Taxation paid (tax on profits) (21,000)
Interest charges paid (2,500)
Net cash flow from operating activities 75,300
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2.3 The direct method

The direct method calculates the cash flow from operating activities by
calculating cash received from customers, cash paid to suppliers and so on.

The following illustration shows how the net cash flow from operating activities
figure seen in the previous example was arrived at using the direct method.

@ lllustration:

h Statement of cash flows: direct method Rs.
Cash flows from operating activities
Cash receipts from customers 348,800
Cash payments to suppliers (70,000)
Cash payments to employees (150,000)
Cash paid for other operating expenses (30,000)
Cash generated from operations 98,800
Taxation paid (tax on profits) (21,000)
Interest charges paid (2,500)
Net cash flow from operating activities 75,300

The figures in the two statements are identical from ‘Cash generated from
operations’ down to the end. The only differences are in the presentation of the
cash flows that produced the ‘Cash generated from operations’.
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3 CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES: THE INDIRECT METHOD

Section overview

Profit before taxation

Non-cash items

Accruals based figures - Interest

Accruals based figures - Taxation

Accruals based figures - Dividends

Presentation of interest, taxation and dividends cash flows

31

3.2

Profit before taxation

The starting point for the statement of cash flows for a company is the operating
profit after deducting interest but before taxation.

This profit figure is adjusted to calculate the amount of cash received by the
business or the amount of cash paid out as a consequence of its trading
operations.

The adjustments are to remove the effect of:
U Non-cash items, for example:

. Depreciation and amortisation (depreciation of intangible non-current
assets);
. Profit or loss on disposal of non-current assets; and

O  Accruals based figures, for example:
. Interest expense or income;

. Movement on working capital items (receivables, payables and
inventory).

Non-cash items

Depreciation and amortisation

Depreciation charges and amortisation charges are not cash flows. They are
expenses in the income statement, but do not represent payments of cash.

In order to obtain a figure for cash flow from the figure for profit, charges for
depreciation and amortisation must therefore be added back to the profit figure.

Gains or losses on disposal of non-current assets

Gains or losses on the disposal of non-current assets are not cash flows. The
gain or loss is calculated as the difference between:

O  the net cash received from the disposal, and

O  the carrying value (net book value) of the asset at the date of disposal.
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The effect of the gain or loss on disposal (a non-cash item) from the operating
profit is removed by:

O  deducting gain on disposal; and
U adding back losses on disposal.

The relevant cash flow is the net cash received from the sale. This is included in
cash flows from investing activities as the net cash flows received from the
disposal of non-current assets.

Example:
Q A company disposed of an item of equipment for Rs.40,000. The equipment had
originally cost Rs.60,000 and the accumulated depreciation charged up to the date
of disposal was Rs.32,000.

Rs.
Cost 60,000
Accumulated depreciation 32,000
Carrying value at date of disposal 28,000
Cash proceeds from sale 40,000
Gain on disposal 12,000

In the statement of cash flows, the gain on disposal of Rs.12,000 is deducted as an
adjustment to the operating profit.

The cash proceeds of Rs.40,000 is included as a cash inflow under the heading:
‘Cash flows from investing activities'.

Practice question 1
A company made a loss on the disposal of a company motor vehicle of Rs.

8,000.

The vehicle originally cost Rs. 50,000 and at the date of disposal,
accumulated depreciation on the vehicle was Rs. 20,000.

What are the items that should be included for the disposal of the vehicle in
the statement of cash flows for the year:

a) inthe adjustments to get from operating profit to cash flow from
operations?

b) under the heading: ‘Cash flows from investing activities'?
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3.3 Accruals based figures - Interest

The accruals concept is applied in accounting.

Interest charge in the income statement is an accrual based figure. It is added
back to profit and the actual cash interest paid is deducted further down the cash
flow statements.

The final items in the operating cash flows part of a statement of cash flows are
the amount of interest paid and the amount of tax paid (see later).

This figure must be calculated as follows:

lllustration:
Rs.
Interest liability at the beginning of the year X
Interest charge for the year (income statement figure) X
Total amount of interest payable in the year X
Interest liability at the end of the year (X)
Interest paid in the year (cash) X

Take a few minutes to make sure that you are happy about this. The same
approach is used to calculate other figures.

The interest liability at the start of the year and the interest charge during the year
is the most the business would pay. If the business had paid nothing it would owe
this figure. The difference between this amount and the liability at the end of the
year must be the amount that the business has paid.

Example: Interest paid

A company had liabilities in its statement of financial position at the beginning and
at the end of 2015, as follows:

Interest (Rs.)
Beginning of 2015 4,000
End of 2015 22,000

During the year, interest charges in the income statement were Rs.22,000.

The interest payment for inclusion in the statement of cash flows can be
calculated as follows:

Rs.
Liability at the start of the year 4,000
Charge for the year 22,000
Total amount payable in the year 26,000
Liability at the end of the year (3,000)
Cash paid 23,000
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Note that this approach would work to find the cash paid in respect of any liability
in respect of which expense was recognised in the statement of profit or loss.

It would not matter if you did not know anything about the type of liability as long
as you are told that there is a movement and you are given the amount
recognised in the statement of profit or loss. For example, instead of the above
example being about interest it could be about warranty provision, gratuity,
retirement benefit, health insurance, bonus pool, and so on.

3.4 Accruals based figures - Taxation
The tax paid is the last figure in the operating cash flow calculation.

There is no adjustment to profit in respect of tax. This is because the profit figure
that we start with is profit before tax; therefore tax is not included in it to be
adjusted!

However, there is a tax payment and this must be recognised as a cash flow. It is
calculated in the same way as shown above.

Example: Taxation paid
Q A company had liabilities in its statement of financial position at the beginning and
at the end of 2015, as follows:
Taxation (Rs.)
Beginning of 2015 53,000
End of 2015 61,000

During the year, taxation on profits was Rs.77,000.

The tax payment (cash flows) for inclusion in the statement of cash flows
can be calculated as follows:

Rs.
Taxation liability at the start of the year 53,000
Charge for the year 77,000
Total amount payable 130,000
Taxation liability at the end of the year (61,000)
Cash paid 69,000

Deferred taxation

A question might include deferred taxation. You have not covered this yet but it
can still be dealt with here as its impact on a statement of cash flows at this level
is quite straightforward.

A deferred tax balance might be an asset or a liability. Deferred tax liability is
more common (in practice and in questions) so this discussion will be about
liabilities.

A deferred tax liability is an amount that a company expects to pay in the future.
Therefore it has had no cash effect to date.

© Emile Woolf International 77 The Institute of Chartered Accountants of Pakistan



Financial accounting and reporting Il

Any movement on the deferred tax liability will be due to a double entry to tax
expense in the profit or loss section of the statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income. (There are double entries to other comprehensive
income and directly to equity but these are outside the scope of your syllabus).

There are two possible courses of action in dealing with deferred tax. Either:

O  ignore it entirely and work with numbers that exclude the deferred tax (in
effect this was what happened in the example above where there was no
information about deferred tax); or

O  include it in every tax balance in the working.

The second approach is usually used.

Example: Deferred tax
Q A company had liabilities in its statement of financial position at the beginning and
at the end of 2015, as follows:

Taxation Deferred
(Rs.) taxation (Rs.
Beginning of 2015 53,000 20,000
End of 2015 61,000 30,000

The tax expense for the year in the statement of profit or loss was Rs.
87,000. This was made up of the current tax expense of Rs. 77,000 and
the deferred tax of Rs. 10,000.

The tax payment (cash flows) for inclusion in the statement of cash flows
can be calculated as follows:

Rs.

Liability at the start of the year

(53,000 + 20,000) 73,000

Charge for the year (77,000 + 10,000) 87,000
Total amount payable in the year 160,000
Liability at the end of the year (61,000 + 30,000) (94,000)
Cash paid 69,000
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3.5 Accruals based figures - Dividends
A question might require the calculation of cash paid out as dividends in the year.

This is calculated in the usual way remembering that the dividend charge is a
debit in the statement of changes in equity.

@ lllustration:

h Rs.
Dividend liability at the beginning of the year X
Dividend charge for the year X
Total amount of dividend payable in the year X
Dividend liability at the end of the year (X)
Dividend paid in the year (cash) X

Pakistan

Typically, in Pakistan a company will pay a dividend once a year. Dividend
payments in Pakistan must be approved by the members in a general meeting
and this usually takes place after the year end. This means that the dividend
expensed in any one year is the previous year’s dividend (which could not be
recognised last year as it had not yet been approved in the general meeting).

Listed companies often pay an interim dividend part way through a year and a
final dividend after the year end. The actual dividend payment recognised in any
one year would then be that year’s interim dividend and the previous year’s final
dividend (which could not be recognised last year as it had not yet been
approved in the general meeting).

A gquestion may tell you that a dividend was declared at just before or just after
the year end but the company is not allowed to recognise that dividend until it is
approved. Last year’s figure is needed.
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Example: Dividend paid
Q A company had liabilities in its statement of financial position at the beginning and
at the end of 2015, as follows:

Dividends (Rs.)
Beginning of 2015 65,000
End of 2015 71,000

The company had share capital of Rs. 1,000,000.

The directors recommended a dividend of 20% (2014: 18%) on 25th
December 2015.

The company AGM is held in March each year.

The dividend payment (cash flows) for inclusion in the statement of cash
flows can be calculated as follows:

Rs.
Dividend liability at the start of the year 65,000
Dividend in the year (18% of 1,000,000) 180,000
Total amount payable 245,000
Dividend liability at the end of the year (71,000)
Cash paid 171,000

3.6 Presentation of interest, taxation and dividends cash flows

IAS 7 allows some variations in the way that cash flows for interest and dividends
are presented in a statement of cash flows, although the following should be
shown separately:

U interest received
U dividends received
O  interest paid

O  dividends paid.

Interest payments

IAS 7 states that there is no consensus about how to treat interest payments by
an entity, other than a financial institution such as a bank. Interest payments may
be classified as either:

O  an operating cash flow, because they are deducted when calculating
operating profit before taxation, or

U afinancing cash flow, because they are costs of obtaining finance.

In examples of statements of cash flows in the appendix to IAS 7, interest paid is
shown as a separate line item within cash flows from operating activities. This
approach is therefore used here.
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Interest and dividends received
Interest received and dividends received may be classified as either:

O  an operating cash flow, because they are added when calculating operating
profit before taxation, or

U aninvesting cash flow, because they represent returns on investment.

In examples of statements of cash flows in the appendix to IAS 7, interest
received and dividend received are shown as separate items within cash flows
from investing activities. This approach is therefore used here.

Dividends paid
IAS 7 allows dividend payments to be treated as either:

O afinancing cash flow because they are a cost of obtaining financial
resources, or

O  acomponent of the cash flows from operating activities, in order to assist
users to determine the ability of the entity to pay dividends out of its
operating cash flows.

In examples of statements of cash flows in the appendix to IAS 7, dividends paid
are shown as a line item within cash flows from financing activities. This
approach is therefore used here.

Taxes on profits

Cash flows arising from taxation on income should normally be classified as a
cash flow from operating activities (unless the tax payments or refunds can be
specifically associated with an investing or financing activity).

The examples of statements of cash flows in this chapter therefore show both
interest paid and tax paid as cash flow items, to get from the figure for cash
generated from operations to the figure for ‘net cash from operating activities’.
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4 INDIRECT METHOD: ADJUSTMENTS FOR WORKING CAPITAL

Section overview

Working capital adjustments: Introduction

Working capital

Changes in trade and other receivables

Possible complication: Allowances for doubtful debts
Changes in inventory

Changes in trade payables

Lack of detall

41

Working capital adjustments: Introduction

Definition

Working capital is current assets less current liabilities.

The previous section showed that taxation and interest cash flows can be
calculated by using a figure from the statement of profit or loss and adjusting it by
the movement on the equivalent balances in the statement of financial position.

This section shows how this approach is extended to identify the cash generated
from operations by making adjustments for the movements between the start and
end of the year for elements of working capital, namely:

U trade receivables and prepayments;
d inventories; and
U trade payables and accruals.

Assuming that the calculation of the cash flow from operating activities starts with
a profit (rather than a loss) the adjustments are as follows:

Increase in balance from start Decrease in balance from

Balance

to the end of the year start to the end of the year

Receivables Subtract from profit before tax Add back to profit before tax

Inventory Subtract from profit before tax Add back to profit before tax

Payables Add back to profit before tax Subtract from profit before tax

These are known as the working capital adjustments and are explained in more
detail in the rest of this section.
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4.2 Working capital

Working capital is made up of the following balances:

@ lllustration:
h Rs.
Inventory X
Trade and other receivables X
Cash X
Trade payables (X)
Working capital X

Trade and other receivables include any prepayments.

Trade payables include accrued expenses, provided the accrued expenses do
not relate to other items dealt with separately in the statement of cash flows, in
particular:

O  accrued interest charges; and
O taxation payable.

Interest charges and payments for interest are presented separately in the
statement of cash flows, and so accrued interest charges should be excluded
from the calculation of changes in trade payables and accruals.

Similarly, taxation payable is dealt with separately; therefore taxation payable is
excluded from the calculation of working capital changes.

Accrued interest and accrued tax payable must therefore be deducted from the
total amount for accruals, and the net accruals (after making these deductions)
should be included with trade payables.

Changes in working capital and the effect on cash flow

When working capital increases, the cash flows from operations are less than the
operating profit, by the amount of the increase.

Similarly, when working capital is reduced, the cash flows from operations are
more than the operating profit, by the amount of the reduction.

This important point will be explained with several simple examples.
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4.3 Changes in trade and other receivables

Sales revenue in a period differs from the amount of cash received from sales by
the amount of the increase or decrease in receivables during the period.

When trade and other receivables go up during the year, cash flows from
operations are less than operating profit by the amount of the increase.

When trade and other receivables go down during the year, cash flows from
operations are more than operating profit by the amount of the reduction.

In a statement of cash flows presented using the indirect method, the adjustment
for receivables is therefore:

U subtract the increase in receivables during the period (the amount by which
closing receivables exceed opening receivables); or

O  add the reduction in receivables during the period (the amount by which
opening receivables exceed closing receivables).

Prepayments in the opening and closing statement of financial position should be
included in the total amount of receivables.

Example: trade and other receivables
Q A company had receivables at the beginning of the year of Rs. 6,000 and at the
end of the year receivables were Rs. 9,000.
During the year, sales were Rs. 50,000 in total. Purchases were Rs. 30,000, all
paid in cash.
The company holds no inventories. The profit before tax for the year was Rs.
20,000 (Rs. 50,000 - Rs. 30,000).
The cash flow from operations is calculated as follows:
Rs.
Profit before tax 20,000
Adjustments for increase in receivables (9,000 - 6,000) (3,000)
17,000
Proof
Cash flow from operations can be calculated as follows:
Rs.
Receivables at the beginning of the year 6,000
Sales in the year 50,000
56,000
Receivables at end of the year (9,000)
Cash received 47,000
Cash paid (purchases) (30,000)
Cash flow from operations 17,000
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4.4 Possible complication: Allowances for doubtful debts

A gquestion might provide information on the allowance for doubtful debts at the
start and end of the year.

There are two ways of dealing with this:

O  Adjust the profit for the movement on the allowance as a non-cash item and
adjust the profit figure for the movement in receivables using the gross
amounts (i.e. the balances before any deduction of the allowance for
doubtful debts); or

O  Make no adjustments for the movement on receivables as a non-cash item
adjust the profit figure for the movement in receivables using the net
amounts (i.e. the balances after the deduction of the allowance for doubtful

debts).
Example: Allowance for doubtful debts
The following information is available:
2014 2015
(Rs. m) (Rs. m)
Receivables 5,000 7,100
Allowance for doubtful debts (500) (600)
Net-amount 4,500 6,500
Rs. m or Rs. m
Profit before taxation 10,000 10,000
Adjustments for non- cash items:
Increase in allowance for doubtful debts 100 —
10,100 10,000
Increase in receivables:
Gross amounts: (7,100 — 5,000) (2,100)
Net amounts: (6,500 — 4,500) (2,000)
8,000 8,000
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4.5 Changes in inventory

Purchases in a period differ from the cost of sales by the amount of the increase
or decrease in inventories during the period.

If all purchases were paid for in cash, this means that cash payments and the
cost of sales (and profit) would differ by the amount of the increase or decrease
in inventories.

When the value of inventory goes up between the beginning and end of the year,
cash flows from operations are less than operating profit by the amount of the
increase.

When the value of inventory goes down between the beginning and end of the
year, cash flows from operations are more than operating profit by the amount of
the reduction.

In a statement of cash flows presented using the indirect method, the adjustment
for inventories is therefore:

U subtract the increase in inventories during the period (the amount by which
closing inventory exceeds opening inventory); or

U add the reduction in inventories during the period (the amount by which
opening inventory exceeds closing inventory).

Example: inventory
Q A company had inventory at the beginning of the year of Rs. 5,000 and at the end
of the year the inventory was valued at Rs. 3,000.

During the year, sales were Rs. 50,000 and there were no receivables at the
beginning or end of the year.

Purchases were Rs. 28,000, all paid in cash.

The operating profit for the year was Rs. 20,000, calculated as follows:

Rs.
Sales 50,000
Opening inventory 5,000
Purchases in the year (all paid in cash) 28,000
33,000
Closing inventory (3,000)
Cost of sales (30,000)
Profit before tax 20,000
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Q Example (continued)
Rs.
Profit before tax 20,000
Adjustments for:
decrease in inventory (5,000 - 3,000) 2,000
22,000
Proof: The cash flow from operations is calculated as follows:
Rs.
Cash from sales in the year 50,000
Purchases paid in cash (28,000)
Cash flow from operations 22,000

4.6 Changes in trade payables

Payments for purchases in a period differ from purchases by the amount of
increase or decrease in trade payables during the period.

When trade payables go up between the beginning and end of the year, cash
flows from operations are more than operating profit by the amount of the
increase.

When trade payables go down between the beginning and end of the year, cash
flows from operations are less than operating profit by the amount of the
reduction.

In a statement of cash flows presented using the indirect method, the adjustment
for trade payables is therefore:

O  add the increase in trade payables during the period (the amount by which
closing trade payables exceed opening trade payables);or

O  subtract the reduction in trade payables during the period (the amount by
which opening trade payables exceed closing trade payables).

Accruals in the opening and closing statement of financial position should be
included in the total amount of trade payables.

However, deduct interest payable and tax payable from opening and closing
payables, if the total for payables includes these items.
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O

Example: trade payables

A company had no inventory and no receivables at the beginning and end of the
year. All its sales are for cash, and sales in the year were Rs. 50,000.

Its purchases are all on credit. During the year, its purchases were Rs. 30,000.

Trade payables at the beginning of the year were Rs. 4,000 and trade payables at
the end of the year were Rs. 6,500.

The operating profit for the year was Rs. 20,000 (Rs. 50,000 - Rs. 30,000)

Rs.
Profit before tax 20,000
Adjustments for:
Increase in payables (6,500 - 4,000) 2,500
22500
Proof: The cash flow from operations is calculated as follows:
Rs.
Trade payables at the beginning of the year 4,000
Purchases in the year 30,000
34,000
Trade payables at the end of the year (6,500)
Cash paid to suppliers 27,500
Cash from sales (50,000)
Cash flow from operations 22,500

The cash flow is Rs. 2,500 more than the operating profit, because trade payables
were increased during the year by Rs. 2,500.
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Example:
Q A company made an operating profit before tax of Rs. 16,000 in the year just
ended.

Depreciation charges were Rs. 15,000.

There was a gain of Rs. 5,000 on disposals of non-current assets and there were no
interest charges. Values of working capital items at the beginning and end of the

year were:
Receivables Inventory Trade payables
Beginning of the year Rs. 9,000 Rs. 3,000 Rs. 4,000
End of the year Rs. 6,000 Rs. 5,000 Rs. 6,500

Taxation paid was Rs. 4,800.

Required

Calculate the amount of cash generated from operations, as it would be shown in a
statement of cash flows using the indirect method.

Answer
"
S Rs. Rs.

Cash flows from operating activities
Profit before taxation 16,000

Adjustments for:

Depreciation and amortisation charges 15,000
Gains on disposal of non-current assets (5,000)
26,000
Decrease in trade and other receivables 3,000
Increase in inventories (2,000)
Increase in trade payables 2,500
Cash generated from operations 29,500
Taxation paid (tax on profits) (4,800)
Net cash flow from operating activities 24,700
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Practice question 2
During 2015, a company made a profit before taxation of Rs. 60,000.

Depreciation charges were Rs. 25,000 and there was a gain on the disposal
of a machine of Rs. 14,000.

Interest charges and payments of interest in the year were the same
amount, Rs. 10,000.

Taxation payments were Rs. 17,000.

Values of working capital items at the beginning and end of the year were:
Receivables Inventory  Trade payables

Beginning of the year Rs. 32,000 Rs. 49,000 Rs. 17,000

End of the year Rs. 27,000 Rs. 53,000 Rs. 11,000

Calculate the net cash from operating activities, as it would be shown
in a statement of cash flows (indirect method).
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4.7 Lack of detail

OF

A gquestion might not provide all the detail needed to split out working capital into
all of its component parts. If this is the case the adjustment must be made using
whatever totals are available in the question.

Example:

A company made an operating profit before tax of Rs. 16,000 in the year just
ended.

Depreciation charges were Rs. 15,000.

There was a gain of Rs. 5,000 on disposals of non-current assets and there were no
interest charges. Values of working capital items at the beginning and end of the
year were:

Current assets Trade payables
Beginning of the year Rs. 12,000 Rs. 4,000
End of the year Rs. 11,000 Rs. 6,500

Taxation paid was Rs. 4,800.

Required

Calculate the amount of cash generated from operations, as it would be shown in a
statement of cash flows using the indirect method.

Answer

Rs. Rs.
Cash flows from operating activities
Profit before taxation 16,000
Adjustments for:

Depreciation and amortisation charges 15,000
Gains on disposal of non-current assets (5,000)
26,000
Decrease in current assets 1,000
Increase in trade payables 2,500
Cash generated from operations 29,500
Taxation paid (tax on profits) (4,800)
Net cash flow from operating activities 24,700
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5 CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES: THE DIRECT METHOD

Section overview

Cash from sales

Cash paid for materials

Cash paid for wages and salaries
Cash paid for other expenses

5.1 Cash from sales

The format for the direct method of presenting a statement of cash flows is as

follows:
@ lllustration:

b Statement of cash flows: direct method Rs.
Cash flows from operating activities
Cash receipts from customers 348,800
Cash payments to suppliers (70,000)
Cash payments to employees (150,000)
Cash paid for other operating expenses (30,000)
Cash generated from operations 98,800
Taxation paid (tax on profits) (21,000)
Interest charges paid (2,500)
Net cash flow from operating activities 75,300

The task is therefore to establish the amounts for cash receipts and cash
payments. In an examination, you might be expected to calculate any of these
cash flows from figures in the opening and closing statements of financial
position, and the statement of profit or loss.

The cash receipts from sales during a financial period can be calculated as
follows:
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@ lllustration:
h Rs.
Trade receivables at the beginning of the year X
Sales in the year X
X
Trade receivables at the end of the year (X)
Cash from sales during the year X
A T account could also be used to calculate the cash receipt
Receivables
Balance b/f X
Sales X Cash (balancing figure) X
Balance ¢/f X
X X

5.2 Cash paid for materials

To calculate the amount of cash paid to suppliers, you might need to calculate
first the amount of material purchases during the period.

Oi lllustration: Calculation of purchases in the year
h Rs.
Closing inventory at the end of the year X
Cost of sales X
X
Opening inventory at the beginning of the year (X)
Purchases in the year X

Having calculated purchases from the cost of sales, the amount of cash
payments for purchases may be calculated from purchases and opening and
closing trade payables.
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@ lllustration:
h Rs.
Trade payables at the beginning of the year X
Purchases in the year (as above) X
X
Trade payables at the end of the year (X)
Cash paid for materials X
A T account could also be used to calculate the cash paid
Payables
Balance b/f X
Cash (balancing figure) X Purchases X
Balance c/f X
X X

Note that if the business had paid for goods in advance at the start or end of the
year they would have an opening or closing receivable but this situation would be
quite unusual.

6.3 Cash paid for wages and salaries

Cash payments for wages and salaries can be calculated in a similar way.

@ lllustration:
h Rs.
Accrued wages and salaries at the beginning of the year X
Wages and salaries expenses in the year X
X
Accrued wages and salaries at the end of the year (X)
Cash paid for wages and salaries X
A T account could also be used to calculate the cash paid
Payables
Balance b/f X
Cash (balancing figure) X Purchases X
Balance c/f X
X X

If wages and salaries had been paid in advance the business would have a
receivable and the workings would change to the following.
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lllustration:

Rs.

Wages and salaries paid in advance at the beginning of the
year (X)
Wages and salaries expenses in the year

Wages and salaries paid in advance at the end of the year
Cash paid for wages and salaries

XX X X

A T account could also be used to calculate the cash paid

Payables

Balance b/f X
Cash (balancing figure) X Purchases X
Balance ¢/f

x

5.4 Cash paid for other expenses

Q

Other expenses in the statement of profit or loss usually include depreciation
charges, which are not cash flows. Depreciation charges should therefore be
excluded from other expenses when calculating cash payments.

Cash payments for other expenses can be calculated as follows.

lllustration:

Rs.
Payables for other expenses at the beginning of the year X

Other expenses in the year, excluding depreciation and
amortisation X
X
Payables for other expenses at the end of the year (X)
Cash paid for other expenses X

Payables for other expenses should exclude accrued wages and salaries,
accrued interest charges and taxation payable.
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Example:
Q The following information has been extracted from the financial statements of
Hopper Company for the year ended 31 December 2015.
Rs.
Sales 1,280,000
Cost of sales (400,000)
Gross profit 880,000
Wages and salaries (290,000)
Other expenses (including depreciation Rs. 25,000) (350,000)
240,000
Interest charges (50,000)
Profit before tax 190,000
Tax on profit (40,000)
Profit after tax 150,000
Extracts from the statement of financial position:
At 1 January At 31 December
2015 2015
Rs. Rs.
Trade receivables 233,000 219,000
Inventory 118,000 124,000
Trade payables 102,000 125,000
Accrued wages and salaries 8,000 5,000
Accrued interest charges 30,000 45,000
Tax payable 52,000 43,000
Required
Present the cash flows from operating activities as they would be presented in a
statement of cash flows using:
a) the direct method; and
b) the indirect method.
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Answer: Direct method

Statement of cash flows: direct method
Cash flows from operating activities
Cash receipts from customers(W1)
Cash payments to suppliers(W3)

Cash payments to employees(W4)
Cash paid for other operating expenses
Cash generated from operations
Taxation paid (tax on profits)(W5)
Interest charges paid(W5)

Net cash flow from operating activities

Workings

(W1) Cash from sales
Trade receivables at 1 January 2015
Sales in the year

Trade receivables at 31 December 2015

Cash from sales during the year

(W2) Purchases
Closing inventory at 31 December 2015
Cost of sales

Opening inventory at 1 January 2015

Purchases in the year

(W3) Cash paid for materials supplies
Trade payables at 1 January 2015
Purchases in the year (W2)

Trade payables at 31 December 2015
Cash paid for materials

Rs.

1,294,000
(383,000)
(293,000)
(325,000)

293,000
(49,000)
(35,000)
209,000

Rs.
233,000
1,280,000
1,513,000
(219,000)
1,294,000

Rs.
124,000
400,000
524,000

(118,000)
406,000

Rs.
102,000
406,000
508,000

(125,000)
383,000
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R Answer: Direct method (continued)
(W4) Cash paid for wages and salaries Rs.
Accrued wages and salaries at 1 January 2015 8,000
Wages and salaries expenses in the year 290,000
298,000
Accrued wages and salaries at 31 December 2015 (5,000)
Cash paid for wages and salaries 293,000
(W5) Interest and tax payments Tax Interest
Rs. Rs.
Liability at the beginning of the year 52,000 30,000
Taxation charge/interest charge for the year 40,000 50,000
92,000 80,000
Liability at the end of the year (43,000) (45,000)
Tax paid/interest paid during the year 49,000 35,000
A Answer: Indirect method
Statement of cash flows: indirect method Rs.
Cash flows from operating activities
Profit before taxation 190,000
Adjustments for:
Depreciation and amortisation charges 25,000
Interest charges in the statement of profit or loss 50,000
265,000
Decrease in receivables (233,000 - 219,000) 14,000
Increase in inventories (124,000 - 118,000) (6,000)
Increase in trade payables 20,000
(125,000 + 5,000) - (102,000 + 8,000)
Cash generated from operations 293,000
Taxation paid (49,000)
Interest charges paid (35,000)
Net cash flow from operating activities 209,000
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6 CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Section overview

Cash paid for the purchase of property, plant and equipment
Cash from disposals of property, plant and equipment

Cash paid for the purchase of investments and cash received from the sale of
investments

m  Non-cash purchases

6.1 Cash paid for the purchase of property plant and equipment

This is the second part of a statement of cash flows, after cash flows from
operating activities.

The most important items in this part of the statement are cash paid to purchase
non-current assets and cash received from the sale or disposal of non-current
assets but it also includes interest received and dividends received on
investments.

It is useful to remember the following relationship:

@ lllustration: Movement on non-current assets

h Rs.
Carrying amount at the start of the year X
Depreciation (X)
Disposals X)
Additions X
Revaluation XI(X)
Carrying amount at the end of the year X
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When there are no disposals or revaluations during the year

When there are no disposals or revaluations of non-current assets during the
year, purchases of non-current assets (normally assumed to be the amount of
cash paid for these purchases) may be calculated as follows:

lllustration:
Using cost: Rs.
Non-current assets at the beginning of the year at cost X
Additions to non-current assets (balancing figure) X
Non-current assets at the end of the year at cost T
Alternatively carrying amount (NBV) can be used Rs.
Non-current assets at the beginning of the year at NBV X
Depreciation (X)
X
Additions to non-current assets (balancing figure) X
Non-current assets at the end of the year at NBV (X)

Example: Cash paid for property, plant and equipment

The plant and equipment of PM Company at the beginning and the end of its
financial year were as follows:

Accumulated Net book
At cost depreciation value
Rs. Rs. Rs.
Beginning of the year 180,000 (30,000) 150,000
End of the year 240,000 (50,000) 190,000

There were no disposals of plant and equipment during the year.

The cash paid for plant and equipment in the year (additions) may be calculated in
either of the following ways.

Cost or NBV
Balance at the start of the year 180,000 150,000
Less: Depreciation charge for the
year (50,000 - 30,000) (20,000)
Additions (balancing figure) 130,000
60,000 60,000
Balance at the start of the year 240,000 190,000
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Note that in the above example it is assumed that the purchases have been
made for cash. This might not be the case. If the purchases are on credit the
figure must be adjusted for any amounts outstanding at the year end.

Q Example: Cash paid for property, plant and equipment

PM company has purchased various items of property, plant and equipment on
credit during the year. The total purchased was Rs. 60,000.

The statements of financial position of PM company at the beginning and end of
2015 include the following information:

Payables: 2014 (Rs. m) 2015 (Rs. m)
Suppliers of non-current assets 4,000 12,000

The cash paid to buy property, plant and equipment in the year can be
calculated as follows:

Rs. m
Additions 60,000
Less: increase in payables that relate to these items (8,000)
Cash paid in the year 52,000

This can be thought of as the payment of the Rs. 4,000 owed at the start
and a payment of Rs. 48,000 towards this year’s purchases.

If the payables had decreased the movement would be added to the additions
figure to find the cash outflow.

PM company has purchased various items of property, plant and equipment on

Q Example: Cash paid for property, plant and equipment
credit during the year. The total purchased was Rs. 60,000.

The statements of financial position of PM company at the beginning and end of
2015 include the following information:

Payables: 2014 (Rs. m) 2015 (Rs. m)
Suppliers of non-current assets 14,000 4,000

The cash paid to buy property, plant and equipment in the year can be
calculated as follows:

Rs. m
Additions 60,000
Plus: decrease in payables that relate to these items 10,000
Cash paid in the year 70,000

This can be thought of as the payment of the Rs. 14,000 owed at the
start and a payment of Rs. 56,000 towards this year’s purchases.
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Q

When there are disposals during the year

When there are disposals of non-current assets during the year, the purchases of
non-current assets may be calculated as follows:

lllustration: Movement on non-current assets

Rs.

Assets at cost at the beginning of the year X
Disposals during the year (cost) (X)
X

Additions to non-current assets (balancing figure) X

Assets at cost at the end of the year X
Alternatively carrying amount (NBV) can be used Rs.

Non-current assets at the beginning of the year at NBV X
Depreciation X)
Disposals during the year (NBV) X)

X

Additions to non-current assets (balancing figure) X
Non-current assets at the end of the year at NBV X)

Example: Cash paid for property, plant and equipment with disposals

The motor vehicles of PM Company at the beginning and the end of its financial
year were as follows:

Accumulated Carrying
At cost depreciation amount
Rs. Rs. Rs.
Beginning of the year 150,000 (105,000) 45,000
End of the year 180,000 (88,000) 92,000

During the year a vehicle was disposed of for a gain of Rs. 3,000. The
original cost of this asset was Rs. 60,000. Accumulated depreciation on
the asset was Rs. 45,000.

Additions may be calculated as follows:

Cost NBV

Balance at the start of the year 150,000 45,000
Disposals during the year:

At cost (60,000)

At carrying amount: (60,000 - 45,000) (15,000)
Depreciation (88,000 - (105,000 - 45,000) (28,000)

90,000 2,000

Additions (balancing figure) 90,000 90,000
Balance at the end of the year 180,000 92,000
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When there are revaluations during the year

When there are revaluations of non-current assets during the year, the purchases
of non-current assets should be calculated as follows.

@ lllustration: Movement on non-current assets

Rs.
At cost or valuation, at the beginning of the year X
Disposals during the year (cost) (X)
Upward/(downward) revaluation during the year X/(X)
X
Additions to non-current assets (balancing figure) X
At cost or valuation, at the end of the year X
Alternatively carrying amount (NBV) can be used Rs.
Non-current assets at the beginning of the year at NBV X
Depreciation X)
Disposals during the year (NBV) X)
Upward/(downward) revaluation during the year X/(X)
X
Additions to non-current assets (balancing figure) X
Non-current assets at the end of the year at NBV X)

Example:
Q The statements of financial position of Grand Company at the beginning and end of
2015 include the following information:

Property, plant and equipment 2014 2015
Rs. Rs.

At cost/re-valued amount 1,400,000 1,900,000

Accumulated depreciation 350,000 375,000

Carrying value 1,050,000 1,525,000

During the year, some property was revalued upwards by Rs. 200,000.
An item of equipment was disposed of during the year at a profit of Rs.
25,000. This equipment had an original cost of Rs. 260,000 and
accumulated depreciation of Rs. 240,000 at the date of disposal.

Depreciation charged in the year was Rs. 265,000.
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Example (continued)
Q Additions may be calculated as follows:
Cost NBV
Balance at the start of the year 1,400,000 1,050,000
Disposals during the year:

At cost (260,000)

At carrying amount: (260,000 - 240,000) (20,000)
Depreciation (265,000)
Revaluation 200,000 200,000

1,340,000 965,000
Additions (balancing figure) 560,000 560,000
Balance at the end of the year 1,900,000 1,525,000

The revaluation recognised in the year can be found by comparing the opening
and closing balances on the revaluation surplus account. There might also be
revaluation double entry recognised as a gain or loss in other comprehensive
income. You need to total revaluation recognised in the year so you may have to

add or net both amounts.

Revaluation accounting is explained in detail in chapter 7.
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When there are other additions during the year

The above example showed the need to take revolution into account when
reconciling the opening and closing balances on non-current assets so as to find
the additions figure as a balancing amount.

This applies to other additions too:

O  Transfers from capital work in progress

These are assets constructed by a company for its own use.

During the course of construction costs are accumulated in a capital
work in progress account and these are transferred into the relevant
category of non-current asset on completion.

The cash consequence of capital work in progress is estimated as a
separate exercise.

Transfers into the relevant category of non-current asset on
completion show as an addition and so must be taken into account
when trying to estimate the cash additions.

O  Assets acquired under finance leases. (finance leases are covered in detall
in chapter 9).

A finance lease is capitalised on the statement of financial position as
an assets and as a liability.

The asset side of the entry will show as an addition into non-current
assets and so must be taken into account when trying to estimate the
cash additions.

The liability is a form of loan. Movements on the liability represent
new amounts borrowed (additions to non-current assets) and
repayments of capital.
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Example:
Q The statements of financial position of Grand Company at the beginning and end of
2015 include the following information:

Property, plant and equipment 2014 2015
Rs. Rs.

At cost/re-valued amount 1,400,000 1,900,000
Accumulated depreciation 350,000 375,000
Carrying value 1,050,000 1,525,000
Capital work in progress 600,000 620,000
Finance lease liability 300,000 410,000
During the year:

Property was revalued upwards by Rs. 200,000.

An item of equipment was disposed of at a profit of Rs. 25,000. This
equipment had an original cost of Rs. 260,000 and accumulated
depreciation of Rs. 240,000 at the date of disposal.

Depreciation charged in the year was Rs. 265,000.

The company capitalised Rs. 200,000 as capital work in progress and
repaid Rs. 50,000 of the finance lease loan.
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Example (continued)
Q Additions may be calculated as follows:
Cost NBV
Balance at the start of the year 1,400,000 1,050,000
Disposals during the year:

At cost (260,000)

At carrying amount: (260,000 - 240,000) (20,000)
Depreciation (265,000)
Revaluation 200,000 200,000
Additions - new assets under finance
leases (W) 160,000 160,000
Additions - Transfer from capital WIP (W) 180,000 180,000

1,680,000 1,305,000
Additions (balancing figure) 220,000 220,000
Balance at the end of the year 1,900,000 1,525,000
Workings
Additions - new assets under finance leases (W)
Liability at the start of the year 300,000
Less: repayments (50,000)
250,000
New loan - other side of entry to property, plant and
equipment (balancing figure) 160,000
410,000
Capital work in progress
Balance at the start of the year 600,000
New WIP capitalised 200,000
800,000
Transfer to property, plant and equipment (balancing
figure) (180,000)
Balance at the end of the year 620,000

© Emile Woolf International 107

The Institute of Chartered Accountants of Pakistan




Financial accounting and reporting Il

6.2 Cash from disposals of property plant and equipment

Q

A statement of cash flows should include the net cash received from any
disposals of non-current assets during the period.

This might have to be calculated from the gain or loss on disposal and the
carrying amount of the asset at the time of its disposal.

lllustration: Disposal of property, plant and equipment

Rs.
At cost (or re-valued amount at the time of disposal) X
Accumulated depreciation, at the time of disposal X)
Net book value/carrying amount at the time of disposal X
Gain or (loss) on disposal X
Net disposal value (= assumed cash flow) X

If there is a gain on disposal, the net cash from the disposal is more than the net
book value.

If there is a loss on disposal the net cash from the disposal is less than the net
book value.

Example:

During an accounting period, an entity disposed of some equipment and made a
gain on disposal of Rs. 6,000.

The equipment originally cost Rs. 70,000 and at the time of its disposal, the
accumulated depreciation on the equipment was Rs. 56,000.

What was the amount of cash obtained from the disposal of the asset?

Disposal of equipment Rs.
At cost 70,000
Accumulated depreciation, at the time of disposal (56,000)
Net book value/carrying amount at the time of disposal 14,000
Gain on disposal 6,000
Net disposal value (assumed cash flow) 20,000

This cash flow would be included in the cash flows from investing activities.

Note that in the above example it is assumed that the cash received for the
disposal has been received. This might not be the case. If the disposal was on
credit the figure must be adjusted for any amounts outstanding at the year end.
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Practice question 3
At 1 January 2015, the property, plant and equipment in the statement of

financial position of NC Company amounted to Rs. 329,000 at cost or
valuation.

At the end of the year, the property, plant and equipment was Rs. 381,000
at cost or valuation.

During the year, a non-current asset that cost Rs. 40,000 (and has not been
re-valued) was disposed of at a loss of Rs. 4,000. The accumulated
depreciation on this asset at the time of disposal was Rs. 21,000.

Another non-current asset was re-valued upwards during the year from Rs.
67,000 (cost) to Rs. 102,000.

Calculate the following amounts, for inclusion in the cash flows from
investing activities section of the company’s statement of cash flows for
2015:

a) Purchases of property, plant and equipment
b) Proceeds from the sale of non-current assets
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6.3 Cash paid for the purchase of investments and cash received from the sale

Q

of investments

A statement of cash flows should include the net cash paid to buy investments in
the period and the cash received from the sale of investment in the period.

It is useful to remember the following relationship:

lllustration: Movement on investments

Rs.
Carrying amount at the start of the year X
Disposals X)
Additions X
Revaluation XI(X)
Carrying amount at the end of the year X

The issues to be considered in calculating cash paid for investments or cash
received on the sale of investments are very similar to those for the purchase and
sale of property, plant and equipment except for the absence of depreciation.

Example: Cash paid for investments

The statements of financial position of Grand Company at the beginning and end of
2015 include the following information:
2014 (Rs. m) 2015 (Rs. m)
Non-current asset investments 1,000 1,500

Additional information:

The investments were revalued upwards during the year. A revalution
gain of Rs. 150m has been recognised.

Investments sold for Rs. 250m resulted in a profit on the sale (measured
as the difference between sale proceeds and carrying amount at the
date of sale) of Rs. 50m

The cash paid to buy investments in the period can be calculated as a
balancing figure as follows:

Rs. m
Investments at the start of the year (given) 1,000
Disposal (carrying amount of investments (200)
sold = Rs. 250m - Rs. 50m)
Revalution gains (given 150
950
Additions (as balancing figure): 550
Investments at the end of the year (given) 1,500
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6.4 Non-cash purchases

IAS 7 states that investing and financing transactions that do not require the use
of cash must be excluded from the statement of cash flows, but that details of
these transactions should be disclosed somewhere in the financial statements,
possibly as a note to the financial statements.

An example of a non-cash transaction is the acquisition of non-current assets
under a finance lease arrangement. The assets are included in the financial
statements at cost, but the lessee has not paid the purchase price.

IAS 7 therefore suggests that there should be a disclosure, in a note to the
financial statements, of the total amount of property, plant and equipment
acquired during the period, and the cash payments that were made to acquire
them. These two amounts are different, because some of the non-current assets
might have been acquired under finance lease arrangements.

@ lllustration
h An example of a note to the financial statements is as follows.

During the period, the company acquired property, plant and equipment with an
aggregate cost of Rs. 250,000, of which Rs. 60,000 was acquired by means of
finance leases. Cash payments of Rs. 190,000 were made to purchase property,
plant and equipment.

In this example, Rs. 190,000 would appear as a cash outflow in the statement of
cash flows in the section for cash flows from investing activities for the period.

a The Rs. 190,000 is the amount of cash actually paid for purchases of
property, plant and equipment in the period.

a The cash payments under the terms of the finance leases are not included
in this part of the statement of cash flows. The treatment of finance lease
payments is explained later.
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7 CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Section overview

Examples of cash flows from financing activities
Cash from new share issues

Cash from new loans/cash used to repay loans
Dividend payments to equity shareholders
Repayments on finance leases

7.1 Examples of cash flows from financing activities

Examples of cash flows from financing activities are listed below:

Cash payments Cash receipts

Cash payments to redeem/buy back Cash proceeds from issuing shares

shares
Cash payments to repay a loan or Cash proceeds from a loan or issue of
redeem bonds bonds

Cash payments to a lessor under a
finance lease agreement that
represent a reduction in the remaining
finance lease obligation (= a reduction
in the creditors for finance leases)

As explained earlier, payments of dividends are also usually included within cash
flows from financing activities, in this part of the statement of cash flows. (Some
entities may also include interest payments in this section, instead of including
them in the section for cash flows from operating activities.)
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7.2 Cash from new share issues

The cash raised from new share issues can be established by comparing the
equity share capital and the share premium in the statements of financial position
at the beginning and the end of the year.

@ lllustration:

Rs.
Share capital + Share premium at the end of the year X
Share capital + Share premium at the beginning of the year X
Cash obtained from issuing new shares in the year X

Example:
Q The statements of financial position of Company P at 1 January and 31 December
included the following items:

1January 2015 31 December 2015

Rs. Rs.

Equity shares of Rs.1 each 600,000 750,000
Share premium 800,000 1,100,000

The cash obtained from issuing shares during the year is calculated as follows.

Rs.

Share capital + Share premium at the end of 2015 1,850,000
Share capital + Share premium at the beginning of 2015 (1,400,000)
Cash obtained from issuing new shares in 2015 450,000

The above example assumes that the only cause of movement on the share
capital and share premium account was an issue of shares for cash. A question
may provide information about a non-cash movement (e.g a bonus issue or an
issue of shares in exchange for shares in another company). All non-cash
movements would need to be taken into account when calculating the cash
movement.
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O

Example:

The statements of financial position of Company P at 1 January and 31 December
included the following items:

1 January 2015 31 December 2015

Rs. Rs.
Equity shares of Rs.1 each 600,000 750,000
Share premium 800,000 1,100,000

There was a 1 for 6 bonus issue during the year funded out of retained earnings.
The bonus issue was followed later in the year by a rights issue to raise cash for the
purchase of new plan.

(The information about the bonus issue means that for every 6 shares held at the
start of the year one new share was issued. Therefore, the share capital changed
from Rs. 600,000 to Rs. 700,000. The double entry to achieve this was Dr
Retained earnings and Cr Share capital).

The cash obtained from issuing shares during the year is calculated as follows.

Rs.
Share capital + Share premium at the end of 2015 1,850,000
Share capital + Share premium at the beginning of 2015 (1,400,000)
Bonus issue (600,000 x 7/¢) (100,000)
Cash obtained from issuing new shares in 2015 350,000

If a bonus issue is funded out of share premium it can be ignored because the
balances on the two accounts are added together so the total would not be
affected.
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7.3 Cash from new loans/cash used to repay loans

Cash from new loans or cash paid to redeem loans in the year can be calculated
simply by looking at the difference between the liabilities for loans and bonds at
the beginning and the end of the year.

a An increase in loans or bonds means there has been an inflow of cash.

O  Areduction in loans or bonds means there has been a payment (outflow) of
cash.

Remember to add any loans, loan notes or bonds repayable within one year
(current liability) to the loans, loan notes or bonds repayable after more than one
year (non-current liability) to get the total figure for loans, loan notes or bonds.

@ lllustration:
h Rs.

Loans at end of year (current and non-current liabilities) X
Loans at beginning of year (current and non-current liabilities) X
Cash inflow or outflow X

Note: The same calculation can be applied to bonds or loan notes that the
company might have issued. Bonds and loan notes are long-term debt.

Example:
Q The statements of financial position of Company Q at 1 January and 31 December
included the following items:

1 January 31 December

2015 2015

Rs. Rs.

Loans repayable within 12 months 760,000 400,000
Loans repayable after 12 months 1,400,000 1,650,000

The cash flows relating to loans during the year are calculated as follows.

Rs.
Loans outstanding at the end of 2015 2,050,000
Loans outstanding at the beginning of 2015 2,160,000
= Net loan repayments during the year (= cash outflow) 110,000
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7.4 Dividend payments to equity shareholders

These should be the final dividend payment from the previous year and the
interim dividend payment for the current year. The dividend payments during the
year are shown in the statement of changes in equity (SOCIE).

You might be expected to calculate dividend payments from figures for retained
earnings and the profit after tax for the year.

If there have been no transfers to the retained earnings reserve from the
revaluation reserve in the year, the equity dividend payments can be calculated

as follows:
@ lllustration:
h Rs.
Retained earnings reserve at the beginning of the year X
Profit for the year after tax X
Increase in the retained earnings reserve X
Retained earnings reserve at the end of the year (X)
Equity dividend payments X

Example:
Q From the following information, calculate the cash flows from investing activities
for Company X in 2015.

Beginning of End of

2015 2015

Rs. Rs.

Share capital (ordinary shares) 400,000 500,000
Share premium 275,000 615,000
Retained earnings 390,000 570,000
1,065,000 1,685,000

Loans repayable after more than 12 months 600,000 520,000
Loans repayable within 12 months or less 80,000 55,000

The company made a profit of Rs.420,000 for the year after taxation.
Required
Calculate for 2015, for inclusion in the statement of cash flows:

(@) the cash from issuing new shares
(b) the cash flows received or paid for loans
(c) the payment of dividend to ordinary shareholders.

© Emile Woolf International 116 The Institute of Chartered Accountants of Pakistan



Chapter 3: IAS 7: Statements of cash flows

A Answer
Workings

Proceeds from new issue of shares Rs.
Share capital and share premium:
At the end of the year (500,000 + 615,000) 1,115,000
At the beginning of the year (400,000 + 275,000) 675,000
Proceeds from new issue of shares during the year 440,000
Repayment of loans Rs.
Loans repayable:
At the end of the year (520,000 + 55,000) 575,000
At the beginning of the year (600,000 + 80,000) 680,000
Repayment of loans during the year 105,000
Payment of dividends Rs.
Retained earnings at the beginning of the year 390,000
Profit after taxation for the year 420,000
810,000
Retained earnings at the end of the year 570,000
Dividends paid during the year 240,000

Cash flows from financing activities can how be presented as follows.

Cash flows from financing activities Rs. Rs.
Proceeds from issue of shares 440,000

Repayment of loans (105,000)

Dividends paid to shareholders (240,000)

Net cash from financing activities 95,000

7.5 Repayments on finance leases

When non-current assets are acquired under a finance lease, the lessee makes
payments under the lease agreement. For accounting purposes, payments under
finance leases are treated:

U  partly as interest payments, and
U  partly as repayment of the lease finance.
For the purposes of the statement of cash flows:

O  The interest element in the lease payments is treated as an interest
payment. It is included either as a cash flow from operating activities or a
cash flow from financing activities

O  The repayment of the lease liability is treated as a repayment of a debt, and
is included as a cash flow from financing activities.

If interest payments are treated as a cash flow from financing activities, the full
amount of lease payments is included in this part of the statement of cash flows.
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Practice question 4
The following financial statements relate to KK Ltd for the year ended 31
December 2015.
Statements of financial position 2015 2014
Rs. m Rs. m

Non-current assets

Property, plant and equipment 272 196

Investments 80 20

Intangible assets 3 4
355 220

Current assets

inventories 140 155

Receivables 130 110

Cash at bank 34 3
304 268
659 488

Equity and liabilities

Share capital 132 100

Share premium account 45 35

Accumulated profits 153 99
330 234

Non-current liabilities 80 20

Current liabilities 249 164
659 488

Statement of profit or loss 2015

Rs. m

Revenue 335

Cost of sales A77)

Gross profit 158

Distribution costs (31)

Administrative expenses 27

Operating profit T

Interest expense (7)

Interest income 3

Profit before tax 96

Taxation (22)

Profit for the financial year 74
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Practice question (continued)
Further information:

a) Property, plant and equipment

Carrying amount at 01.01.2015
Additions

finance leases

purchases at cost
Disposals at carrying amount
Depreciation for the year
Carrying amount at 31.12.2015

31.12.2014.

d) Equity

Balance at start of the year
Issued during year

Shares converted

Profit for period

Dividends

Balance at end of the year

e) Non-current liabilities

Obligations under finance leases
6% Loan notes 2019

The disposals realised Rs. 21,000,000.

b) All of the interest due on the investments for the year ending
31.12.2015 had been received and there was no interest due on

¢) The intangible asset is development expenditure capitalised in
accordance with IAS 38. It is being amortised over its useful life.

Rs. m
196

28

104
(19)
37)

272

Share Share Accumulat
capital premium  ed profits
Rs. m Rs. m Rs. m
100 35 929
10 3
22 7
74
(20)
132 45 153
2015 2014
Rs. m Rs. m
49 30
31 60
80 20

Rs. 29m of 6% loan notes 2019 were converted into Rs. 22m of
ordinary shares during the year. Interest paid in the year was Rs. 2m
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Practice question (continued) 4
Further information (continued):
f) Current liabilities 2015 2014
Rs. m Rs. m
Bank overdraft 8 20
Obligations under finance leases 5 3
Trade payables 220 131
Taxation 16 10
249 164
g) Obligations under finance leases 2015 2014
Rs. m Rs. m
Amounts payable within one year 6 4
Within two to five years 55 33
61 37
Less finance charges allocated to future
periods (7) (4)
54 33
h) Interest expense 2015
Rs. m
Finance charges payable under finance
leases 3
Other interest expense 4
7
Required:

Prepare a statement of cash flows for the year ended 31 December
2015.
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SOLUTIONS TO PRACTICE QUESTIONS

Solutions 1
(@) In the adjustments to get from the operating profit to the cash flow from
operations, the loss on disposal of Rs. 8,000 should be added.
(b) Under the heading ‘Cash flows from investing activities’, the sale price of the
vehicle of Rs. 22,000 should be included as a cash inflow.
Workings:
Original cost of vehicle 50,000
Accumulated depreciation at date of disposal (20,000)
Net book value at the time of disposal 30,000
Loss on disposal (8,000)
Therefore net sales proceeds 22,000
Solutions 2
Rs.
Profit before taxation 60,000
Adjustments for:
Depreciation 25,000
Interest charges 10,000
Gain on disposal of non-current asset (14,000)
81,000
Reduction in trade and other receivables 5,000
Increase in inventories (4,000)
Reduction in trade payables (6,000)
76,000
Taxation paid (17,000)
Interest charges paid (10,000)
Cash flows from operating activities 49,000
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Solutions 3
Property, plant and equipment purchases Rs.
At cost or valuation at the end of the year 381,000
At cost or valuation at the beginning of the year 329,000
52,000
Add: Cost of assets disposed of in the year 40,000
Subtract: Asset revaluation during the year (102,000 -
67,000) (35,000)
Purchases during the year 57,000
Disposal of equipment Rs.
At cost 40,000
Accumulated depreciation, at the time of disposal (21,000)
Net book value/carrying amount at the time of disposal 19,000
Loss on disposal 4,000
Net disposal value (= assumed cash flow) 15,000
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Solutions 4

KK Ltd: Statement of cash flows for the year ended 31 December 2015
Rs. m Rs. m

Cash flows from operating activities

Net profit before taxation 96
Adjustments for:

Depreciation 37

Amortisation of development expenditure 1

Profit on sale of property, plant and equipment

(21 - 19) (2)

Interest receivable 3)

Interest expense 7
Operating profit before working capital changes 136

Decrease in inventories (140 - 155) 15

Increase in receivables (130 - 110) (20)

Increase in payables (220 - 131) 89
Cash generated from operations 220

Interest paid 4)

Interest element of finance lease payments 3)

Income taxes paid (W1) (16)
Net cash from operating activities 197
Cash flows from investing activities

Purchase of property, plant and equipment (104)

Receipts from sale of tangible non-current assets 21

Interest received 3
Net cash used in investing activities (80)
Cash flows from financing activities

Proceeds from issue of share capital (W2) 13

Payment of finance lease liabilities (W3) (7)

Purchase of investments (80 - 20) (60)

Dividends paid (20)
Net cash used in financing activities (74)
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 43
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period (W4) a7)
Cash and cash equivalents at end of period (W4) 26
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Solutions

Workings
W1 Income tax paid

Liability at the start of the year
Charge for the year

Total amount payable in the year
Liability at the end of the year
Cash paid

W2 Proceeds from issue of share capital

Share capital at the start of the year
Share premium at the start of the year

Share capital at the end of the year
Share premium at the end of the year

Increase in the year
Non-cash transaction (redemption of debentures)
Cash issue

W3 Repayment of finance lease liabilities

Liability at the start of the year (30 + 3)
Additions in the year (see note a in the question)
Interest expense (given in note h of the question)
Total amount payable in the year

Liability at the end of the year (49 + 5)

Cash paid

Interest element

Capital element

W4 Cash and cash equivalents

Cash at bank
Bank overdraft

2015
Rs. m
34

(8)

Rs. m
10
22
32

(16)
16

Rs. m

100
35

135

132
45

177
42
(29)
13

Rs. m
33
28

64
(54)
10

3)

2014
Rs. m

(20)

26

(17)
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INTRODUCTION

Learning outcomes

The overall objective of the syllabus is to broaden the knowledge base of basic accounting
acquired in earlier modules with emphasis on International Financial Reporting Standards.

LO1 Prepare financial statements in accordance with the relevant law of the
country and in compliance with the reporting requirement of the
international pronouncements.

LO1.2.1 Describe the concept of a group as a single economic unit.

LO1.2.2 Define using simple examples subsidiary, parent and control

LO1.2.3 Describe situations when control is presumed to exist.

LO1.2.4 Identify and describe the circumstances in which an entity is required to

prepare and present consolidated financial statements

LO1.2.5 Eliminate (by posting journal entries) the carrying amount of the parent’s
investment in subsidiary against the parent’s portion of equity of subsidiary
and recognize the difference between the two balances as either goodwill; or
gain from bargain purchase.

LO1.3.1 Define and describe non- controlling interest in the case of a partially owned
subsidiary.

LO1.3.2 Identify the non-controlling interest in the net assets of a consolidated
subsidiary; and profit or loss of the consolidated subsidiary for the reporting
period.
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1 THE NATURE OF A GROUP AND CONSOLIDATED ACCOUNTS

Section overview

Group as a single economic entity

A group of companies: parent and subsidiaries
Situations where control exists

Purpose and nature of consolidated financial statements
The requirement to prepare consolidated accounts
Sundry accounting issues

1.1 Group as a single economic entity

Q

lllustration: Single economic entity

A Limited (a car manufacturer) buys 100% of B Limited (an automotive parts
manufacturer).

The 100% ownership gives A Limited complete control over B Limited.
A Limited’s business has changed as a result of buying B Limited.

It was a car manufacturer. Now it is a car manufacturer and a manufacturer of
automotive parts.

The two parts of the business are operated by two separate legal entities (A
Limited and B Limited). However, the two parts of the business are controlled by
the management of A Limited.

In substance, the two separate legal entities are a single economic entity.

IFRS contains rules that require the preparation of a special form of financial

statements (consolidated financial statements also known as group accounts) in
circumstances like the one described above.

This chapter explains some of the rules contained in the following standards:

a IFRS 10: Consolidated financial statements
a IFRS 3: Business combinations.
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1.2 A group of companies: parent and subsidiaries

‘0.'9

o)

1.3

Definitions: Group, parent and subsidiary
Group: A parent and its subsidiaries
Parent: An entity that controls one or more entities.

Subsidiary: An entity that is controlled by another entity.

A group consists of a parent entity and one or more entities that it has control
over. These are called subsidiaries.

The entity that ultimately controls all the entities in the group is called the parent.

Some parent companies have no assets at all except shares in the subsidiaries
of the group. A parent whose main assets (or only assets) are shares in
subsidiaries is sometimes called a holding company.

Control

An entity is a subsidiary of another entity if it is controlled by that other entity.

Definition: Control
An investor controls an investee when:

a. it is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the
investee; and

b. it has the ability to affect those returns through its power over the investee.

In other words an investor controls an investee, if and only if, it has all the
following:

U power over the investee;

a exposure, or rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the
investee; and

U ability to use its power over the investee to affect the amount of its returns

Situations where control exists
The above definition of control is quite complicated.

In practice, the vast majority of cases involve a company achieving control of
another through buying a controlling interest in its shares.

Furthermore, in the vast majority of cases obtaining a controlling interest means
buying shares which give the holder more than 50% of the voting rights in the
other company.
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@ lllustration: Wholly owned subsidiary

A

100%

A owns 100% of B’s voting share capital.

This 100% holding is described as a controlling
interest and gives A complete control of B.

B would be described as a wholly owned
subsidiary.

A company does not have to own all of the shares in another company in order to

control it.

@ lllustration: Partly owned subsidiary

A

80%

A owns 80% of B’s voting share capital.

This 80% holding is described as a controlling
interest and gives A complete control of B.

B would be described as a partly owned
subsidiary.

Other parties own the remaining 20% of the
shares. They have an ownership interest in B but
do not have control.

This is described as a non-controlling interest.

Non-controlling interest (NCI) is defined by IFRS
10 as: “the equity in a subsidiary not attributable
... to a parent.”

Control is assumed to exist when the parent owns directly, or indirectly through
other subsidiaries, more than half of the voting power of the entity, unless in
exceptional circumstances it can be clearly demonstrated that such control does

not exist.
@ lllustration:
¥ A
60%
B
70%
c

A owns a controlling interest in B.
B owns a controlling interest in C.

Therefore, A controls C indirectly through its
ownership of B.

C is described as being a sub-subsidiary of A.

Consolidation of sub-subsidiaries is not in this
syllabus
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In certain circumstances, a company might control another company even if it
owns shares which give it less than half of the voting rights. Such a company is
said to have de facto control over the other company. (De facto is a Latin phrase
which translates as of fact. It is used to mean in reality or to refer to a position

held in fact if not by legal right).

lllustration: Wholly owned subsidiary

cia A owns 45% of B’s voting share capital.
The other shares are held by a large number of unrelated investors none of whom
individually own more than 1% of B.

A This 45% holding probably gives A complete
control of B.
45% It would be unlikely that a sufficient number of
the other shareholders would vote together to
B stop A directing the company as it wishes.

A company might control another company even if it owns shares which give it
less than half of the voting rights because it has an agreement with other

shareholders which allow it to exercise control.

@ lllustration: Wholly owned subsidiary

h A owns 45% of B’s voting share capital.

A further 10% is held by A’s bank who have agreed to use their vote as directed by
A

This 45% holding together with its power to use
45% the votes attached to the banks shares gives A
complete control of B.

It was stated above but is worth emphasising that in the vast majority of cases
control is achieved through the purchase of shares that give the holder more than

50% of the voting rights in a company.
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1.4 Purpose and nature of consolidated financial statements

An investment in a company is usually included in the statement of financial
position of the parent at cost. This does not reflect the substance of the situation.
The directors have control of the net assets of the subsidiary and use these to
generate profit.

To solve this problem IFRS requires that where a company holds a subsidiary it
must prepare group accounts in addition to its own accounts.

The type of group accounts specified by IFRS are called consolidations.

The purpose of consolidated financial statements is to provide financial
statements that have meaning and relevance to users. When a parent acquires a
subsidiary, both the parent and the subsidiary remain legally separate entities.
However, in practice they operate as if they were one organisation. Consolidated
financial statements reflect the reality (or substance) of the situation: the group is
a single economic unit.

In preparing consolidated financial statements:

O the assets and liabilities of the parent and its subsidiaries are combined in a
single consolidated statement of financial position.

U the profits of the parent and its subsidiaries, and their other comprehensive
income, are combined into a single in a consolidated statement of
comprehensive income

In other words a lot of the numbers in the consolidated financial statements are
constructed as a simple cross cast of the balance in the financial statements of
the parent and its subsidiary (or subsidiaries).

Example: Consolidated figures
Q Parent Subsidiary Consolidated
Property, plant and
equipment 1,000 + 500 = 1,500
Inventory 500 + 800 = 1,300
Sales 2,000 + 1,000 = 3,000

It is not always as straightforward as this. Sometimes there is a need for
adjustments in the cross cast. This will be explained later.

Note that the share capital and reserves for the consolidated balance sheet are
not calculated simply by adding the capital and reserves of all the companies in
the group!). This is explained later.
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1.5 The requirement to prepare consolidated accounts

IFRS 10 states that, with certain exceptions, a parent must present consolidated
financial statements in which it consolidates its investments in subsidiaries. In
other words, a parent must prepare consolidated financial statements for the
group as a whole.

Exception to this rule

There is an exception to this rule. This allows a parent that is itself a subsidiary
not to prepare consolidated financial statements.

A parent need not present consolidated financial statements if (and only if) all the
following conditions apply:

U The parent itself (X) is a wholly-owned subsidiary, with its own parent (Y).
Alternatively, the parent (X) is a partially-owned subsidiary, with its own
parent (Y), and the other owners of X are prepared to allow it to avoid
preparing consolidated financial statements.

(W]

The parent’s debt or equity instruments are not traded in a public market.

(W]

The parent does not file its financial statements with a securities
commission for the purpose of issuing financial instruments in a public
market.

O  The parent’s own parent, or the ultimate parent company (for example, the
parent of the parent’s parent), does produce consolidated financial
statements for public use that comply with IFRS.

All subsidiaries

Consolidated financial statements must include all the subsidiaries of the parent
(IFRS 10). There are no grounds for excluding a subsidiary from consolidation.

1.6 Sundry accounting issues

Common reporting date

IFRS 10 requires that the financial statements of the parent and its subsidiaries
that are used to prepare the consolidated financial statements should all be
prepared with the same reporting date (the same financial year-end date), unless
it is impracticable to do so.

If it is impracticable for a subsidiary to prepare its financial statements with the
same reporting date as its parent, adjustments must be made for the effects of
significant transactions or events that occur between the dates of the subsidiary's
and the parent's financial statements. In addition, the reporting date of the parent
and the subsidiary must not differ by more than three months.

Uniform accounting policies

Since the consolidated accounts combine the assets, liabilities, income and
expenses of all the entities in the group, it is important that the methods used for
recognition and measurement of all these items should be the same for all the
entities in the group.

IFRS 10 therefore states that consolidated financial statements must be prepared
using uniform accounting policies. The policies used to prepare the financial
statements in all the entities in the group must be the same.
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2 CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

Section overview

The basic approach

Example 1: To illustrate the basics

Pre- acquisition and post-acquisition profits
Goodwill

Non-controlling interest

Suggested step by step approach

2.1 The basic approach

Definition
o)
[ "

Consolidated financial statements: The financial statements of a group presented
as those of a single economic entity.

The technique of consolidation involves combining the financial statements of the
parent and its subsidiaries. We will first explain how to consolidate the statement
of financial position. Consolidation of the statement of comprehensive income will
be covered in chapter 6.

Question structure
There are often two major stages in answering consolidation questions:

O  Stage 1 involves making adjustments to the financial statements of the
parent and subsidiary to take account of information provided. This might
involve correcting an accounting treatment that has been used in preparing
the individual company accounts.

O  Stage 2 involves consolidating the correct figures that you have produced.

The early examples used to demonstrate the consolidation technique look only at
step 2. It is assumed that the financial statements provided for the parent and its
subsidiary are correct.

Approach in this section

This section will demonstrate the techniques used to consolidate the statements
of financial position using a series of examples introducing complications one at a
time.

The examples will be solved using an approach that you might safely use to
answer exam questions. This approach is quick but it does not show how the
double entry works. The double entry will be covered in section 3 of this chapter
so that you are able to understand the flow of numbers in the consolidation and
able to prepare journal entries if asked to do so.
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Note the following features in following examples:

O  The asset in the parent’s statement of financial position representing the
cost of investment in the subsidiary disappears in the consolidation.

U Each consolidated asset and liability is constructed by adding together the
balances from the statements of financial position of the parent and the
subsidiary.

U The share capital (and share premium) in the consolidated statement of
financial position is always just the share capital (and share premium) of
the parent. That of the subsidiary disappears in the consolidation process.

Major workings

There are three major calculations to perform in preparing a consolidated
statement of financial position:

O  Calculation of goodwill
O  Calculation of consolidated retained earnings
O  Calculation of non-controlling interest

In order to calculate the above figures (all of which will be explained in the
following pages) information about the net assets of the subsidiary at the date of
acquisition and at the date of consolidation is needed.

This is constructed using facts about the equity balances (as net assets = equity).

@ lllustration: Net assets summary of the subsidiary

At date of At date of

consolidation acquisition
Share capital X X
Share premium X X
Retained earnings* X X
Net assets X X

* Retained earnings are also known as unappropriated profits or
accumulated profits.

You are not yet in a position to full understand this but all will be explained in the
following pages.
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2.2 Example 1 -To illustrate the basics

Example:
Q P acquired 100% of the equity shares of S on incorporation of S (i.e. when S was
first established as a company).

The date of this transaction was 31 December 20X1 (this known as the date of
acquisition).
The cost of this investment was Rs. 120,000.

S had net assets (total assets minus total liabilities) when it was first set up of Rs.
120,000.

The statements of financial position P and S as at 31 December 20X1 (the date of
acquisition) were as follows.

P S
Rs. Rs.
Non-current assets:
Property, plant and equipment 640,000 125,000
Investment in S 120,000 -
Current assets 140,000 20,000
900,000 145,000
Equity
Share capital 200,000 80,000
Share premium 250,000 40,000
Retained earnings 350,000 _
800,000 120,000
Current liabilities 100,000 25,000
900,000 145,000

A consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December 20X1 can be
prepared as follows:

P Group: Consolidated statement of financal position as 31 December 20X1

Non-current assets: Rs.
Property, plant and equipment (640,000 + 125,000) 765,000
Current assets (140,000 + 20,000) 160,000
925,000
Equity
Share capital (parent company only) 200,000
Share premium (parent company only) 250,000
Retained earnings 350,000
800,000
Current liabilities (100,000 + 25,000) 125,000
925,000

Note: In practice, there is no reason to prepare a consolidated statement of
financial position when a subsidiary is acquired. However, it is used here to
illustrate the basic principles of consolidation, before going on to consider what
happens after the subsidiary has been acquired.
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Observations

The asset in the parent’s statement of financial position representing the cost of
investment in the subsidiary disappears in the consolidation.

Each consolidated asset and liability is constructed by adding together the
balances from the statements of financial position of the parent and the
subsidiary.

The share capital (and share premium) in the consolidated statement of financial
position is always just the share capital (and share premium) of the parent. That
of the subsidiary disappears in the consolidation process.

Closing comment

The cost of investment was the same as the net assets acquired (Rs. 120,000).
This is very rarely the case. Usually there is a difference. This difference is called
goodwill. It will be explained later.

2.3 Pre- acquisition and post-acquisition profits

Subsidiaries are usually acquired after they have been in business for some time
rather than when they were incorporated.

This means that the acquired subsidiary will have retained earnings at the date of
the acquisition. These are called pre-acquisition profits.

Only profits earned by the subsidiary since the date of acquisition are included as
retained earnings in the consolidated financial statements. These are called post-
acquisition retained earnings.

Pre-acquisition profits of a subsidiary are not included as retained earnings in the
consolidated financial statements.

The working for the consolidated retained earnings balance is as follows:

@ lllustration: Consolidated retained earnings

Rs.
All of P’s retained earnings X
P’s share of the post-acquisition retained earnings of S X
Consolidated retained earnings X

Other reserves

Sometimes a subsidiary has reserves other than retained earnings. The same
basic rules apply.

Only that part of a subsidiary’s reserve that arose after the acquisition date is
included in the group accounts (and then only the parent’s share of it).
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Example:
Q P acquired 100% of the share capital of S on 1 January 20X1 for Rs. 200,000.
The balance on the retained earnings account of S was Rs. 80,000 at this date.

The statements of financial position P and S as at 31 December 20X1 were as

follows.
P S
Rs. Rs.
Non-current assets:
Property, plant and equipment 680,000 245,000
Investment in S 200,000 -
Current assets 175,000 90,000
1,055,000 335,000
Equity
Share capital 150,000 30,000
Share premium 280,000 90,000
Retained earnings 470,000 140,000
900,000 260,000
Current liabilities 155,000 75,000
1,055,000 335,000

A consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December 20X1 can be
prepared as follows:

P Group: Consolidated statement of financial position at 31 December

20X1
Rs.
Non-current assets:
Property, plant and equipment (680,000 + 245,000) 925,000
Current assets (175,000 + 90,000) 265,000
1,190,000
Equity
Share capital (parent company only) 150,000
Share premium (parent company only) 280,000
Consolidated retained earnings (see working) 530,000
960,000
Current liabilities (155,000 + 75,000) 230,000
1,190,000
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Example (continued): Workings
Q Net assets summary of S:
At date of At date of
consolidation acquisition Post acq

Share capital 30,000 30,000
Share premium 90,000 90,000
Retained earnings 140,000 80,000 60,000
Net assets 140,000 200,000
Consolidated retained profits: Rs.
All of P’s retained earnings 470,000
P’s share of the post-acquisition retained
earnings of S (100% of 60,000 (see above)) 60,000

530,000

Observations

The asset in the parent’s statement of financial position representing the cost of
investment in the subsidiary disappears in the consolidation.

Each consolidated asset and liability is constructed by adding together the
balances from the statements of financial position of the parent and the
subsidiary.

The share capital (and share premium) in the consolidated statement of financial
position is always just the share capital (and share premium) of the parent. That
of the subsidiary disappears in the consolidation process.

The consolidated retained profits is made up of the parent’s retained profits plus
the parent’s share of the growth in the subsidiary’s retained profits since the date
of acquisition.

Closing comment

The cost of investment was the same as the net assets acquired (Rs. 120,000).
This is very rarely the case. Usually there is a difference. This difference is called
goodwill. It will be explained later.
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2.4 Goodwill

In each of the two previous examples the cost of investment was the same as the
net assets of the subsidiary at the date of acquisition.

In effect what has happened in both examples is the cost of investment has been
replaced by the net assets of the subsidiary as at the date of acquisition.

The net assets have grown since acquisition to become the net assets at
consolidation. These have been included as part of the net assets of the group,
but remember that the consolidated retained earnings includes the parent’s share
of post-acquisition retained earnings so everything balances.

Do not worry if this is not obvious to you. The double entry is explained in section
3 of this chapter.

In almost all cases the cost of investment will be different to the net assets
purchased. The difference is called goodwiill.

Definition: Goodwill
o)

Goodwill: An asset representing the future economic benefits arising from other
assets acquired in a business combination that are not individually identified and
separately recognised.

When a parent buys a subsidiary the price it pays is not just for the assets in the
statement of financial position. It will pay more than the value of the assets
because it is buying the potential of the business to make profit.

The amount it pays in excess of the value of the assets is for the goodwiill.

IFRS 3 Business combinations, sets out the calculation of goodwill as follows:

lllustration: Goodwill
cia N.B. All balances are as at the date of acquisition.
Rs.

Consideration transferred (cost of the business combination) X
Non-controlling interest X

X
The net of the acquisition date amounts of identifiable
assets acquired and liabilities assumed (measured in
accordance with IFRS 3) X
Goodwill recognised X

The above calculation compares the total value of the company represented by
what the parent has paid for it and the non-controlling interest to the net assets
acquired at the date of acquisition.

The guidance requires the net of the acquisition date amounts of identifiable
assets acquired and liabilities assumed (measured in accordance with IFRS
3). This will be explained later.

The guidance also refers to non-controlling interest. This will be explained later
but first we will present an example where there is no non-controlling interest.
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Example:
Q P acquired 100% of S on 1 January 20X1 for Rs. 230,000.
The retained earnings of S were 100,000 at that date.

The statements of financial position P and S as at 31 December 20X1 were as

follows:
P S
Rs. Rs.
Assets:
Investment in S, at cost 230,000 -
Other assets 570,000 240,000
800,000 240,000
Equity
Share capital 200,000 50,000
Share premium 100,000 20,000
Retained earnings 440,000 125,000
740,000 195,000
Current liabilities 60,000 45,000
800,000 240,000

A consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December 20X1 can be
prepared as follows:

P Group: Consolidated statement of financial position at 31 December

20X1
Rs.
Assets
Goodwill (see working) 60,000
Other assets (570 + 240) 810,000
Total assets 870,000
Equity
Share capital (P only) 200,000
Share premium (P only) 100,000
Consolidated retained earnings (see working) 465,000
765,000
Current liabilities (60 + 40) 105,000
Total equity and liabilities 870,000
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Q Example (continued): Net assets summary of S

At date of At date of
consolidation acquisition Post acqn
Share capital 50,000 50,000
Share premium 20,000 20,000
Retained earnings 125,000 100,000 25,000
Net assets 195,000 170,000*
Goodwill Rs.
Cost of investment 230,000
Non-controlling interest nil
230,000
Net assets at acquisition 100% of 170,000*
(see above) (170,000)
60,000
Consolidated retained profits: Rs.
All of P’s retained earnings 440,000
P’s share of the post-acquisition retained
earnings of S (100% of 25,000 (see above)) 25,000
465,000

Observations

The asset in the parent’s statement of financial position representing the cost of
investment in the subsidiary disappears in the consolidation. It is taken into the
goodwill calculation.

Each consolidated asset and liability is constructed by adding together the
balances from the statements of financial position of the parent and the
subsidiary.

The share capital (and share premium) in the consolidated statement of financial
position is always just the share capital (and share premium) of the parent. That
of the subsidiary disappears in the consolidation process.

The consolidated retained profits is made up of the parent’s retained profits plus
the parent’s share of the growth in the subsidiary’s retained profits since the date
of acquisition.

Accounting for goodwill
Goodwill is recognised as an asset in the consolidated financial statements.

It is not amortised but is tested for impairment on an annual basis.
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2.5 Non-controlling interest

When a parent entity acquires less than 100% of the equity shares in a
subsidiary, the remainder of the shares in the subsidiary are held by other
shareholders. These are called the non-controlling interest (NCI) in the
subsidiary. The abbreviation NCI is used for non-controlling interests.

For example, P might acquire 60% of the shares in S.
O It has acquired 60% of the ‘equity’ ownership of S.

4 The remaining 40% of the equity in S is owned by the non-controlling
interest.

Non-controlling interest (NCI) is defined by IFRS 10 as: ‘the equity in a subsidiary
not attributable ... to a parent.’

All of the assets and liabilities of S are consolidated just as before. However, part
of the net assets that have been consolidated belongs to the NCI. A figure for the
NCI is recognised in equity to show their ownership interest in the net assets.

Measuring the NCI

The NCI at the reporting date made up as follows:

lllustration: Consolidated retained earnings

Rs.
NCI at the date of acquisition
NCI’'s share of the post-acquisition retained earnings of S
NCI’'s share of each other post-acquisition reserves of S (if any)

X | X X X

Consolidated retained earnings

There are two ways of measuring the NCI at the date of acquisition.

O  As a percentage of the net assets of the subsidiary at the date of
acquisition; or
O At fair value as at the date of acquisition.

The first technique is the easier of the two because it allows for the use of a short
cut. Also, it is far the more common in practice.

The different approaches will obviously result in a different figure for NCI but
remember that the NCI at acquisition is also used in the goodwill calculation. This
is affected also.
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Example:
Q P acquired 80% of S on 1 January 20X1 for Rs. 230,000.
The retained earnings of S were 100,000 at that date.

It is P’s policy to recognise non-controlling interest at the date of acquisition as a
proportionate share of net assets.

The statements of financial position P and S as at 31 December 20X1 were as

follows

P S
Rs. Rs.

Assets:
Investment in S, at cost 230,000 -
Other assets 570,000 240,000
800,000 240,000

Equity

Share capital 200,000 50,000
Share premium 100,000 20,000
Retained earnings 440,000 125,000
740,000 195,000
Current liabilities 60,000 45,000
800,000 240,000

A consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December 20X1 can be
prepared as follows:

P Group: Consolidated statement of financial position at 31 December

20X1
Rs.
Assets
Goodwill (see working) 94,000
Other assets (570 + 240) 810,000
Total assets 904,000
Equity
Share capital (P only) 200,000
Share premium (P only) 100,000
Consolidated retained earnings (see working) 460,000
760,000
Non-controlling interest (see working) 39,000
799,000
Current liabilities (60 + 40) 105,000
Total equity and liabilities 904,000
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Example (continued): Net assets summary of S
Q At date of At date of
consolidation acquisition Post acqn
Share capital 50,000 50,000
Share premium 20,000 20,000
Retained earnings 125,000 100,000 25,000
Net assets 195,000* 170,000
Non-controlling interest Rs.
NCI’'s share of net assets at the date of acquisition
(20% x 170,000) 34,000
NCI's share of the post-acquisition retained earnings of
S (20% of 25,000 (see above)) 5,000
NCI’s share of net assets at the date of consolidation 39,000
Goodwill Rs.
Cost of investment 230,000
Non-controlling interest at acquisition 34,000
264,000
Net assets at acquisition (see above) (170,000)
94,000
Consolidated retained profits: Rs.
All of P’s retained earnings 440,000
P’s share of the post-acquisition retained earnings of S
(80% of 25,000 (see above)) 20,000
460,000
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The NCI at the date of consolidation has been calculated as NCI share of net
assets at acquisition plus the NCI share of profit since the date of acquisition.

NCI share of profit since the date of acquisition is the same as the NCI share of

net assets since the date of acquisition.

Therefore the NCI at the date of consolidation is simply the NCI share of net
assets at the date of consolidation.

Q Example (continued): Net assets summary of S

Share capital
Share premium
Retained earnings

Net assets

Non-controlling interest

(20% x 195,000%*)

NCI’s share of net assets at the date of consolidation

At date of At date of
consolidation acquisition Post acqn
50,000 50,000
20,000 20,000
125,000 100,000 25,000
195,000* 170,000
Rs.
39,000

This short cut is not available if the NCI at acquisition is measured at fair value.
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NCI at fair value at the date of acquisition

S,

NCI at acquisition was 40,000.

Net assets summary of S

Example: NCI at date of acquisition measured at fair value

Continuing the earlier example with the extra information that the fair value of the

At date of At date of Post acq
consolidation acquisition
Share capital 50,000 50,000
Share premium 20,000 20,000
Retained earnings 125,000 100,000 25,000
Net assets 195,000 170,000

between the two.

Non-controlling interest
NCI at the date of acquisition
at fair value

NCI’'s share of the post-acquisition
retained earnings of S
(20% of 25,000 (see above))

consolidation

Goodwill
Cost of investment

share of net assets (20% x 170,000)

NCI’s share of net assets at the date of

Non-controlling interest at acquisition

Net assets at acquisition (see above)

Figures under both methods are shown so that you can see the difference

NCl as
NCI at fair share of
value net assets
Rs. Rs.
40,000
34,000
5,000 5,000
45,000 39,000
Rs. Rs.
230,000 230,000
40,000 34,000
270,000 264,000
(170,000) (170,000)
100,000 94,000
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2.6 Suggested step by step approach

To prepare a consolidated statement of financial position as at the acquisition
date, the following steps should be taken.

Step 1. Establish the group share (parent company share) in the subsidiary and
the percentage owned by non-controlling interests.

Step 2: Perform double entry to record any individual company adjustments that
might be necessary. Mark these in the face of the question. The information can
be lifted into workings later so that the marker can understand what you have
done.

Step 3: Set out a pro-forma (skeleton) statement of financial position and fill in
the easy numbers (for example those assets and liabilities that are a straight
cross cast and the share capital)

Step 4. Calculate the net assets of the subsidiary S at the acquisition date and at
the end of the reporting period

Step 5. Calculate the goodwiill
Step 6. Calculate the non-controlling interest.
Step 7. Calculate consolidated retained earnings.
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3

CONSOLIDATION DOUBLE ENTRY

Section overview

m  Calculating goodwill

m  Calculating NCI

m Calculating consolidated retained earnings

m Tutorial note
Introductory comment
The learning outcomes include a requirement to prepare journals necessary to
calculate goodwill and non-controlling interest.
Usually journals are prepared to process changes in the general ledger. This is
not the case of the journals in this section. There is no general ledger for the
group accounts. Consolidated financial statements are prepared from
independent sets of financial statements which are extracted from separate
general ledgers. Information from these independent financial statements is
transferred to working papers where the consolidation is performed.
The journals described in this refer to adjustments made to numbers in those
working papers.

3.1 Calculating goodwill

The cost of investment account is renamed the cost of control account. This is
the account used to calculate goodwiill.

P’s share of net assets is compared with the cost of investment in this account by
transferring in P’s share of each of S’s equity balances at the date of acquisition.

lllustration:
Debit Credit
Share capital of S 40,000
Cost of control 40,000

Being: Transfer of P’'s share of S’s share capital to cost of control account
as at the date of acquisition (80% of 50,000)

Share premium of S 16,000
Cost of control 16,000

Being: Transfer of P’s share of S’s share premium to cost of control
account as at the date of acquisition (80% of 20,000)

Retained earnings of S 80,000
Cost of control 80,000

Being: Transfer of P’'s share of S’s retained earnings to cost of control
account as at the date of acquisition (80% of 100,000)
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The balance on the cost of control account is the goodwill figure.

Example:
Q Cost of control (goodwill)

Rs. Rs.
1) P’s share of S’s share
Cost of investment 230,000 capital 40,000
2) P’s share of S’s share
premium 16,000

3) P’sshare of S’s
retained earnings at

acquisition 80,000
Balance c/d 94,000
230,000 230,000

Balance b/d 94,000

3.2 Calculating NCI

The NCI's share of net assets of S is constructed by transferring in their share of
each of S’s equity balances at the date of consolidation into an NCI account.

@ lllustration:
& Debit Credit

Share capital of S 10,000
Cost of control 10,000

Being: Transfer of NCI's share of S’s share capital as at the date of
acquisition to cost of control account (20% of 50,000)

Share premium of S 4,000
Cost of control 4,000

Being: Transfer of NCI's share of S’s share premium as at the date of
acquisition to cost of control account (20% of 20,000)

Retained earnings of S 25,000
Cost of control 25,000

Being: Transfer of NCI's share of S’s retained earnings as at the date of
acquisition to cost of control account (20% of 125,000)
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The balance on this account is the non-controlling interest

4) NCI's share of S’s
share capital
(20% of 50,000)

5) NCI's share of S's
share premium
(20% of 20,000)

6) NCI's share of S’s
retained earnings
(20% of 125,000)

Example:
Q Non-controlling interest
Rs.
Balance b/d 39,000
39,000

Balance b/d

Rs.

10,000

4,000

25,000

39,000
39,000

3.3 Calculating consolidated retained earnings

P’s share of S’s retained earnings since the date of acquisition is credited to the

P’s retained earnings account.

@ lllustration:

Retained earnings of S
P’s retained earnings

Debit
20,000

Credit

20,000

Being: Transfer of P’s share of post-acquisition profits of S into retained
earnings. (80% of (125,000 - 100,000))

The balance on this account is the consolidated retained earnings.

Example (continued):
Q Retained earnings

Rs. Rs.
P’s balance 440,000
P’s share of S’s 20,000
Balance b/d 460,000
460,000 460,000
Balance b/d 460,000
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3.4 Tutorial note

O

The balances on S’s share capital, share premium and retained earnings have all
been removed elsewhere.

Example (continued):

Share capital (of S)

Rs. Rs.
P’s share at acquisition
(to cost of control) 40,000 | Balance b/d 50,000
S’s share (to NCI) 10,000
50,000 50,000
Share premium (of S)
Rs. Rs.
P’s share at acquisition
(to cost of control) 16,000 | Balance b/d 20,000
S’s share (to NCI) 4,000
20,000 20,000
Retained earnings (of S)
Rs. Rs.
P’s share at acquisition
(to cost of control) 80,000 | Balance b/d 125,000
P’s share since
acquisition
(consolidated retained
profits) 20,000
S’s share (to NCI) 25,000
125,000 125,000
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Practice question 1
H Ltd acquired 80% of S Ltd several years ago for Rs. 30 million.

The balance on S Ltd’s retained earnings was Rs. 5,000,000 at the date of

acquisition.

H Ltd’s policy is to measure non-controlling interest at the date of acquisition
as a proportionate share of net assets.

The draft statements of financial position of the two companies at 31
December are:

H (Rs. 000) S (Rs. 000)

Non-current assets:
Property, plant and equipment 45,000 15,000
Investment in S 30,000 nil
Current assets 28,000 12,000
Total assets 103,000 27,000

Equity

Share capital 5,000 1,000
Retained earnings 76,000 10,000
81,000 11,000
Non-current liabilities 2,000 6,000
Current liabilities 20,000 10,000
Total equity and liabilities 103,000 27,000

Prepare a consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December.
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SOLUTIONS TO PRACTICE QUESTIONS

Solutions 1
H Group: Consolidated statement of financial position at 31 December 20X1
Rs.
Assets
Goodwill (W3) 25,200
Property, plant and equipment (45,000 + 15,000) 60,000
85,200
Current assets (28,000 + 12,000) 40,000
Total assets 125,200
Equity
Share capital 5,000
Retained earnings (W4) 80,000
85,000
Non-controlling interest (W2) 2,200
87,200
Non-current liabilities (2,000 + 6,000) 8,000
Current liabilities (20,000 + 10,000) 30,000
Total equity and liabilities 125,200
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Solution: Workings 1
W1: Net assets summary of S
At date of
Consolidation Acquisition Post acqn
Share capital 1,000 1,000
Retained earnings 10,000 5,000 5,000
Net assets 11,000 6,000
W2: Non-controlling interest Rs.000
NCI’'s share of net assets at the date of acquisition
(20% x 6,000) 1,200
NCI’'s share of the post-acquisition retained earnings of S
(20% of 5,000 (see above)) 1,000
NCI's share of net assets at the date of consolidation 2,200
W3: Goodwill Rs. 000
Cost of investment 30,000
Non-controlling interest at acquisition (20% x 6,000) 1,200
31,000
Net assets at acquisition (see above) (6,000)
Recoverable amount of goodwill 25,200
W4: Consolidated retained profits: Rs.
All of H’'s retained earnings 76,000
H’s share of the post-acquisition retained earnings of S
(80% of 5,000 (see above)) 4,000
80,000
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Consolidated accounts:
Statements of financial position -
Complications

1 Possible complications: Before consolidation

2 Possible complications: During consolidation

3 Possible complications: after consolidation
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INTRODUCTION

Learning outcomes

The overall objective of the syllabus is to broaden the knowledge base of basic accounting
acquired in earlier modules with emphasis on International Financial Reporting Standards.

LO1 Prepare financial statements in accordance with the relevant law of the
country and in compliance with the reporting requirement of the
international pronouncements.

LO1.4.1 Post adjusting entries to eliminate the effects of intergroup sale of inventory
and depreciable assets.

LO1.5.1 Prepare and present simple consolidated statements of financial position
involving a single subsidiary in accordance with IFRS 10.

LO1.6.1 Prepare and present a simple consolidated statement of comprehensive
income involving a single subsidiary in accordance with IFRS 10.
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1 POSSIBLE COMPLICATIONS: BEFORE CONSOLIDATION

Section overview

m Acquisition-related costs
m Acquired intangible assets
m  Fair value exercise at acquisition

1.1 Acquisition-related costs

Acquisition-related costs are costs the acquirer incurs to effect a business
combination. They include advisory, legal, accounting, valuation and other
professional or consulting fees.

These costs are not capitalised as part of the cost of acquisition but expensed in
the periods in which they are incurred. (This is different rule to that which applies
to the purchase of property, plant and equipment or intangibles).

A question may incorrectly capitalise the costs. You would have to correct this
before consolidating.

1.2 Acquired intangible assets

A question might provide information about an unrecognised asset of the
subsidiary. You would have to include the asset in the subsidiary’s financial
statements before consolidating them.

Reason

Goodwill is recognised by the acquirer as an asset from the acquisition date.
It is initially measured as the difference between:

O  the cost of the acquisition plus the non-controlling interest; and

O  the net of the acquisition date amounts of identifiable assets acquired and
liabilities assumed (measured in accordance with IFRS 3).

When a company acquires a subsidiary, it may identify intangible assets of the
acquired subsidiary, which are not included in the subsidiary’s statement of
financial position. If these assets are separately identifiable and can be measured
reliably, they should be included in the consolidated statement of financial
position as intangible assets, and accounted for as such.

This can result in the recognition of assets and liabilities not previously
recognised by the acquiree.

@ lllustration:

h If a company bought 100% of the Coca-Cola Corporation they would be buying a lot
of assets but part (perhaps the largest part) of the purchase consideration would
be to buy the Coca Cola brand.

Coca Cola does not recognise its own brand in its own financial statements
because companies are not allowed to recognised internally generated brands.

However, as far as the company buying the Coca-Cola Corporation is concerned the
brand is a purchased asset. It would be recognised in the consolidated financial
statements and would be taken into account in the goodwill calculation.
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O

Example:

P bought 80% of S 2 years ago.

At the date of acquisition S’s retained earnings stood at Rs. 600,000. The fair value
of its net assets was not materially different from the book value except for the
fact that it had a brand which was not recognised in S’s accounts. This had a fair
value of 100,000 at this date and an estimated useful life of 20 years.

The statements of financial position P and S as at 31 December 20X1 were as
follows:

P S
Rs. Rs.

PP and E 1,800,000 1,000,000
Investment in S 1,000,000
Other assets 400,000 300,000

3,200,000 1,300,000
Share capital 100,000 100,000
Retained earnings 2,900,000 1,000,000
Liabilities 200,000 200,000

3,200,000 1,300,000

A consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December 20X1 can be
prepared as follows:

P Group: Consolidated statement of financial position at 31 December
20X1

Rs.
Assets
Brand (see working) 90,000
Goodwill (see working) 360,000
Property, plant and equipment (1,800 + 1000) 2,800,000
Other assets (400 + 300) 700,000
Total assets 3,950,000
Equity
Share capital (P only) 100,000
Consolidated retained earnings (see working) 3,212,000
3,312,000
Non-controlling interest 238,000
3,550,000
Current liabilities (200 + 200) 400,000
Total equity and liabilities 3,950,000
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Example (continued):
Q Net assets summary of S

Share capital
Retained earnings
Given in the question

Extra depreciation on
brand
(100,000 x 2vears/oq years)

recognition of the brand
Net assets

Non-controlling interest

(20% x 800,000)

Goodwill
Cost of investment

Brand
On initial recognition

At date of
consolidation

100,000

At date of

Post

acquisition acqn

100,000

1,000,000

(10,000)

600,000

Consolidation reserve on

990,000

100,000

600,000

100,000

390,00

1,190,000

800,000

All of P’s retained earnings

Net assets at acquisition (see above)

Consolidated retained profits:

Depreciation since acquisition (100,000 X 2years/5q years)

NCI’'s share of net assets at the date of acquisition
NCI’'s share of the post-acquisition retained earnings of

S (20% of 390,000 (see above))
NCI's share of net assets at the date of consolidation

Non-controlling interest at acquisition (20% x 800,000)

Rs.

160,000

78,000

238,000

Rs.
1,000,000
160,000

1,160,000

(800,000)

360,000

P’s share of the post-acquisition retained earnings of S
(80% of 390,000 (see above))

Rs.
2,900,000

312,000

3,212,000

Rs.
100,000

(10,000)

90,000
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1.3

‘0.'9

Fair value exercise at acquisition

A gquestion might provide information about the fair value of a subsidiary’s assets
at the date of acquisition. You might have to revalue the assets in the
subsidiary’s financial statements before consolidating them.

Reason

Goodwill is recognised by the acquirer as an asset from the acquisition date.

It is initially measured as the difference between:

U the cost of the acquisition plus the non-controlling interest; and

U the net of the acquisition date amounts of identifiable assets acquired and
liabilities assumed (measured in accordance with IFRS 3).

IFRS 3 requires that most assets and liabilities be measured at their fair value.

Definition: Fair value

Fair value: The price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a
liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement
date.

In every example so far it has been assumed that the fair value of the assets and
liabilities of the subsidiary were the same as their book value as at the date of
acquisition. In practice this will not be the case.

In other cases a question will include information about the fair value of an asset
or assets as at the date of acquisition.

The net assets of a newly acquired business are subject to a fair valuation
exercise.

Where the subsidiary has not reflected fair values at acquisition in its accounts,
this must be done before consolidating. Note that this is almost always the case

Revaluation upwards

The asset is revalued in the consolidation working papers (not in the general
ledger of the subsidiary). The other side of the entry is taken to a fair value
reserve as at the date of acquisition. This will appear in the net assets working
and therefore become part of the goodwill calculation.

The reserve is also included in the net assets working at the reporting date if the
asset is still owned by the subsidiary.

If a depreciable asset is revalued the post-acquisition depreciation must be
adjusted to take account of the change in the value of the asset being
depreciated.

Revaluation downwards

Write off the amount to retained earnings in the net assets working (book value
less fair value of net assets at acquisition) at acquisition and at the reporting date
if the asset is still owned.
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Example:

P bought 80% of S 2 years ago.

value of the net assets at this date.

10 years as at the date of acquisition.

follows:
P S
Rs. Rs.

PP and E 1,800,000 1,000,000
Investment in S 1,000,000
Other assets 400,000 300,000

3,200,000 1,300,000
Share capital 100,000 100,000
Retained earnings 2,900,000 1,000,000
Liabilities 200,000 200,000

3,200,000 1,300,000

prepared as follows:

20X1

Assets

Goodwill (see working)

PP and E (see working)

Other assets (400,000 + 300,000)

Total assets

Equity

Share capital (P only)

Consolidated retained earnings (see working)

Non-controlling interest

Current liabilities (200 + 200)
Total equity and liabilities

At the date of acquisition S’s retained earnings stood at Rs. 600,000 and the fair
value of its net assets were Rs. 1,000,000. This was Rs. 300,000 above the book

The revaluation was due to an asset that had a remaining useful economic life of

The statements of financial position P and S as at 31 December 20X1 were as

A consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December 20X1 can be

P Group: Consolidated statement of financial position at 31 December

Rs.

200,000
3,040,000
700,000

3,940,000

100,000

3,172,000

3,272,000
268,000

3,540,000

400,000

3,940,000
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Example (continued):
Q Net assets summary of S
At date of At date of
consolidation acquisition Post acqn
Share capital 100,000 100,000
Retained earnings
Given in the question 1,000,000 600,000
Extra depreciation on
fair value adjustment
(300 x 2vyears/4 years) —
see explanation on
next page (60,000) —
940,000 600,000 340,000
Fair value reserve 300,000 300,000
Net assets 1,340,000 1,000,000
Non-controlling interest Rs.
NCI’'s share of net assets at the date of acquisition
(20% x 1,000) 200,000
NCI’'s share of the post-acquisition retained earnings of
S (20% of 340 (see above)) 68,000
NCI’'s share of net assets at the date of consolidation 268,000
Goodwill Rs.
Cost of investment 1,000,000
Non-controlling interest at acquisition (20% x 1,000) 200,000
1,200,000
Net assets at acquisition (see above) (1,000,000)
200,000
Consolidated retained profits: Rs.
All of P’s retained earnings 2,900,000
P’s share of the post-acquisition retained earnings of S
(80% of 340 (see above)) 272,000
3,172,000

© Emile Woolf International 162 The Institute of Chartered Accountants of Pakistan



Chapter 5: Consolidated accounts: Statements of financial position - Complications

Q Example (continued): Net assets summary of S
Property plant and equipment Rs.
Parent’s 1,800
Subsidiary’s
Given in question 1,000
Fair value adjustment 300
Extra depreciation on fair value adjustment
(300 X 2vyears/ 4 years) (60)
1,240
To statement of financial position 3,040

Explanation of extra depreciation

If a depreciable asset is revalued (which is usually the case) the post-acquisition
depreciation must be adjusted to take account of the change in the value of the
asset being depreciated.

In this example, two years ago the subsidiary had an asset which had a fair value
Rs.300,000 greater than its book value. This valuation was not recorded in the
financial statements of the subsidiary so the subsidiary’s figures need to be
retrospectively adjusted, for the purposes of consolidation, at each year end.

Depreciation of an asset is based on its carrying amount. Depreciation of an
asset increases when it is revalued. Therefore, the extra depreciation necessary
as a result of the fair value adjustment is Rs. 30,000 per annum (%% 3999/, ..J).

The acquisition was 2 years ago so extra depreciation of Rs. 60,000 (Rs. 30,000
x 2 years) must be recognised retrospectively.
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2 POSSIBLE COMPLICATIONS: DURING CONSOLIDATION

Section overview

Mid-year acquisitions
Types of intra-group transaction
The need to eliminate intra-group transactions on consolidation

Unrealised profit — Inventory
Unrealised profit — Transfers of non-current assets

2.1 Mid-year acquisitions

Goodwill is measured at the date of acquisition of the subsidiary.

H may not acquire S at the start or end of a year. If S is acquired mid-year, it is
necessary to calculate the net assets at date of acquisition in order to calculate
goodwill, non-controlling interest and consolidated retained earnings.

This usually involves calculating the subsidiary’s retained earnings at the date of
acquisition. The profits of the subsidiary are assumed to accrue evenly over time
unless there is information to the contrary.

lllustration: Retained earnings at the date of acquisition

Rs.
Retained earnings at the start of the year X
Retained earnings for the year up to the date of acquisition X
Retained earnings at the date of acquisition X
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Example:
Q P bought 70% of S on 31st March this year.

S’s profit for the year was Rs. 12,000
The statements of financial position P and S as at 31 December 20X1 were as

follows:
P S
Rs. Rs.

PP and E 100,000 20,000
Investment in S 50,000
Other assets 30,000 12,000

180,000 32,000
Share capital 10,000 1,000
Retained earnings 160,000 30,000
Liabilities 10,000 1,000

180,000 32,000

A consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December 20X1 can be
prepared as follows:

P Group: Consolidated statement of financial position at 31 December

20X1
Rs.
Assets
Goodwill (see working) 34,600
PP and E (100,000 + 20,000) 120,000
Other assets (30,000 + 12,000) 42,000
Total assets 196,600
Equity
Share capital (P only) 10,000
Consolidated retained earnings (see working) 166,300
176,300
Non-controlling interest 9,300
185,600
Current liabilities (10,000 + 1,000) 11,000
Total equity and liabilities 196,600
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Example (continued):
Q Net assets summary of S
At date of At date of
consolidation acquisition Post acqn
Share capital 1,000 1,000
Retained earnings
Given in the question 30,000
See working below 21,000
30,000 21,000 9,000
Net assets 31,000 22,000
Retained earnings of the subsidiary as at the date of acquisition
Rs.
Retained earnings at the start of the year
Retained earnings at the end of the year 30,000)
Less: profit for the year (12,000)
18,000
Profit from the start of the year to the date of acquisition
(3/12 x 12,000) 3,000
NCI's share of net assets at the date of consolidation 21,000
Non-controlling interest Rs.
NCI's share of net assets at the date of acquisition
(30% x 22,000) 6,600
NCI's share of the post-acquisition retained earnings of S
(30% of 9,000 (see above)) 2,700
NCI's share of net assets at the date of consolidation 9,300
Goodwill Rs.
Cost of investment 50,000
Non-controlling interest at acquisition (30% x 22,000) 6,600
56,600
Net assets at acquisition (see above) (22,000)
34,600
Consolidated retained profits: Rs.
All of P’s retained earnings 160,000
P’s share of the post-acquisition retained earnings of S
(70% of 9,000 (see above)) 6,300
166,300
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2.2 Types of intra-group transaction

In many groups, business and financial transactions take place between entities
within the group. These ‘intra-group’ transactions might be:

U  the sale of goods or services between the parent and a subsidiary, or
between two subsidiaries in the group

O transfers of non-current assets between the parent and a subsidiary, or
between two subsidiaries in the group

O the payment of dividends by a subsidiary to the parent (or by one
subsidiary to another subsidiary)

U loans by one entity in the group to another, and the payment of interest on
intra-group loans.

2.3 The need to eliminate intra-group transactions on consolidation

Intra-group transactions should be eliminated on consolidation. In other words,
the effects of intra-group transactions must be removed from the financial
statements on consolidation.

The purpose of consolidated accounts is to show the financial position and the
financial performance of the group as a whole, as if it is a single operating unit. If
intra-group transactions are included in the consolidated financial statements, the
statements will show too many assets, liabilities, income and expenses for the
group as a single operating unit.

The consolidated financial statements represent the financial position and
performance of a group of companies as if they are a single economic entity. A
single economic entity cannot owe itself money!

IFRS 10 therefore requires that:

U Intra-group balances and transactions, including income, expenses and
dividends, must be eliminated in full.

O  Profits or losses resulting from intra-group transactions that are recognised
in inventory or non-current assets must be eliminated in full.
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Q Example: Elimination of intra-group transactions on consolidation

H owns 80% of S. H sells goods to S.

Consolidated
statement of

financial
Adjustment position
P S Dr Cr
Receivables:
From S 1,000 1,000 _
Payables:
ToH 1,000 1,000 _

The above adjustment is simply a cancellation of the inter-company receivable in
one group member’s statement of financial position against the inter-company
payable in another group member’s statement of financial position.

Items in transit

At the year-end current accounts may not agree, owing to the existence of in-
transit items such as goods or cash.

The usual convention followed is to follow the item through to its ultimate
destination and adjust the books of the ultimate recipient.

2.4 Unrealised profit - Inventory

Inter-company balances are cancelled on consolidation. The main reason for
these arising is inter company (or intra group) trading. The other example you will
come across is inter-company transfers of non-current assets.

If a member of a group sells inventory to another member of the group and that
inventory is still held by the buying company at the year end:

U The company that made the sale will show profit in its own accounts.

. This is fine from the individual company viewpoint but the profit has
not been realised by the group.

U The company that made the purchase will record the inventory at cost to
itself.

. This is fine from the individual company view but consolidation of this
value will result in the inclusion in the financial statements of a figure
which is not at cost to the group.

IFRS 10 requires that the unrealised profit be removed in full from the closing
inventory valuation. It gives no further guidance on how this should be done.
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This is an inventory valuation adjustment and can be processed in the
consolidated financial statements.

lllustration:
Debit  Credit
Closing inventory - Statement of comprehensive income X
Closing inventory - Statement of financial position X

There is a complication to think about. If S is the selling company the purpose of
the above adjustment is to reduce the profit of the subsidiary because there is
unrealised profit on the inter-company transaction and reduce the inventory held
by P as it is not at cost to the group.

If the profit of the subsidiary is being reduced then NCI should share in that
reduction. This implies a second journal as follows:

lllustration:
Debit Credit
NCI in the statement of financial position X
NCI in the statement of comprehensive income X
With their share of the adjustment

The two journals can be combined as follows to produce a composite adjustment
in questions which only require the preparation of the statement of financial

position.
lllustration:
Debit Credit
Consolidated retained earnings X
NCI in the statement of financial position X
Closing inventory - Statement of financial position X
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Example:
P bought 80% of S 2 years ago. At the date of acquisition S’s retained earnings
stood at Rs. 1,600

During the year S sold goods to H for Rs. 20,000 which gave S a profit of Rs. 8,000.
H still held 40% of these goods at the year end.

The statements of financial position P and S as at 31 December 20X1 were as
follows:

P S
Rs. Rs.

PP and E 100,000 41,000
Investment in S 50,000
Other assets 110,000 50,000

260,000 91,000
Share capital 50,000 30,000
Retained earnings 200,000 56,000
Liabilities 10,000 5,000

260,000 91,000

A consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December 20X1 can be
prepared as follows:

P Group: Consolidated statement of financial position at 31 December 20X1

Assets Rs.
Goodwill (see working) 13,200
PP and E (100,000 + 41,000) 141,000
Other assets (110,000 + 50,000 - 3,200) 156,800
Total assets 311,000
Equity
Share capital (P only) 50,000
Consolidated retained earnings (see working) 229,440
279,440
Non-controlling interest 16,560
296,000
Current liabilities (10,000 + 5,000) 15,000
Total equity and liabilities 311,000
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Example (continued):
Q Net assets summary of S

At date of At date of Post acqn
consolidation acquisition
Share capital 30,000 30,000
Retained earnings
Given in the question 56,000 16,000 40,000
Net assets 82,800 46,000
Unrealised profit
Rs.

Total profit on transaction 8,000
Inventory held at year end (therefore the profit on this is
unrealised by the group) 40%
Adjustment 3,200
Double entry in consolidated financial statements Dr Cr
Consolidated retained earnings (80% x 3,200) 2,560
NCI - Statement of financial position (20% x 3,200) 640
Closing inventory - Statement of financial position 3,200
Non-controlling interest Rs.
NCI's share of net assets at the date of acquisition
(20% x 46,000) 9,200
NCI's share of the post-acquisition retained earnings of
S (20% of 40,000 (see above)) 8,000
NCI share of unrealised profit adjustment (640)
NCI's share of net assets at the date of consolidation 16,560
Goodwill Rs.
Cost of investment 50,000
Non-controlling interest at acquisition (20% x 46,000) 9,200

59,200
Net assets at acquisition (see above) (46,000)
Recoverable amount of goodwill (given) 13,200
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Example (continued)
Q Consolidated retained profits: Rs.
All of P’s retained earnings 200,000
P’s share of the post-acquisition retained earnings of S
(80% of 40,000 (see above)) 32,000
Unrealised profit adjustment (2,560)
229,440

2.5 Unrealised profit - Transfers of non-current assets

One member of a group may sell a non-current asset to another member of the
group.
The company making the sale will recognise a profit or loss on disposal.

The company buying the asset will include the asset at purchase cost in its own
accounts and depreciation will be based on that amount. This cost will be
different to cost to the group.

As far as the group is concerned no transfer has occurred. The group accounts
must reflect non-current assets at the amount they would have been stated at
had the transfer not been made.

Summary of adjustments:

O  remove profit from the financial statements of the company that made the
sale; and

O  correct the depreciation charge in the financial statements of the company
that made the purchase.

These two adjustments establish the transferred asset at its cost less
accumulated depreciation to the group.

The double entry is shared to the NCI as appropriate in the consolidated
statement of financial position.

O  if the sale was to S the NCI would share the depreciation adjustment.
O  If the sale was from S to H the NCI would share the profit adjustment.

This is best seen with an illustration.
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Example:
Q H owns 80% of S.
There was a transfer of an asset within the group for Rs. 15,000 on 1 January

20X3.

The original cost to H was Rs. 20,000 and the accumulated depreciation at the
date of transfer was Rs. 8,000.

Both companies depreciate such assets at 20% per year on cost to the company,
recognising a full year’s depreciation in the year of purchase and none in the year

of sale.
Figures in Figures if no  Adjustment
the transfer had required
accounts been made
Against S’s figures:
Cost 15,000 20,000 5,000 Dr
Accumulated depreciation (3,000) (12,000) 9,000 Cr
12,000 8,000 4,000 Cr
Charge for the year 3,000 4,000 1,000 Dr

Against P’s figures:
Profit on disposal
Proceeds 15,000

Carrying amount at
disposal (20,000 - 8,000) (12,000)

3,000 nil

If the transfer was from H to S - Full journal

Consolidated financial statements Dr Cr
Income statement (profit on disposal) 3,000

Income statement (depreciation) 1,000
Non-current asset 4,000
NCI in the statement of financial position 200

NCI in the statement of comprehensive income 200

Being the NCI share of the depreciation adjustment (20% x 1,000)

Composite journal if just preparing the

consolidated statement of financial position Dr Cr
Consolidated retained earnings 3,800
Non-current asset 4,000
NCI in the statement of financial position 200
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Example (continued)
Q If the transfer was from S to H - Full journal

Consolidated financial statements Dr Cr
Income statement (profit on disposal) 3,000

Income statement (depreciation) 1,000
Non-current asset 4,000
NCI in the statement of financial position 600

NCI in the statement of comprehensive income 600

Being the NCI share of the profit adjustment (20% x 3,000)

Composite journal if just preparing the

consolidated statement of financial position Dr Cr
Consolidated retained earnings 3,400
Non-current asset 4,000
NCI in the statement of financial position 600
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3 POSSIBLE COMPLICATIONS: AFTER CONSOLIDATION

Section overview

m  Accounting for goodwill
m  Negative goodwill and bargain purchases

3.1 Accounting for goodwill

Goodwill is carried as an asset. It is not depreciated or amortised but instead it is
subject to an annual impairment review.

This means that the recoverable amount of goodwill must be estimated on an
annual basis. If the recoverable amount is less than the carrying amount, the
goodwill is written down to the recoverable amount.

The amount of the impairment is included as a charge against profit in the
consolidated statement of comprehensive income.

Example:
Q P acquired 80% of S when the retained earnings of S were Rs. 20,000.

The values for assets and liabilities in the statement of financial position for S
represent fair values.

A review of goodwill at 31 December 20X1 found that goodwill had been
impaired, and was now valued at Rs. 55,000.

The statements of financial position of a parent company P and its subsidiary S at
31 December 20X1 are as follows:

P(Rs.) S(Rs.)
Non-current assets:
Property, plant and equipment 408,000 100,000
Investment in S 142,000 -
Current assets 120,000 40,000
670,000 140,000
Equity
Share capital 100,000 20,000
Share premium 100,000 50,000
Retained earnings 400,000 60,000
600,000 130,000
Bank loan 70,000 10,000
670,000 140,000
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Example (continued):

A consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December 20X1 can be
prepared as follows:

P Group: Consolidated statement of financial position at 31 December 20X1

Assets

Goodwill (see working)

Property, plant and equipment (508 + 100)
Current assets (120,000 + 40,000)

Total assets

Equity

Share capital (P only)

Share premium (P only)

Consolidated retained earnings (see working)

Non-controlling interest

Current liabilities (70,000 + 10,000)
Total equity and liabilities

Rs.

55,000
508,000
160,000

723,000

100,000
100,000

417,000

617,000
26,000

643,000

80,000

723,000
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Example (continued):
Q Net assets summary of S
At date of
Consolidation Acquisition Post acqn
Share capital 20,000 20,000
Share premium 50,000 50,000
Retained earnings 60,000 20,000 40,000
Net assets 130,000 90,000
Non-controlling interest Rs.
NCI’'s share of net assets at the date of acquisition
(20% x 90,000) 18,000
NCI’'s share of the post-acquisition retained earnings of
S (20% of 40,000 (see above)) 8,000
NCI’s share of net assets at the date of consolidation 26,000
Goodwill Rs.
Cost of investment 142,000
Non-controlling interest at acquisition (20% x 90,000) 18,000
160,000
Net assets at acquisition (see above) (90,000)
70,000
Write down of goodwill (balancing figure) (15,000)
Recoverable amount of goodwill (given) 55,000
Consolidated retained profits: Rs.
All of P’s retained earnings 400,000
P’s share of the post-acquisition retained earnings of S
(80% of 40,000 (see above)) 32,000
Write down of goodwill (see goodwill working) (15,000)
417,000
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2.2 Negative goodwill and bargain purchases

A bargain purchase is a business combination in which the calculation of goodwill
leads to a negative figure.

When this happens the acquirer must then review the procedures used to
measure the amounts recognised at the acquisition date for all of the following:

a the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed;
O  the non-controlling interest in the acquiree (if any); and
(| the consideration transferred.

Any amount remaining after applying the above requirements is recognised as a
gain in profit or loss on the acquisition date.

This means that in most cases when a bargain purchase occurs, the ‘negative
goodwill’ should be added to the consolidated profit for the group for the year.
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Practice question 1
Haidar plc acquired 75% of Saqib Ltd’s ordinary shares on 1 April for an

agreed consideration of Rs. 25 million when Saqib had retained earnings of
Rs. 10,200,000.

The draft statements of financial position of the two companies at 31
December are:

H (Rs. 000) S (Rs. 000)
Non-current assets:
Property, plant and equipment 78,540 27,180
Investment in S 25,000 nil
Current assets
Inventory 7,450 4,310
Accounts receivable 12,960 4,330
Cash and bank nil 920
Total assets 123,950 36,740
Equity
Share capital 30,000 8,000
Share premium 20,000 2,000
Retained earnings 64,060 15,200
114,060 25,200
Bank loan 6,000
Current liabilities
Accounts payable and accruals 5,920 4,160
Bank overdraft 2,100 Nil
Taxation 1,870 1,380
9,890 5,540
Total equity and liabilities 123,950 36,740

The following information is relevant

(i) The fair value of Saqib Ltd’s land at the date of acquisition was Rs. 4 million in
excess of its carrying value. The fair value of Saqib Ltd’s other net assets
approximated to their carrying values.

(ii)  During the year Haidar plc sold inventory to Saqib Ltd for Rs. 2.4 million. The
inventory had originally cost Haidar plc Rs. 2.0 million. Saqib Ltd held 25% of
these goods at the year-end.

(ili) The two companies agreed their current account balances as Rs. 500,000
payable by Saqib Ltd to Haidar plc at the year-end. Inter-company current
accounts are included in accounts receivable or payable as appropriate.

(iv) An impairment test at 31 December on the consolidated goodwill concluded
that it should be written down by Rs. 625,000.

Prepare a consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December.
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SOLUTIONS TO PRACTICE QUESTIONS

Solutions 1
H Group: Consolidated statement of financial position at 31 December 20X1
Rs.
Assets
Goodwill (W3) 6,225
Property, plant and equipment (78,450 + 27,180 - 4,000) 109,720
115,945
Current assets
Inventory (7,450 + 4,310 - 100) 11,660
Accounts receivable (12,960 + 4,330 - 500) 16,790
Cash and bank 920
29,370
Total assets 145,315
Equity
Share capital 30,000
Share premium 20,000
Retained earnings (W4) 67,085
117,085
Non-controlling interest (W2) 7,300
124,385
Non-current liabilities 6,000
Current liabilities
Accounts payable and accruals (5,920 + 4,160 - 500) 9,580
Bank overdraft 2,100
Taxation (1,870 + 1,380) 3,250
14,930
Total equity and liabilities 145,315
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Solution: Workings 1
W1: Net assets summary of S
At date of
Consolidation Acquisition Post acqn
Share capital 8,000 8,000
Share premium 2,000 2,000
Retained earnings 15,200 10,200 5,000
Fair value adjustment 4,000 4,000
Net assets 29,200 24,200
W2: Non-controlling interest Rs.000
NCI’'s share of net assets at the date of acquisition
(25% x 24,200) 6,050
NCI's share of the post-acquisition retained earnings of S
(25% of 5,000 (see above)) 1,250
NCI’s share of net assets at the date of consolidation 7,300
Wa3: Goodwill Rs. 000
Cost of investment 25,000
Non-controlling interest at acquisition (25% x 24,200) 6,050
31,050
Net assets at acquisition (see above) (24,200)
6,850
Write down of goodwill (given) (625)
Recoverable amount of goodwill 6,225
W4: Consolidated retained profits: Rs.
All of H's retained earnings 64,060
Unrealised profit (100)
H’s share of the post-acquisition retained earnings of S
(75% of 5,000 (see above)) 3,750
Write down of goodwill (given) (625)
67,085
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INTRODUCTION

Learning outcomes

The overall objective of the syllabus is to broaden the knowledge base of basic accounting
acquired in earlier modules with emphasis on International Financial Reporting Standards.

LO1 Prepare financial statements in accordance with the relevant law of the
country and in compliance with the reporting requirement of the
international pronouncements.

LO1.6.1 Prepare and present a simple consolidated statement of comprehensive
income involving a single subsidiary in accordance with IFRS 10.
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1 CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

Section overview

m  Consolidated income statement: the basic rules
m Pre- and post-acquisition profits

1.1 Consolidated income statement: the basic rules

The main problems with preparing a consolidated statement of comprehensive
income relate to reporting profit or loss for the period, and this section therefore
focuses on profit or loss items.

A consolidated statement of comprehensive income brings together the sales
revenue, income and expenses of the parent and the sales revenue, income and
expenses of its subsidiaries.

All items of income and expense in the consolidated statement of comprehensive
income are a straight cross cast of equivalent items in the individual financial
statements of the members of the group.

Non-controlling interest

Consolidated financial statements must also disclose the profit or loss for the
period and the total comprehensive income for the period attributable to:

O  owners of the parent company; and
U non-controlling interests.

The figure for NCl is simply their share of the subsidiary’s profit for the year that
has been included in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income.

The amounts attributable to the owners of the parent and the non-controlling
interest are shown as a metric (small table) immediately below the statement of
comprehensive income.

@ lllustration:
b Rs.

Total comprehensive income attributable to:

Owners of the parent (balancing figure) X
Non-controlling interests (x% of y) X
X

Where: x% is the NCI ownership interest

y is the subsidiary’s profit for the year that has been included
in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income
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Example:
Q Entity P bought 80% of S several years ago.

The income statements for the year to 31 December 20X1 are as follows.

P S

Rs. Rs.

Revenue 500,000 250,000
Cost of sales (200,000) (80,000)
Gross profit 300,000 170,000
Other income 25,000 6,000
Distribution costs (70,000) (60,000)
Administrative expenses (90,000) (50,000)
Other expenses (30,000) (18,000)
Finance costs (15,000) (8,000)
Profit before tax 120,000 40,000
Income tax expense (45,000) (16,000)
Profit for the period 75,000 24,000

A consolidated statement of comprehensive income can be prepared as follows:

Working
P S Consolidated
Rs. Rs. Rs.

Revenue 500,000 250,000 750,000
Cost of sales (200,000) (80,000) (280,000)
Gross profit 300,000 170,000 470,000
Other income 25,000 6,000 31,000
Distribution costs (70,000) (60,000) (130,000)
Administrative

expenses (90,000) (50,000) (140,000)
Other expenses (30,000) (18,000) (48,000)
Finance costs (15,000) (8,000) (23,000)
Profit before tax 120,000 40,000 160,000
Income tax expense (45,000) (16,000) (61,000)
Profit for the period 75,000 24,000 99,000

Total comprehensive income attributable to:

Owners of the parent (balancing figure) 94,200
Non-controlling interests (20% of 24,000) 4,800
99,000
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1.2 Pre- and post-acquisition profits

Only post acquisition profits are consolidated. When a parent acquires a
subsidiary during a financial year, the profits of the subsidiary have to be divided

into pre-acquisition and post-acquisition profits.

Example:
Q Entity P acquired 80% of S on 1 October 20X1.

profit for the year is post-acquisition profit.

The acquisition date was 1 October. This means that only 3/12 of the subsidiary’s

The income statements for the year to 31 December 20X1 are as follows.

P S
Rs. Rs.

Revenue 400,000 260,000
Cost of sales (200,000) (60,000)
Gross profit 200,000 200,000
Other income 20,000 -

Distribution costs (50,000) (30,000)
Administrative expenses (90,000) (95,000)
Profit before tax 80,000 75,000
Income tax expense (30,000) (15,000)
Profit for the period 50,000 60,000

A consolidated statement of comprehensive income can be prepared as follows:

Working
P S (3/12) Consolidated
Rs. Rs. Rs.
Revenue 400,000 65,000 465,000
Cost of sales (200,000) (15,000) (215,000)
Gross profit 200,000 50,000 250,000
Other income 20,000 - 20,000
Distribution costs (50,000) (7,500) (57,500)
Administrative

expenses (90,000) (23,750) (113,750)
Profit before tax 80,000 18,750 98,750
Income tax expense (30,000) (3,750) (33,750)
Profit for the period 50,000 15,000 65,000

Total comprehensive income attributable to:
Owners of the parent (balancing figure) 62,000
Non-controlling interests (20% of 15,000) 3,000
65,000
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2 COMPLICATIONS

Section overview

m Inter-company items
m Fair value adjustments
m  Impairment of goodwill and consolidated profit

2.1 Inter-company items

Consolidated income statements are prepared by combining the information
given in the income statements of the individual companies.

It is usually necessary to make adjustments to eliminate the results of inter-
company trading. This includes adjustments to cancel out inter-company trading
balances and unrealised profit.

Inter-company trading

Inter-company trading will be included in revenue of one group company and
purchases of another. These are cancelled on consolidation.

@ lllustration:
4 Debit  Credit

Revenue X
Cost of sales (actually purchases within cost of sales) X
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Example:
Q P acquired 80% of S 3 years ago.

During the year P sold goods to S for Rs. 50,000.

By the year-end S had sold all of the goods bought from P to customers.

Extracts of the income statements for the year to 31 December 20X1 are as

follows.
P S
Rs. Rs.
Revenue 800,000 420,000
Cost of sales (300,000) (220,000
Gross profit 500,000 200,000

The adjustment in respect of inter-company trading can be shown as

follows:
Workings
P S Dr Cr Consol.
Rs.(000) Rs.(000) Rs.(000) Rs.(000) Rs.(000)
Revenue 800 420 (50) 1,170
Cost of sales (300) (220) 50 (470)
Gross profit 500 200 (50) 50 700

The adjustment has no effect on gross profit.

Unrealised profits on trading

If any items sold by one group company to another are included in inventory (i.e.
have not been sold on outside the group by the year end), their value must be
adjusted to lower of cost and net realisable value from the group viewpoint (as for
the consolidated statement of financial position).

This is an inventory valuation adjustment made in the consolidated financial

statements.
lllustration:
Debit  Credit
Closing inventory - Statement of comprehensive income X
Closing inventory - Statement of financial position X

The adjustment in the statement of comprehensive income reduces gross profit
and hence profit for the year. The NCI share in this reduced figure and the
balance is added to retained earnings. Thus, the adjustment is shared between
both ownership interests.
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O

Example:
P acquired 80% of S 3 years ago.

During the year P sold goods to S for Rs. 50,000 at a mark-up of 25% on cost.
This means that the cost of the goods to P was Rs. 40,000 (1°0/155 x Rs. 50,000)
and P made a profit of Rs. 10,000 000 (25/125 x Rs. 50,000) on the sale to S.

At the year-end S still had a third of the goods in inventory.

This means that S still held goods which it had purchased from P for Rs. 15,000
at a profit to P of Rs. 3,000. The Rs. 3,000 is unrealised by the group as at the
year-end.

Extracts of the income statements for the year to 31 December 20X1 are as
follows.

P (Rs.) S (Rs.)
Revenue 800,000 420,000
Cost of sales (300,000) (220,000
Gross profit 500,000 200,000

The adjustments in respect of inter-company trading! and unrealised
profit2 can be shown as follows:

Workings
P S Dr Cr Consol.
Rs.(000) Rs.(000) Rs.(000) Rs.(000) Rs.(000)
Revenue 800 420 (50)1 1,170
Cost of sales (300) (220) (3)2 501 (473)
Gross profit 500 200 (53) 50 697

The adjustment in respect of inter-company trading! has no effect on gross
profit.

The adjustment in respect of and unrealised profit2 reduces gross profit.
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If the sale is from S to P the unrealised profit adjustment must be shared with the
NCI.

Example:
P acquired 80% of S 3 years ago.

During the year S sold goods to P for Rs. 50,000 at a mark-up of 25% on cost.
This means that the cost of the goods to S was Rs. 40,000 (19°/125 x Rs. 50,000)
and S made a profit of Rs. 10,000 000 (25/125 x Rs. 50,000) on the sale to S.

At the year-end P still had a third of the goods in inventory.

This means that P still held goods which it had purchased from S for Rs. 15,000
at a profit to S of Rs. 3,000. The Rs. 3,000 is unrealised by the group as at the
year-end. The NCI's share of the unrealised profit adjustment is Rs. 600 (20% x
Rs. 3,000)

Extracts of the income statements for the year to 31 December 20X1 are as
follows.

P (Rs.) S (Rs.)
Revenue 800,000 420,000
Cost of sales (300,000) (220,000
Gross profit 500,000 200,000
Expenses (173,000) (123,000)
Profit before tax 327,000 77,000

The adjustments in respect of inter-company trading® and unrealised
profit2 can be shown as follows:

Workings
P S Dr Cr Consol.
Rs.(000) Rs.(000) Rs.(000) Rs.(000) Rs.(000)
Revenue 800 420 (50)1 1,170
Cost of sales (300) (220) (3)2 501 (473)
Gross profit 500 200 (53) 50 697
(173) (123) (296)
427 77 (53) 50 401

The adjustment in respect of and unrealised profit2 reduces gross profit and
is shared with the NCI.

Total comprehensive income attributable to: Rs.(000)
Owners of the parent (balancing figure) 386.2
Non-controlling interests (20% x 77,000) — 600) 14.8

401.0
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Inter-company management fees and interest
All other inter-company amounts must also be cancelled.

Where a group company charges another group company, management
feesl/interest, there is no external group income or external group expense and
they are cancelled one against the other like inter-company sales and cost of

sales.
@ lllustration:
& Debit  Credit
Income (management fees) X
Expense (management charges) X

Example:
Q P acquired 80% of S 3 years ago.

Other income in P’s statement of comprehensive income includes an inter-
company management charge of Rs. 5,000 to S. S has recognised this in
administrative expenses.

Extracts of the income statements for the year to 31 December 20X1 are as

follows.

P S

Rs. Rs.
Revenue 800,000 420,000
Cost of sales (300,000) (220,000)
Gross profit 500,000 200,000
Administrative expenses (100,000) (90,000)
Distribution costs (85,000) (75,000)
Other income 12,000 2,000
Profit before tax 327,000 37,000
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Revenue
Cost of sales
Gross profit

Administrative
expenses

Distribution
costs

Other income

Profit before
tax

Example continued

The adjustments in respect of inter-company management charge can be
shown as follows:

Workings
P S Dr Cr Consol.
Rs.(000) Rs.(000) Rs.(000) Rs.(000) Rs.(000)

800 420 1,220
(300) (220) (520)

500 200 700
(100) (90) 5 (185)
(85) (75) (160)
12 2 (5) 9
327 37 364

The adjustment in respect of inter-company management charge has no
effect on gross profit.

Inter-company dividends

The parent may have accounted for dividend income from a subsidiary. This is
cancelled on consolidation.

Dividends received from a subsidiary are ignored in the consolidation of the
statement of comprehensive income because the profit out of which they are paid

has already been consolidated.
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2.2 Fair value adjustments

O

Depreciation is charged on the carrying amount of assets.

If a depreciable asset is revalued on consolidation the depreciation stream that
relates to that asset will also need to be revalued.

This adjustment is carried out in the financial statements of the subsidiary. It will
affect the subsidiary’s profit after tax figure and therefore will affect the NCI.

Example:

Revenue

Cost of sales
Gross profit
Expenses

Profit before tax

The adjustments in respect of extra depreciation can be shown as follows:

P acquired 80% of S 3 years ago.

At the date of acquisition S had a depreciable asset with a fair value of Rs.
120,000 in excess of its book value. This asset had a useful life of 10 years at the
date of acquisition.

This means that the group has to recognise extra depreciation of Rs. 36,000 (ks
120,000/ 14 vears x 3 years) by the end of this period. One year’'s worth of this (Rs.
12,000) is recognised in S’s statement of comprehensive income prior to
consolidation this year.

Extracts of the income statements for the year to 31 December 20X1 are as
follows.

P S
Rs. Rs.
800,000 420,000
(300,000) (220,000)
500,000 200,000
(173,000) (163,000)
327,000 37,000

Workings
P S Dr Cr Consol.
Rs.(000) Rs.(000) Rs.(000) Rs.(000) Rs.(000)

Revenue 800 420 1,220
Cost of sales (300) (220) (520)
Gross profit 500 200 700
Exp')enses (173) (163) (348)
Adjustment (12)
Profit before
tax 327 25 352

The adjustment in respect of the extra depreciation reduces the profit of S

that is consolidated.
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Impairment of goodwill and consolidated profit

When purchased goodwill is impaired, the impairment does not affect the
individual financial statements of the parent company or the subsidiary. The
effect of the impairment applies exclusively to the consolidated statement of
financial position and the consolidated income statement.

If goodwill is impaired:

O itis written down in value in the consolidated statement of financial position,
and

O  the amount of the write-down is charged as an expense in the consolidated
income statement (normally in administrative expenses).

Example:
P acquired 80% of S 3 years ago.
Goodwill on acquisition was Rs. 200,000.

The annual impairment test on goodwill has shown it to have a recoverable
amount of only Rs. 175,000. Thus a write down of Rs. 25,000 is required.

Extracts of the income statements for the year to 31 December 20X1 are as
follows.

P S

Rs. Rs.
Revenue 800,000 420,000
Cost of sales (300,000) (220,000)
Gross profit 500,000 200,000
Expenses (173,000) (163,000)
Profit before tax 327,000 37,000

The adjustment in respect of inter-company trading! and unrealised
profit2 can be shown as follows:

Workings
P S Dr Cr Consol.
Rs.(000) Rs.(000) Rs.(000) Rs.(000) Rs.(000)

Revenue 800 420 1,220
Cost of sales (300) (220) (520)
Gross profit 500 200 700
Expenses (173) (163) (25) (361)
Profit before
tax 327 37 (25) 339

The adjustment in respect of the goodwill reduces the consolidated profit.
(There is no impact on NCI).
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Practice question 1

P acquired 80% of S 3 years ago. Goodwill on acquisition was 80,000. The
recoverable amount of goodwill at the year-end was estimated to be 65,000. This
was the first time that the recoverable amount of goodwill had fallen below the
amount at initial recognition.

S sells goods to P. The total sales in the year were 100,000. At the year-end P
retains inventory from S which had cost S 30,000 but was in P’s books at 35,000.

The distribution costs of S include depreciation of an asset which had been
subject to a fair value increase of 100,000 on acquisition. This asset is being
written off on a straight line basis over 10 years.

The income statements for the year to 31 December 20X1 are as follows.

P S
Rs.(000) Rs.(000)

Revenue 1,000 800
Cost of sales (400) (250)
Gross profit 600 550
Distribution costs (120) (75)
Administrative expenses (80) (20)

400 455
Dividend from S 80 -
Finance cost (25) (15)
Profit before tax 455 440
Tax (45) (40)
Profit for the period 410 400

Prepare the consolidated income statement for the year ended 31
December.
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SOLUTIONS TO PRACTICE QUESTIONS

Solutions

Consolidated statement of comprehensive income for the year ended 31 December.

Workings
P S Dr Cr Consol.
Rs.(000) Rs.(000) Rs.(000) Rs.(000) | Rs.(000)
Revenue 1,000 800 (100) 1,700
Cost of sales (400) (250) 3(5) 100 (555)
Gross profit 600 550 (105) 100 1,145
Distribution costs (120) (75)
Fair value adjustment 1(10)
(120) (85) (205)
Administrative
expenses (80) (20) 2(15) (115)
400 445
Dividend from S 80 - (80)
Finance cost (25) (15) (40)
Profit before tax 455 430 785
Tax (45) (40) (85)
Profit for the period 410 390 (200) 100 700
Total comprehensive income attributable to: Rs.(000)
Owners of the parent (balancing figure) 633
Non-controlling interests (20% of 390,000) — (20% of 35,000) 77
700

Notes:

1: Extra depreciation on fair value adjustment (190/10 years)

2: Goodwill impairment

3: Unrealised profit
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INTRODUCTION

Learning outcomes

The overall objective of the syllabus is to broaden the knowledge base of basic accounting
acquired in earlier modules with emphasis on International Financial Reporting Standards.

LO2 Account for transactions relating to tangible and intangible assets
including transactions relating to their common financing matters.

LO2.1.1 Explain and apply the accounting treatment of property, plant and equipment.

LO2.1.2 Formulate accounting policies in respect of property, plant and equipment.

LO2.3.1 Describe borrowing cost and qualifying assets using examples.

LO2.3.2 Identify and account for borrowing costs in accordance with 1AS 23.

LO2.3.3 Disclose borrowing costs in financial statements.

LO2.3.4 Formulate accounting policies in respect of borrowing cost.
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1 INITIAL MEASUREMENT OF PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Section overview

Introduction

Initial measurement

Exchange transactions

Elements of cost

Subsequent expenditure
Measurement after initial recognition

1.1 Introduction

Rules on accounting for property, plant and equipment are contained in IAS 16:
Property, plant and equipment.

Definition

‘D Definition: Property, plant and equipment
& Property, plant and equipment are tangible items that:

(a) are held for use in the production or supply of goods or services, for rental
to others, or for administrative purposes; and

(b) are expected to be used during more than one period.

Items such as spare parts, stand-by equipment and servicing equipment are
recognised as property, plant and equipment when they meet the above
definition. If this is not the case they are recognised as inventory.

Initial recognition

The cost of an item of property, plant and equipment must be recognised as an
asset if, and only if:

U itis probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow
to the entity; and

O  the cost of the item can be measured reliably.

Items of property, plant and equipment may be acquired for safety or
environmental reasons. At first sight it looks as if such items would not be
recognised as property, plant and equipment according to the recognition criteria
because they do not directly increase future economic benefits. However, they
may be necessary in order that a company obtain the future economic benefits
from its other assets so they do qualify for recognition.

@ lllustration:
b A chemical manufacturer may install new chemical handling processes to comply
with environmental requirements for the production and storage of dangerous
chemicals.

This would be recognised as an asset because without them the company cannot
make and sell chemicals.
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1.2 Initial measurement

Property, plant and equipment are initially recorded in the accounts of a business
at their cost.

Definition: Property, plant and equipment
o)

& Cost is the amount of cash or cash equivalents paid or the fair value of the other
consideration given to acquire an asset at the time of its acquisition or construction
or, where applicable, the amount attributed to that asset when initially recognised
in accordance with the specific requirements of other IFRSs. (For example assets
held under finance leases - see chapter 9).

The cost of an item of property, plant and equipment is the cash price equivalent
at the recognition date. If payment is deferred beyond normal credit terms, the
difference between the cash price equivalent and the total payment is recognised
as interest over the period of credit unless it is capitalised in accordance with IAS
23: Borrowing costs (covered later).

Example: Deferred consideration
Q A company buys a machine on 1 January 2016.
The terms of the purchase are that the company will pay Rs. 5 million for the

machine on 31 December 2016 (1 year later).
An appropriate discount rate is 6%

1 January 2016 - Initial recognition

Initial measurement of the 1 a71 1
i Rs.5m x —— — =Rs. 4,716,98
purchase price (1+0.06)

Debit Credit
Property, plant and equipment 4,716,981
Liability 4,716,981

31 December 2016 - Date of payment

Recognition of interest expense Rs. 4,716,981 @ 6% = 283,019
Debit Credit

Statement of comprehensive income 283,019

Liability 283,019

Balance on the liability Rs.

Balance brought forward 4,716,981

Interest expense recognised in the period 283,019
5,000,000

Cash/bank (5,000,000)
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1.3 Exchange transactions

An asset may be acquired in exchange for another asset. The cost of such asset
is measured at its fair value unless:

Q the exchange transaction lacks commercial substance; or

0 the fair value of neither the asset received nor the asset given up is reliably
measurable.

If the new asset is measured at fair value, the fair value of the asset given up is
used to measure the cost of the asset received unless the fair value of the asset
received is more clearly evident.

If the new asset is not measured at fair value, its cost is measured at the carrying
amount of the asset given in exchange for it. This would be the case when the
exchange lacked commercial substance or when the fair value of either asset
cannot be measured.

Lack of commercial substance

The determination of whether an exchange transaction has commercial
substance depends on the extent to which future cash flows are expected to
change as a result of the transaction. If there is minimal impact on future cash
flows then the exchange lacks commercial substance.

1.4 Elements of cost

The definition of ‘cost’ for property, plant and equipment has close similarities
with the cost of inventories, although property, plant and equipment will often
include more items of ‘other expense’ within cost.

The cost of an item of property, plant and machinery consists of:

U its purchase price after any trade discount has been deducted, plus any
import taxes or non-refundable sales tax; plus

O  the directly attributable costs of bringing the asset to the location and
condition necessary for it to be capable of operating in the manner intended
by management. These directly attributable costs may include:

. employee costs arising directly from the installation or construction of
the asset;

. the cost of site preparation;
. delivery costs (‘carriage inwards’);
. installation and assembly costs;

. testing costs to assess whether the asset is functioning properly (net
of sale proceeds of items produced during the testing phase).

. professional fees directly attributable to the purchase.

U When the entity has an obligation to dismantle and remove the asset at the
end of its life, its initial cost should also include an estimate of the costs of
dismantling and removing the asset and restoring the site where it is
located. This will be explained in more detail in chapter 10 which covers
IAS 37: Provisions, contingent liabilities and contingent assets.
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Example: Cost
Q A company has purchased a large item of plant.

The following costs were incurred.

List price of the machine 1,000,000
Trade discount given 50,000
Delivery cost 100,000
Installation cost 125,000
Cost of site preparation 200,000
Architect’s fees 15,000
Administration expense 150,000
Test run cost 75,000

The test run cost was to ensure that the asset was installed and working
correctly. ltems of inventory were produced during the test run. These
had a sale value of Rs. 10,000.

Local government officials have granted the company a license to
operate the asset on condition that the company will remove the asset
and return the site to its former condition at the end of the asset’s life.

The company has recognised a liability of Rs. 250,000 in respect of the
expected clearance cost.

The cost of the asset is as follows:

Rs.

Purchase price of the machine (1,000,000 - 50,000) 950,000
Delivery cost 100,000
Installation cost 125,000
Cost of site preparation 200,000
Architect’s fees 15,000
Decommissioning cost 250,000
Test run cost (75,000 — 10,000) 65,000

1,705,000

The recognition of costs ceases when the asset is ready for use. This is when it is
in the location and condition necessary for it to be capable of operating in the
manner intended by management.
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Cost of self-constructed assets

The cost of a self-constructed asset is determined using the same principles as
for an acquired asset.

A company might make similar assets for sale in the normal course of business.
The cost of an asset for the company to use itself would normally be the same as
the cost of an asset for sale as measured according to IAS 2: Inventories.

IAS23: Borrowing costs, deals with whether interest costs on borrowing to finance
the construction of a non-current asset should be included in the cost of the
asset. This is covered in the next section of this chapter.

Not part of cost

Only those costs necessary to bring an asset to a condition and location where it
is capable of operating in the manner intended by management are recognised.

IAS 16 provides the following list of costs that are not costs of an item of property,
plant and equipment:

U costs of opening a new facility;

O costs of introducing a new product or service (including costs of advertising
and promotional activities);

U costs of conducting business in a new location or with a new class of
customer (including costs of staff training); and

O  administration and other general overhead costs.

1.5 Subsequent expenditure

Expenditure relating to non-current assets, after their initial acquisition, should be
capitalised if it meets the criteria for recognising an asset.

In practice, this means that expenditure is capitalised if it:

U  improves the asset (for example, by enhancing its performance or
extending its useful life); or

O  isfor areplacement part (provided that the part that it replaces is treated as
an item that has been disposed of).

Repairs and maintenance expenditure is revenue expenditure. It is recognised as
an expense as it is incurred, because no additional future economic benefits will
arise from the expenditure.

A basic rule is that improvements are capitalised but repairs are expensed. You
may have to correct situations when an amount spent has not been treated
correctly. This is covered in section 7 of this chapter.

Major inspections

A company might only be allowed to operate some assets if those assets are
subject to regular major inspections for faults.

The cost of such major inspections is recognised in the carrying amount of the
asset as a replacement if the recognition criteria are satisfied.

When a major inspection is carried out any remaining carrying amount of the cost
of the previous inspection is derecognised.
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O

1.6

Example: Major overhaul

A shipping company is required to put its ships into dry dock every three years for
an overhaul, at a cost of Rs. 3,000,000. The ships have a useful life of 20 years. A
ship is purchased from a shipbuilder at a cost of Rs. 200 million.

Initial recognition

Rs. 3,000,000 of the asset cost should be treated as a separate component and
depreciated over three years.

The rest of the cost of the ship (Rs. 197 million) should be depreciated over 20
years.

End of year 3

An overhaul is required.
The cost of the overhaul is capitalised and added to the asset’s cost.

The cost (Rs. 3,000,000) and accumulated depreciation of the depreciated
component is removed from the accounts.

Measurement after initial recognition
IAS 16 allows a choice of accounting treatments after initial recognition.

All items of property, plant and equipment in a class can be accounted for using
one of two models:

U Cost model - Property, plant and equipment is carried at cost less any
accumulated depreciation and any accumulated impairment losses.

O  Revaluation model - Property, plant and equipment is carried at a revalued
amount. This is the fair value at the date of the revaluation less any
subsequent accumulated depreciation and any accumulated impairment
losses.

The above choice must be applied consistently. A business cannot carry one item
of property, plant & equipment at cost and revalue a similar item. However, a
business can use different models for different classes of property, plant &
equipment. For example, companies might use the cost model for plant and
equipment but use the revaluation model for property.

Depreciation is an important component of both models.
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2 |AS 23; BORROWING COSTS

Section overview

m Introduction
m  Borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation
m Period of capitalisation

2.1 Introduction

A company might incur significant interest costs if it has to raise a loan to finance
the purchase or construction of an asset. IAS 23: Borrowing costs defines
borrowing costs and sets guidance on the circumstances under which are to be
capitalised as part of the cost of qualifying assets.

Definition: Borrowing costs
o)

& Borrowing costs are interest and other costs that an entity incurs in connection with
the borrowing of funds.

Definition: Qualifying asset
o)

A qualifying asset is an asset that necessarily takes a substantial period of time to
get ready for its intended use or sale.

Any of the following may be qualifying assets depending on circumstances:
U  inventories;

O items of property, plant and equipment;

U intangible assets.

The following are not qualifying assets:

Q inventories that are manufactured, or otherwise produced, over a short
period of time, are not qualifying assets

U  assets that are ready for their intended use or sale when acquired.

Quialifying assets are usually self-constructed non-current assets.
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2.2 Borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation

Borrowing costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or
production of a qualifying asset must be capitalised as part of the cost of that
asset. All other borrowing costs are recognised as an expense in the period in
which they are incurred.

Borrowing costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or
production of a qualifying asset are those that would have been avoided if the
expenditure on the qualifying asset had not been made.

This includes the costs associated with specific loans taken to fund the
production or purchase of an asset and general borrowings. General borrowings
are included because if an asset were not being constructed it stands to reason
that there would have been a lower need for cash.

Funds specifically borrowed to obtain a qualifying asset

When a specific loan is taken in order to obtain a qualifying asset the borrowing
costs eligible for capitalisation are the actual borrowing costs incurred on that
borrowing during the period less any investment income on the temporary
investment of those borrowings.

Example: Specific borrowings
Q On 1 January 2016 Karachi Engineering issued a bond to raise Rs. 25,000,000 to
fund a capital project which will take three years to complete.
Amounts not yet needed for the project are invested on a temporary basis.

During the year to 31 December 2016, Karachi Engineering spent Rs. 9,000,000
on the project.

The cost of servicing the bond was Rs. 1,250,000 during this period and the
company was able to earn Rs. 780,000 through the temporary reinvestment of the
amount borrowed.

The amounts recognised as capital work in progress in the period was:

Rs.
Costs incurred (labour, material, overhead etc.) 9,000,000
Interest capitalised:
Actual interest cost 1,250,000
Less: return on temporary investment (780,000)
470,000
Additions to capital work in progress 9,470,000

General funds used for the purpose of obtaining a qualifying asset.

When general borrowings are used the amount of borrowing costs eligible for
capitalisation is obtained by applying a capitalisation rate to the expenditures on
that asset.

The capitalisation rate is the weighted average of the borrowing costs applicable
to the borrowings that are outstanding during the period except for borrowings
made specifically for the purpose of obtaining a qualifying asset.

The amount of borrowing costs capitalised cannot exceed the amount of
borrowing costs it incurred during a period.
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Q Example: General borrowings: Capitalisation rate

Chiniot Construction has three sources of borrowing:

Average loan in the Interest expense incurred
year (Rs.) in the year (Rs.)
7 year loan 8,000,000 800,000
10 year loan 10,000,000 900,000
Bank overdraft 5,000,000 900,000

The 7 year loan has been specifically raised to fund the building of a
qualifying asset.

A suitable capitalisation rate for other projects is found as follows:

Average loan in the Interest expense incurred
year (Rs.) in the year (Rs.)
10 year loan 10,000,000 900,000
Bank overdraft 5,000,000 900,000
15,000,000 1,800,000

Capitalisation rate = 1:800,000/45 590,000 x 100 = 12%

Alternatively:

Rate on 10 year loan = 900,000/,4 400,000 X 100 = 9%

Rate on bank overdraft = 900,000/5 550,000 x 100 = 18%

Weighted average: 9% x 10,000,000 /45 500,000 + 18% X 5:000,000 /45 400,000
6% + 6% = 12%
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The capitalisation rate is applied from the time expenditure on the asset is
incurred.

Q Example: General borrowings: Capitalisation rate

Continuing the example above, Chiniot Construction has incurred the following
expenditure on a project funded from general borrowings for year ended 31

December 2016.
Date incurred: Amount (Rs.)
31st March 1,000,000
31st July 1,200,000
30th October 800,000

The amount capitalised in respect of capital work in progress during
2016 is as follows:

Rs.

31st March — Expenditure 1,000,000
Interest (1,000,000 x 10% x 9/12) 75,000
31st July — Expenditure 1,200,000
Interest (1,200,000 x 10% x 5/12) 50,000
30th October — Expenditure 800,000
Interest (800,000 x 10% x 2/12) 13,333
3,138,333

2.3 Period of capitalisation

Commencement of capitalisation

Capitalisation of borrowing costs should start only when:
U expenditures for the asset are being incurred; and
0  borrowing costs are being incurred, and

U activities necessary to prepare the asset have started.

Suspension of capitalisation

Capitalisation of borrowing costs should be suspended if development of the
asset is suspended for an extended period of time.

Cessation of capitalisation

Capitalisation of borrowing costs should cease when the asset is substantially
complete. The costs that have already been capitalised remain as a part of the
asset’s cost, but no additional borrowing costs may be capitalised.
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3 DEPRECIATION AND CARRYING AMOUNT

Section overview

Depreciation
Depreciable amount and depreciation period
Reviews of the remaining useful life and expected residual value

Depreciation method
Review of depreciation method
Impairment

You should be familiar with the measurement and recognition of depreciation
from your previous studies. This section provides a reminder of the key concepts.

3.1 Depreciation

Depreciation is an expense that matches the cost of a non-current asset to the
benefit earned from its ownership. It is calculated so that a business recognises
the full cost associated with a non-current asset over the entire period that the
asset is used.

Definitions
o)
[ "

Depreciation is the systematic allocation of the depreciable amount of an asset
over its useful life.

Depreciable amount is the cost of an asset, or other amount substituted for cost,
less its residual value.

The residual value of an asset is the estimated amount that an entity would
currently obtain from disposal of the asset, after deducting the estimated costs of
disposal, if the asset were already of the age and in the condition expected at the
end of its useful life.

Useful life is:

(a) the period over which an asset is expected to be available for use by an
entity; or

(b) the number of production or similar units expected to be obtained from the

asset by an entity.

Carrying amount is the amount at which an asset is recognised after deducting any
accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses. (Net book value
(NBV) is a term that is often used instead of carrying amount).
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Parts of an asset

Each part of an asset that has a cost that is significant in relation to the total cost
of the item must be depreciated separately. This means that the cost of an asset
might be split into several different assets and each depreciated separately.

@ lllustration: Cost
h A company has purchased a new Gulf Stream jet for Rs.5,500 million.

The company has identified the following cost components and useful lives in
respect of this jet.

Rs. million Useful lives

Engines 2,000 3 years

Airframe 1,500 10 years

Fuselage 1,500 20 years

Fittings 500 5 years
5,500

Depreciation is charged as an expense in the statement of comprehensive
income each year over the life of the asset unless it relates to an asset being
used to construct another asset. In this case the depreciation is capitalised as
part of the cost of that other asset in accordance with the relevant standard (For
example: IAS 2: Inventories; IAS 16 Property, plant and equipment; IAS 38;
Intangible assets).

Accounting for depreciation

The double entry for depreciation should be familiar to you from your earlier
studies. This section gives a brief recap.

Debit Credit
Depreciation expense X

lllustration: Depreciation double entry
G

Accumulated depreciation X

The balance on the depreciation expense account is taken to the statement of
comprehensive income as an expense for the period.

The non-current asset figure in the statement of financial position is made up of
two figures, the cost less accumulated depreciation.

@ lllustration: Carrying amount of a non-current asset
h Rs.

Non-current asset at cost X

Less accumulated depreciation (X)
This figure appears on the
face of the statement of

Carrying amount (net book value) X financial position

© Emile Woolf International 212 The Institute of Chartered Accountants of Pakistan



Chapter 7: IAS 16: Property, plant and equipment

3.2 Depreciable amount and depreciation period

The depreciable amount of an asset must be allocated on a systematic basis over
its useful life.

Commencement of depreciation

Depreciation of an asset begins when that asset is available for use. This means
when the asset is in the location and condition necessary for it to be capable of
operating in the manner intended by management. This might be before the asset
is actually used.

Cessation of depreciation

Depreciation ends at the earlier of when an asset is classified as held for sale in
accordance with IFRS 5: Non-current assets held for sale and discontinued
operations and when it is derecognised.

IFRS 5 is outside the scope of your syllabus but is mentioned here for
completeness. For questions in this exam you should depreciate to that an asset
is derecognised.

Depreciation does not cease when an asset becomes idle or is withdrawn or
retired from active use.

Residual value

In practice, the residual value of an asset is often insignificant and therefore
immaterial in the calculation of the depreciable amount.

However, in some cases, the residual value may be equal to or greater than the
asset's carrying amount. In this case the depreciation charge would be zero.

Land and buildings

Land and buildings are separable assets and are dealt with separately for
accounting purposes, even when they are acquired together.

Land normally has an unlimited life and is therefore not depreciated. However,
there are exceptions to this. If land has a physical attribute that is used over a
period then the land should be depreciated over this period.

Example: Land
Q Quetta Quarries has purchased a site from which they will extract gravel for sale to
the construction industry.

The site cost Rs. 50,000,000.
It is estimated that gravel will be extracted from the site over the next 20 years.

The land must be depreciated over 20 years.

Buildings normally have a limited life and are therefore depreciable assets.
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33

O

Reviews of the remaining useful life and expected residual value

Review of useful life

IAS 16 requires useful lives and residual values to be reviewed at each year-end.
Any change is a change in accounting estimate. The carrying amount (cost minus
accumulated depreciation) of the asset at the date of change is written off over
the (revised) remaining useful life of the asset.

Example:

Chiniot Engineering owns a machine which originally cost Rs. 60,000 on 1
January 2012,

The machine was being depreciated over its useful life of 10 years on a straight-
line basis and has no residual value.

On 31 December 2015 Chiniot Engineering revised the total useful life for the
machine to eight years (down from the previous 10).

Required

Calculate the depreciation charge for 2015 and subsequent years.

Answer

The change in accounting estimate is made at the end of 2015 but may be
applied to the financial statements from 2015 onwards.

Rs.
Cost on 1 January 2012 60,000
Depreciation for 2012 to 2014 (60,000 x 3/10) (18,000)
Carrying amount at end of 2014 42,000

Remaining useful life at the end of 2014 = 8 - 3 years = 5 years.

Depreciation for 2015 and subsequent years = Rs. 42,000 + 5 years = Rs. 8,400.

Residual value

The residual value of an item of property, plant and equipment must be reviewed
at least at each financial year end and if expectations differ from previous
estimates the depreciation rate for the current and future periods is adjusted.

A change in the asset’s residual value is accounted for prospectively as an
adjustment to future depreciation.

Practice question 1

A machine was purchased three years ago on 1 January Year 2. It cost
Rs.150,000 and its expected life was 10 years with an expected residual
value of Rs.30,000.

Due to technological changes, the estimated life of the asset was re-
assessed during Year 5. The total useful life of the asset is now expected to
be 7 years and the machine is now considered to have no residual value.

The financial year of the entity ends on 31 December.
What is the depreciation charge for the year ending 31 December Year 5?
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3.4 Depreciation method

The depreciation method used should reflect the way in which the economic
benefits of the asset are consumed by the business over time.

The main choice is between the straight line method and the reducing balance
method (also known as the diminishing balance method).

Straight-line method

Definition: Straight line depreciation
o)

The depreciable amount is charged in equal amounts to each reporting period over
the expected useful life of the asset.

Depreciation charge B Cost of asset less expected residual value
for the year Expected useful life (years)

The charge in the first and last year is time apportioned.

Example: Straight line depreciation - mid-year acquisition
Q A machine cost Rs. 250,000. It has an expected economic life of five years.

It is expected that the machine will have a zero scrap value at the end of its useful
life.

The machine was bought on the 1st September and the company has a 31st
December year end.

The depreciation charge in the first year of ownership is:

250,000 4
X
5 years 12

Depreciation charge Rs. 16,667
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Reducing balance method

Definition: Reducing balance method

The annual depreciation charge is a fixed percentage of the carrying amount of the
asset at the start of the period.

Formula: Reducing balance depreciation

Depreciation charge ~ _ Carrying amount at Fixed
for the year the start of the year x percentage

Example: Reducing balance method
A machine cost Rs. 100,000 on 30 September.
The company has a 31 December year end.

It has an expected life of five years, and it is to be depreciated by the reducing
balance method at the rate of 30% each year.

Annual depreciation and carrying amount over the life of the asset will be as
follows.

Carrying Annual Carrying
amount at depreciation amount at
Year start charge end
Rs. Rs. Rs.
1 100,000 x 30% x 3/12 7,500 92,500
2 92,500 x 30% 27,750 64,750
3 64,750 x 30% 19,425 45,325
4 45,325 x 30% 13,598 31,727

Note that the depreciation in the year after the first full year’s depreciation
(year 2) can be calculated by multiplying the previous year’s charge by (1
- the reducing balance percentage).

3 27,750 x 70% 19,425
4 19,425 x 70% 13,598

Formula: Calculation of reducing balance percentage

n Residual value
x= Cost

Where:
x = The reducing balance percentage
n = Expected useful life.
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Example: Reducing balance
Q An asset cost Rs. 10,000 and has an expected residual value of Rs. 2,000 at the
end of its expected useful life which is 5 years.

The reducing balance percentage is calculated as follows.

_n Residual value 1_5 2,000 1 = 0.275 or 27.5%
x= Cost 10000 T RO

This percentage reduces Rs.10,000 to Rs. 2,000 over 5 years.

Carrying Annual depreciation Carrying
amount at start charge (at (27.5% amount at end
Year of year reducing balance) of year
Rs. Rs. Rs.
1 10,000 2,750 7,250
2 7,250 1,994 5,256
3 5,256 1,445 3,811
4 3,811 1,048 2,763
5 2,763 763 2,000

Note that the depreciation charge in year 5 contains a rounding
difference of 3.

Depreciation by number of units produced

Depreciation is calculated by expressing the useful life of an asset in terms of its
expected total output and allocating the annual charge to depreciation based on
actual output.

Definition
o)
&

,_g 4+ | Formula: Depreciation by number of units produced

B ’z .
Depreciation  _ Cost - residual value Number of units

charge Total expected production * produced in period
over the life of the asset
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3.5

Review of depreciation method

The depreciation method applied to property, plant and equipment must be
reviewed periodically and, if there has been a significant change in the expected
pattern of economic benefits from those assets, the method is changed to reflect
the changed pattern.

Where there is a change in the depreciation method used, this is a change in
accounting estimate. A change of accounting estimate is applied from the time of
the change, and is not applied retrospectively. The carrying amount (cost minus
accumulated depreciation) of the asset at the date of the change is written off
over the remaining useful life of the asset.

Example:

Marden Fabrics owns a machine which originally cost Rs. 30,000 on 1 January
2012. It has no residual value.

It was being depreciated over its useful life of 10 years on a straight-line basis.

At the end of 2015, when preparing the financial statements for 2015, Marden
Fabrics decided to change the method of depreciation, from straight-line to the
reducing balance method, using a rate of 25%.

Required

Calculate the depreciation charge for 2015.

Answer

The change in accounting estimate is made at the end of 2015, but is applied to
the financial statements from 1 January 2015.

The reducing balance method of depreciation is applied to the 2015 statements.

Rs.
Cost on 1 January 2012 30,000
Depreciation for 2012 to 2014 (30,000 x 3/10) (9,000)
Carrying amount at end of 2014 21,000

Depreciation for 2015 will therefore be Rs. 21,000 x 25% = Rs. 5,250.
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3.6 Impairment
Both the cost model and the revaluation model refer to impairment losses.
IAS 36 Impairment of assets contains detailed guidance on impairment.

Definition
o)
&

Impairment loss: The amount by which the carrying amount of an asset (or a cash-
generating unit) exceeds its recoverable amount.

An impairment loss is a write down in the value of an asset to its recoverable
amount. IAS 36 operates to ensure that assets are carried in the financial
statements at no more than their recoverable amount. (This is very similar to the
rule that requires inventory to be measured at the lower of cost and net realisable
value).

The recoverable amount of an asset is defined as the higher of its:

U Fair value less costs to sell (the amount that would be received for the
asset in an orderly transaction between market participants less costs of
selling it); and

U Value in use (the present value of future cash flows from using an asset,
including its eventual disposal).

You will not be asked to compute these figures in the exam but you might be
given the two amounts and be expected to identify the recoverable amount and
account for any impairment loss.

Example: Impairment
Q The following information relates to 3 assets.

Asset 1 Asset 2 Asset 3

Carrying amount 80,000 120,000 140,000
Value in use 150,000 | 105,000 | 107,000
Fair value less cost to sell 60,000 90,000 110,000
Recoverable amount 150,000 105,000 110,000
Impairment loss nil 15,000 30,000
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Approach

Impairment of an asset should be identified and accounted for as follows.

Q

a

(M

At the end of each reporting period, a business should assess whether
there are any indications that an asset may be impaired.

If there are such indications, the business should estimate the asset’s
recoverable amount.

When the recoverable amount is less than the carrying amount of the asset,
the carrying amount should be written down to this amount. The amount by
which the value of the asset is written down is an impairment loss.

This impairment loss is recognised as a loss for the period.

Depreciation charges for the impaired asset in future periods should be
adjusted to allocate the asset’s revised carrying amount, minus any residual
value, over its remaining useful life (revised if necessary).

There is no specific guidance on the double entry needed to record impairment.
One way of accounting for it is to set up an accumulated impairment loss account
and account for it just like depreciation.
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4 REVALUATION OF PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Section overview

Revaluation and the entity’s accounting policy

Companies Ordinance 1984: Rules on revaluation
Accounting for revaluation

Changing the carrying amount of a revalued asset
Depreciation of a re-valued asset

Realisation of the revaluation surplus

Revaluation model: the frequency of revaluations

4.1 Revaluation and the entity’s accounting policy
Property, plant and equipment is recognised at cost when it is first acquired.

IAS 16 allows a business to choose one of two measurement models as its
accounting policy for property, plant and equipment after acquisition. The same
model should be applied to all assets in the same class.

The two measurement models for property, plant and equipment after acquisition
are:

O cost model (i.e. cost less accumulated depreciation); and

O revaluation model (i.e. revalued amount less accumulated depreciation
since the most recent revaluation).

For example, a company’s policy might be to value all its motor vehicles at cost,
but to apply the revaluation model to all its land and buildings.

Revaluation model - Issues

The following accounting issues have to be addressed when using the
revaluation model:

Issue

1 What happens to the other side of the entry when the carrying amount of
an asset is changed as a result of a revaluation adjustment?

An asset value may increase or decrease.
What happens in each case?

2 How is the carrying amount of the asset being revalued changed?. The
carrying amount is located in two accounts (cost and accumulated
depreciation) and it is the net amount that must be changed so how is this
done?

3 How often should the revaluation take place?

The Companies Ordinance 1984 contains rules on accounting for revaluation of
assets which conflict with those in IAS 16. The rules in the Companies Ordinance
take precedence when there is such a conflict. This impacts the answer to issue 1
above.
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4.2 Companies Ordinance 1984: Rules on revaluation
Section.235 of the Companies Ordinance 1984 sets out the following rules.

Where a company revalues its fixed assets any increase in the value of such
assets must be transferred to an account to be called “Surplus on Revaluation of
Fixed Assets Account” and shown in the balance-sheet of the company after
Capital and Reserves. This means that the revaluation surplus is recognised
outside equity. This has an impact on the revaluation double entry and this will be
explained later.

Unless a surplus is subsequently realised on disposal of a revalued asset it
cannot be used to reduce a loss or to add to the income, profit or surplus of the
company, or used directly or indirectly by way of dividend or bonus. However, it
can be used to set a deficit arising from the revaluation of any other fixed asset of
the company.

Depreciation of revalued assets is based on the revalued amount of those assets
and must be charged to the Profit and Loss Account. However, an amount equal
to incremental depreciation for the period must be transferred from “Surplus on
Revaluation of Fixed Assets Account” to accumulated profit through the
statement of changes in equity to record the realisation of surplus to the extent of
the incremental depreciation charge for the period.

Conflict with IAS 16

The requirement to recognise the revalution surplus outside equity causes a
conflict with 1AS 16.

Revaluation gains under IFRS fall within the definition of income.

Definition: Income
B

Increases in economic benefits during the accounting period in the form of inflows
or enhancements of assets or decreases of liabilities that result in increases in
equity, other than those relating to contributions from equity participants.

Under IFRS any gain must be recognised through other comprehensive income
and accumulated as a revaluation surplus in equity.

However, under law in Pakistan the surplus is outside equity. Only inflows or
enhancements that increase equity are recognised in other comprehensive
income. Therefore, gains recognised under the law in Pakistan are recognised
directly in the revaluation surplus account.
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4.3 Accounting for revaluation

When a non-current asset is revalued, its ‘carrying amount’ in the statement of
financial position is adjusted from carrying amount to its fair value (normally
current market value) at the date of the revaluation.

How the carrying amount is changed will be addressed later. This section
concentrates on the other side of the entry.
Asset carried at cost revalued upwards

Companies Ordinance 1984: An increase in value is credited to directly to an
account outside equity called revalution surplus.

IAS 16: An increase in value is credited to other comprehensive income and
accumulated in equity under the heading of revaluation surplus.

Example: Upward revaluation
Q Land was purchased for 100 on the first day of the 2015 accounting period.
The business revalues land as permitted by the IAS 16.
The land was revalued to 130 at the end of the first year of ownership.

Double entry: Companies’ Ordinance 1984 Debit Credit
Land 30

Revaluation surplus 30
Double entry: IAS 16 Debit Credit
Land 30

Other comprehensive income (an accumulated in a

revaluation surplus). 30

Extract from the statement of financial position as at 31/12/13

CO 1984 IFRS
Property, plant and equipment 130 130
Equity (revaluation surplus) 30
Revaluation surplus 30
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Asset carried at cost revalued downwards

A decrease in value is debited as an expense to the statement of comprehensive
income.

Example: Downward revaluation
Q Land was purchased for 100 on the first day of the 2015 accounting period.
The business revalues land as permitted by the IAS 16.
The land was revalued to 90 at the end of the first year of ownership.

Double entry: Companies’ Ordinance 1984 and IAS 16

Debit Credit
Statement of comprehensive income 10
Land 10

Asset carried at a revaluation deficit is revalued upwards

An asset might be carried at an amount lower than its original cost as a result of
being revalued downwards.

If the asset is later revalued upwards, the revaluation increase is recognised in
the statement of comprehensive income to the extent of the previously
recognised expense. That part of any increase above the previously recognised
expense is recognised in the usual way, directly in the revaluation surplus
account (Companies’ Ordinance 1984) or in other comprehensive income (IAS
16).

Asset carried at a revaluation surplus revalued downwards

An asset might be carried at an amount higher than its original cost as a result of
being revalued upwards.

Companies Ordinance 1984: If the asset is later revalued downwards, the
revaluation decrease is recognised directly in equity to the extent of the
previously recognised surplus. That part of any decrease above the previously
recognised surplus is recognised in the statement of comprehensive income the
usual way.

IAS 16: If the asset is later revalued downwards, the revaluation decrease is
recognised in other comprehensive income to the extent of the previously
recognised surplus. That part of any decrease above the previously recognised
surplus is recognised in the statement of comprehensive income the usual way.
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Example: Downward revaluation - Accounted for under Companies’ Ordinance
@, =
A business purchased a plot of land on the first day of the 2015 accounting period.

The business applies the IAS 16 revaluation model to the measurement of land
after initial recognition. The business has a policy of revaluing land annually.

The initial amount recognised and the year end values are shown below:

Rs.
Measurement on initial recognition 100
Valuation as at:
31 December 2015 130
31 December 2016 110
31 December 2017 95
31 December 2018 116
The double entries are as follows:
31 December 2015 Debit Credit
Land (130 - 100) 30
Revaluation surplus 30
31 December 2016 Debit Credit
Revaluation surplus 20
Land (110 - 130) 20

The fall in value reverses a previously recognised surplus. It is recognised in
revaluation surplus to the extent that it is covered by the surplus.

31 December 2017 Debit Credit
Revaluation surplus 10

Statement of comprehensive income 5

Land (95 - 110) 15

The fall in value in part reverses a previously recognised surplus. It is
recoghised in Revaluation surplus to the extent that it is covered by the
surplus. This reduces the revaluation surplus to zero.

Any amount not covered by the surplus is recognised as an expense in the
statement of comprehensive income.

31 December 2018 Debit Credit
Land (116 - 95) 21

Statement of comprehensive income 5
Revaluation surplus 16

Arise in value that reverses a previously recognised expense is recognised
in the statement of comprehensive income to the extent that it reverses the
expense. Any amount above this is recognised in equity.
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Example (continued) - Overview
: L Statement of
Revaluation comprehensive
Land surplus income
At start 100 - -
Double entry 30 30¢r
31/12/13 130
b/f 130
Adjustment (20) 20pr -
31/12/14 110
b/f 110
Adjustment (15) 10pr 50r
31/12/15 95
b/f 95
Adjustment 21 16¢r 5er
31/12/16 116
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Example: Downward revaluation - Accounted for under IAS 16
Q A business purchased a plot of land on the first day of the 2015 accounting period.

The business applies the IAS 16 revaluation model to the measurement of land
after initial recognition. The business has a policy of revaluing land annually.

The initial amount recognised and the year end values are shown below:

Rs.
Measurement on initial recognition 100
Valuation as at:
31 December 2015 130
31 December 2016 110
31 December 2017 95
31 December 2018 116
The double entries are as follows:
31 December 2015 Debit Credit
Land (130 - 100) 30
Other comprehensive income 30
31 December 2016 Debit Credit
Other comprehensive income 20
Land (110 - 130) 20

The fall in value reverses a previously recognised surplus. It is recognised in
OCI to the extent that it is covered by the surplus.

31 December 2017 Debit Credit
Other comprehensive income 10

Statement of comprehensive income 5

Land (95 - 110) 15

The fall in value in part reverses a previously recognised surplus. It is
recoghised in OCI to the extent that it is covered by the surplus. This
reduces the revaluation surplus to zero.

Any amount not covered by the surplus is recognised as an expense in the
statement of comprehensive income.

31 December 2018 Debit Credit
Land (116 - 95) 21

Statement of comprehensive income 5
Other comprehensive income 16

Arise in value that reverses a previously recognised expense is recognised
in the statement of comprehensive income to the extent that it reverses the
expense. Any amount above this is recognised in other comprehensive
income.
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O

4.4

Example (continued) - Overview

Other Statement of
comprehensive comprehensive
Land income income
At start 100 - -
Double entry 30 30¢r
31/12/13 130
b/f 130
Adjustment (20) 20pr -
31/12/14 110
b/f 110
Adjustment (15) 10pr 50r
31/12/15 95
b/f 95
Adjustment 21 16¢r 5er
31/12/16 116

All later examples will follow only Companies’ Ordinance 1984.

Changing the carrying amount of the asset.

In the previous example land was revalued. Land is not depreciated so the
carrying amount of land is represented in a single account. This made it easy to
change:

The carrying amount of depreciable assets is the net of balances on two separate
accounts. The double entry to revalue the asset must take this into account.

IAS 16 allows a choice of two approaches which differ in the treatment of the
accumulated depreciation account.

When an item of property, plant and equipment is revalued, any accumulated
depreciation at the date of the revaluation is treated in one of the following ways:
Method 1

Restate accumulated depreciation proportionately with the change in the gross
carrying amount of the asset so that the carrying amount of the asset after
revaluation equals its revalued amount.

Method 2

Step 1: Transfer the accumulated depreciation to the asset account. The result of
this is that the balance on the asset account is now the carrying amount of the
asset and the accumulated depreciation account in respect of this asset is zero.

Step 2: Change the balance on the asset account to the revalued amount.
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Example: Method 1

Q A building owned by a company is carried at Rs. 20 million (Cost of Rs. 25 million

Cost
Accumulated depreciation

Carrying amount

Journals

Asset

Accumulated depreciation
Revaluation surplus

Before

25
®)
20

A current valuation of this building is now Rs. 26 million.

X 26/59
X 26/59

X 26/59

Rs. m
7.5

less accumulated depreciation of Rs. 5 million. The company’s policy is to apply
the revaluation model to all of its land and buildings.

After

325

(6.5)
26

Rs. m

1.5

Example: Method 2

Q A building owned by a company is carried at Rs. 20 million (Cost of Rs. 25 million

Step 1
Accumulated depreciation
Asset

Step 2
Asset (Rs. 26 - Rs. 20m)
Revaluation surplus

journal

Asset (Rs. 26 - Rs. 25m)
Accumulated depreciation
Revaluation surplus

Cost
Accumulated depreciation
Carrying amount

Alternatively this could be done with a single

Before
25
(5)
20

A current valuation of this building is now Rs. 26 million.

Rs. m

5

6

1

5
1 2
(5) 6

less accumulated depreciation of Rs. 5 million. The company’s policy is to apply
the revaluation model to all of its land and buildings.

Rs. m

After
26

26
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Example:
Q An office building was purchased four years ago for Rs.3 million.
The building has been depreciated by Rs.100,000.

It is now re-valued to Rs.4 million. Show the book-keeping entries to record the

revaluation.
A
A hswer
e Building account
Rs. Rs.
Opening balance b/f 3,000,000 | Accumulated 100,000
depreciation
Revaluation account 1,100,000 | Closing balance c/f 4,000,000
4,100,000 4,100,000
Opening balance b/f 4,000,000
Accumulated depreciation of building account
Rs. Rs.
Building account 100,000 | Opening balance b/f 100,000
Revaluation surplus
Rs. Rs.
Revaluation account 1,100,000

Practice question 2
EQI A company owns a building which was purchased three years ago for Rs.1
million. The building has been depreciated by Rs.60,000.

It is now to be revalued to Rs.2 million. Show the book-keeping entries to
record the revaluation.
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4.5 Depreciation of a revalued asset

O

After a non-current asset has been revalued, depreciation charges are based on
the new valuation.

Example:

An asset was purchased three years ago, at the beginning of Year 1, for
Rs.100,000.

Its expected useful life was six years and its expected residual value was
Rs.10,000.

It has now been re-valued to Rs.120,000. Its remaining useful life is now estimated
to be three years and its estimated residual value is now Rs.15,000.

The straight-line method of depreciation is used.

Required

(@) What is the transfer to the revaluation surplus at the end of Year 3?
(b) What is the annual depreciation charge in Year 4?

(c) What is the carrying amount of the asset at the end of Year 4?

Answer
Original annual depreciation (for Years 1 - 3) = Rs(100,000 - 10,000)/¢ veqrs = Rs.15,000.
Rs.
Cost 100,000
Less: Accumulated depreciation at the time
of revaluation (= 3 years x Rs.15,000) (45,000)
Carrying amount at the time of the
revaluation 55,000
Revalued amount of the asset 120,000
Transfer to the revaluation surplus 65,000

Revised annual depreciation = Rs(120,000 - 15,000) /3 ,o,s = Rs.35,000.

The annual depreciation charge in Year 4 will therefore be Rs.35,000.

Rs.
Revalued amount 120,000
Less: depreciation charge in Year 4 (35,000)
Carrying amount at the end of Year 4 85,000
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4.6 Realisation of the revaluation surplus

All assets eventually disappear from the statement of financial position either by
becoming fully depreciated or because the company sells them.

If nothing were done this would mean that there was a revaluation surplus on the
face of the statement of financial position that related to an asset that was no
longer owned.

O IAS 16 allows (but does not require) the transfer of a revaluation surplus to
retained earnings when the asset to which it relates is derecognised
(realised).

U Section 235 Companies Ordinance 1984 requires this.

This might happen over several years as the asset is depreciated or at a point in
time when the asset is sold.

Revalued assets being depreciated

Revaluation of an asset causes an increase in the annual depreciation charge.
The difference is known as excess depreciation (or incremental depreciation):

Excess depreciation is the difference between:
U  the depreciation charge on the re-valued amount of the asset, and
O  the depreciation that would have been charged on historical cost.

Each year a business might make a transfer from the revaluation surplus to the
retained profits equal to the amount of the excess depreciation.

@ Illustration:
& Debit  Credit

Revaluation surplus X
Retained earnings X

Revalued assets being sold

When a revalued asset is sold the business might transfer the balance on the
revaluation surplus in respect of the asset into retained earnings. The journal
entry would be the same as above.
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Example:
Q An asset was purchased two years ago at the beginning of Year 1 for Rs.600,000.
It had an expected life of 10 years and nil residual value.

Annual depreciation is Rs.60,000 (Rs-600,000/14 veq1s) in the first two years.
At the end of Year 2 the carrying value of the asset -Rs.480,000.
After two years it is re-valued to Rs.640,000.

Double entry: Revaluation

Debit Credit
Asset (Rs.640,000 - Rs.600,000) 40
Accumulated depreciation 120
Revaluation surplus 160

Each year the business is allowed to make a transfer between the revaluation
surplus and retained profits:
Double entry: Transfer
Debit Credit
Revaluation surplus (160/5s) 20
Retained profits 20

4.7 Revaluation model: the frequency of revaluations

When the revaluation model is applied to the measurement of property, plant and
equipment, revaluations must be made with sufficient regularity to ensure that the
carrying amount does not differ materially from that which would be determined
using fair value at the end of the reporting period.

The frequency of revaluations should depend on the volatility in the value of the
assets concerned. When the value of assets is subject to significant changes
(high volatility), annual revaluations may be necessary.

However, such frequent revaluations are unnecessary for items subject to only
insignificant changes in fair value. In such cases it may be necessary to revalue
the item only every three or five years.
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5 DERECOGNITION OF PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Section overview

m Gain or loss on disposal of a hon-current asset
m  Accounting for the disposal of property, plant and equipment
m Disposal of property, plant and equipment: part-exchange of an old asset

5.1 Gain or loss on disposal of a non-current asset
Property, plant and equipment are eventually disposed of:
U bysale, or
U if they have no sale value, through disposal as scrap.

Disposal can occur at any time, and need not be at the end of the asset’s
expected useful life.

There is a gain or loss on disposal of the asset, as follows:

lllustration: Gain or loss on disposal
Q

h Rs.
Sale proceeds on disposal X
Less disposal costs X)
Net disposal value X
Asset at cost X
Less: Accumulated depreciation (X)
Carrying amount at date of disposal X)
Gain /loss on disposal X
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Example:
Q A non-current asset originally cost Rs.75,000. Accumulated depreciation is
Rs.51,000.

The asset is how sold for Rs.18,000. Disposal costs are Rs.500.

What is the gain or loss on disposal?

A Answer
Gain or loss on disposal Rs. Rs.

Sale proceeds on disposal 18,000
Less disposal costs (500)
Net disposal value 17,500
Asset at cost 75,000

Less: Accumulated depreciation (51,000)

Carrying amount at date of disposal (24,000)
Loss on disposal (6,500)

Q Practice question 3
L #] | A non-current asset cost Rs.96,000 and was purchased on 1 June Year 1.

Its expected useful life was five years and its expected residual value was
Rs.16,000. The asset is depreciated by the straight-line method.

The asset was sold on 1 September Year 3 for Rs.68,000. There were no
disposal costs.

It is the company policy to charge depreciation on a monthly basis.
The financial year runs from 1 January to 31 December.
What was the gain or loss on disposal?

Practice question 4
EQI A non-current asset was purchased on 1 June Year 1 for Rs.216,000. Its
expected life was 8 years and its expected residual value was Rs.24,000.
The asset is depreciated by the straight-line method. The financial year is
from 1 January to 31 December.

The asset was sold on 1 September Year 4 for Rs.163,000. Disposal costs
were Rs.1,000.

It is the company policy to charge a proportionate amount of depreciation
in the year of acquisition and in the year of disposal, in accordance with the
number of months for which the asset was held.

What was the gain or loss on disposal?
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5.2 Accounting for the disposal of property, plant and equipment

In the general ledger the gain or loss on disposal of a non-current asset is
recorded in a disposal of asset account. The double entry transactions required
are as follows — for an asset recorded at cost rather than at a re-valued amount.

Step 1: Transfer the cost of the non-current asset from the asset account to the
disposal account:

Step 2: Transfer the accumulated depreciation on the asset from the
accumulated depreciation account to the disposal account:

lllustration:
Debit Credit
Disposal account X
Non-current asset account (cost of the asset) X
Accumulated depreciation account (or Allowance
for depreciation account) X
Disposal account X

The carrying amount of the asset is now in the disposal account.
Step 3: Record the disposal costs in the disposal account.

lllustration:
Debit Credit
Disposal account (disposal expenses) X
Bank or Payables account X

Step 4: Record the sale proceeds in the disposal account:

lllustration:
Debit Credit
Bank or Receivables account X
Disposal account (sale proceeds) X

Step 5: The balance on the disposal account is the gain or loss on disposal. This
is transferred to the statement of comprehensive income.
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Example:

A non-current asset cost Rs.82,000 when purchased. It was sold for Rs.53,000
when the accumulated depreciation was Rs.42,000. Disposal costs were

Rs.2,000.

Required

Show the book-keeping entries to record the disposal.

Answer
Disposal of asset account
Rs. Rs.
Non-current asset account 82,000 | Accumulated depreciation 42,000
account
Disposal expenses (Bank) 2,000 | Sales value (Receivables) 53,000
Gain on disposal 11,000
(statement of
comprehensive income)
95,000 95,000
Non-current asset account
Rs. Rs.
Opening balance 82,000 | Disposal account 82,000
Accumulated depreciation account
Rs. Rs.
Disposal account 42,000 | Opening balance 42,000
Receivables account
Rs. Rs.
Disposal account
(sale value of disposal) 53,000
Bank account
Rs. Rs.
Disposal account
(disposal expenses) 2,000
Statement of comprehensive income
Rs. Rs.
Disposal account
(gain on disposal) 11,000
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Non-current asset accounts in the general ledger are usually maintained for a
category of assets rather than for individual assets. This means that when a non-
current asset is disposed of, there will be a closing balance to carry forward on
the asset account and the accumulated depreciation account.

Example:

O

In the previous example, suppose that the balance on the non-current asset
account before the disposal was Rs.500,000 and the balance of the accumulated
depreciation account was Rs.180,000.

The accounting entries would be as follows:

Property, plant and equipment account

Rs. Rs.
Opening balance b/f 500,000 | Disposal account 82,000
Closing balance c/f 418,000
500,000 500,000
Opening balance b/f 418,000
Accumulated depreciation account
Rs. Rs.
Disposal account 42,000 | Opening balance b/f 180,000
Closing balance c/f 138,000
180,000 180,000
Opening balance b/f 138,000

Practice question
Eoﬁ A motor vehicle cost Rs.80,000 two years ago. It has been depreciated by
the reducing balance method at 25% each year. It has now been disposed
of for Rs.41,000. Disposal costs were Rs.200.

The balance on the motor vehicles account before the disposal was
Rs.720,000 and the balance on the accumulated depreciation of motor
vehicles account was Rs.250,000.

Show the book-keeping entries to record the disposal.
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5.3 Disposal of property, plant and equipment: part-exchange of an old asset

Sometimes, a supplier will agree to take an old asset in part-exchange for the
sale of a new asset. This practice is quite common, for example, with motor
vehicles. A business entity may buy a new motor vehicle from a car dealer, and
the car dealer will take an old motor vehicle in part-exchange for the new one.

Disposals of assets in part-exchange for a new asset are accounted for in much
the same way as disposals of property, plant and equipment for cash. The only
difference is that:

U  The disposal value of the old asset is the amount that the seller of the new
asset allows in part-exchange for the new asset.

0  The cost of the new asset is the full purchase price, but the double entry is
partly to bank/payables (for the cash payment) and partly to the disposal
account for the old asset (for the part-exchange value).

Example:
Q Entity X has several motor cars that are accounted for as property, plant and
equipment.

As at 1 January Year 5, the cost of the entity’s cars was Rs.200,000 and the
accumulated depreciation was Rs.80,000.

On 2 January Year 5, Entity X bought a hew car costing Rs.50,000.

The car dealer accepted a car owned by Entity X in part-exchange, and the part-
exchange value of this old car was Rs.4,000.

This car originally cost Rs.30,000 and its accumulated depreciation is Rs.25,000.

Required
(@) Calculate the gain or loss on disposal of the old car.

(b) Show how the purchase of the new car and the disposal of the old car will be
recorded in the ledger accounts of Entity X.

A Answer
E) (a)

Rs. Rs.
Sale proceeds on disposal (part-exchange 4,000
value)
Less disposal costs 0
Net disposal value 4,000
Asset at cost 30,000
Less: Accumulated depreciation (25,000)
Carrying amount at date of disposal (5,000)
Loss on disposal (1,000)
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Answer (b)
o Disposal of asset account
Rs. Rs.
Motor vehicles account 30,000 | Accumulated 25,000
depreciation account
Motor vehicles
account
(Trade-in value) 4,000
Loss on disposal 1,000
(statement of
comprehensive
income)
30,000 30,000
Motor vehicles account
1 January Rs. Rs.
Opening balance 200,000 | Disposal account 30,000
Bank (50,000 - 4,000) 46,000
Disposal of asset 4,000 | Closing balance 220,000
account
250,000 | 250,000
2 January |
Opening balance 220,000
Accumulated depreciation account
1 January Rs. Rs.
Disposal account 25,000 | Opening balance 80,000
Closing balance 55,000
80,000 | 80,000
2 January |
Opening balance 55,000
Bank account
Rs. Rs.
Motor vehicles 46,000
account
(Cash paid for new
car)
Statement of comprehensive income
Rs. Rs.
Disposal account 1,000
(Loss on disposal)
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Practice question 6
Eoﬁ A company has several motor cars that are accounted for as non-current
assets. As at 1 January Year 2, the cost of the cars was Rs.120,000 and the
accumulated depreciation was Rs.64,000.

During January the company bought a new car costing Rs.31,000 and was
given a part-exchange allowance against an old car of Rs.8,000. The car
being part exchanged originally cost Rs.28,000 and its accumulated
depreciation is Rs.18,000.

Required
(@) Calculate the gain or loss on disposal of the old car.

(b) Show how the purchase of the new car and the disposal of the old car
will be recorded in the ledger accounts.
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6 DISCLOSURE REQUIREMENTS OF IAS 16

Section overview

m Disclosure requirements of IAS 16

m  Accounting policies

6.1 Disclosure requirements of IAS 16

IAS 16 requires the following disclosures in the notes to the financial statements,
for each major class of property, plant and equipment.

Q

a
a
a

U

The measurement bases used (cost or revaluation model);

The depreciation methods used;

The useful lives or depreciation rates used;

Gross carrying amounts and the accumulated depreciation at the beginning
and at the end of the period,;

A reconciliation between the opening and closing values for gross carrying
amounts and accumulated depreciation, showing:

Additions during the year;

Disposals during the year;

Depreciation charge for the year;

Assets classified as held for sale in accordance with IFRS 5;
Acquisitions of assets through business combinations;
Impairment losses;

The effect of revaluations.

The following is an example of how a simple table for tangible non-current assets
may be presented in a note to the financial statements.
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@ lllustration:
h Plant and
Property equipment Total

Cost Rs. m Rs. m Rs. m
At the start of the year 7,200 2,100 9,300
Additions 920 340 1,260
Disposals (260) (170) (430)
At the end of the year 7,860 2,270 10,130
Accumulated depreciation
At the start of the year 800 1,100 1,900
Depreciation expense 120 250 370
Accumulated depreciation on
disposals (55) (130) (185)
At the end of the year 865 1,220 2,085
Carrying amount
At the start of the year 6,400 1,000 7,400
At the end of the year 6,995 1,050 8,045
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6.2 Accounting policies

IAS 1 requires the disclosure of accounting policies used that are relevant to an
understanding of the financial statements. Property, plant and equipment often
includes the largest numbers in the statement of financial position and results in
significant expense in the statement of comprehensive income.

One of the learning outcomes in this area is that you be able to formulate
accounting policies for property, plant and equipment.

There are many aspects of accounting policy for property plant and equipment.
Below is a typical note which covers many of the possible areas.

Property, plant and equipment comprises freehold and lease hold land and
buildings, plant and machinery, fixtures and fittings, vehicles, office equipment and
capital work in progress.

Land and buildings

@ lllustration: Accounting policy — Property, plant and equipment

Land and buildings comprise mainly factories, warehousing and offices.

Freehold land and buildings are shown at their fair value less accumulated
depreciation. Valuations are performed with sufficient regularity to ensure that the
fair value of a revalued asset does not differ materially from its carrying amount.

Increases in the carrying amount arising on revaluation of land and buildings are
credited directly to the revaluation surplus in accordance with s235 Companies’
Ordinance 1984.

Decreases that offset previous increases of the same asset are charged directly to
the revaluation surplus. Any amounts not so covered are recognised in profit or loss
for the period.

Depreciation is based on the carrying amount of the asset after the revaluation.
The incremental depreciation is the difference between the depreciation based on
historical cost and depreciation based on fair value. Each year this amount is
transferred from the revaluation surplus to accumulated profits.

Any accumulated depreciation at the date of revaluation is eliminated against the
gross carrying amount of the asset, and the net amount is restated to the revalued
amount of the asset.

When revalued assets are sold, the amounts included revaluation surplus in
respect of that asset is transferred to accumulated profits.

Freehold land has an indefinite useful life and is not depreciated. Freehold
buildings are depreciated on a straight-line basis over their useful economic lives
over as shown below.

Leasehold land and buildings are all depreciated on a straight-line basis over the
lease term.

Other tangible non-current assets

All other property, plant and equipment is carried at historical cost less
accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses.

Historical cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition of
the items, the cost of replacing parts of the plant and equipment and borrowing
costs capitalised in accordance with IAS 23; Borrowing costs.
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@ lllustration: Accounting policy - Property, plant and equipment

Depreciation is calculated using the straight-line method to allocate their cost or
revalued amounts to their residual values over their estimated useful lives, as
follows:

Buildings 35-50 years

Machinery 5 tol5 years

Vehicles 3 years

Furniture, fittings and equipment 5 to 10 years

The residual values and useful lives of assets are reviewed on an annual basis and
adjusted as appropriate.

Note from the above that there are two important areas where policies should be
explained to users of financial statements. These are:

O depreciation policy

O policy for subsequent measurement of property, plant and equipment.

Depreciation policy

The depreciable amount of an asset must be written off over its useful life.
Formulating a policy in this area involves:

O estimating the useful lives of different categories of assets;
U estimating residual values; and
U  choosing a method.

Policy for subsequent measurement
Formulating a policy in this area involves:
U  deciding whether to fair value any assets

U identifying classes of assets so that the policy can be applied to all assets
in that class;

O  deciding on how to apply the IAS 16 guidance on frequency of revaluation;
U deciding how to change the carrying amount of the asset.

It is particularly important to explain the impact that s.235 of the Companies
Ordinance 1984 has on the accounting treatment. Investors in Pakistan will
understand this but international investors might otherwise assume that IAS 16 is
being complied with unless the situation is explained.
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Property, plant and equipment, except freehold land, are stated at cost less

lllustration: Accounting policy
G
accumulated depreciation and any identified impairment loss.

Freehold land is stated at cost less any identified impairment loss.

Cost in relation to self-constructed assets includes direct cost of material, labour
and applicable manufacturing overheads and borrowing costs on qualifying asset.

Depreciation is charged to income, unless it is included in the carrying amount of
another asset, on straight line method whereby cost of an asset is written off over
its estimated useful life at the rates given in note XX.

Residual value and the useful life of an asset are reviewed at least at each
financial year-end.

Depreciation on additions is charged from the month in which an asset is acquired,
while no depreciation is charged for the month in which the asset is disposed of.
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7 QUESTION PROBLEMS

Section overview

m  Multiple assets
m  Working backwards
m Correcting errors

7.1 Multiple assets

Exam questions on property, plant and equipment usually involve multiple assets
with the need to keep track of additions and disposals in a period.

In any one year the charge for depreciation will be made up as follows:

@ lllustration: Make-up of depreciation charge

Rs.

Depreciation of assets held for the whole year (these are
assets held at the start less disposals) X

Depreciation of assets sold in the year (up to the date of sale) X

Depreciation of assets bought in year (from the date of
purchase) X

Depreciation charge for the year X

It is often useful to construct a working to calculate the depreciation charge for
different components of the asset base.

© Emile Woolf International 247 The Institute of Chartered Accountants of Pakistan



Financial accounting and reporting Il

O

Example: Depreciation of several assets (straight line)

A business has entered into the following transactions involving plant and
equipment over the last three years.

1 January 2013 Bought several items of plant and equipment for
Rs. 800,000.

30 June 2014 Bought several items of plant and equipment for
Rs. 500,000.

28 February 2015 Bought several items of plant and equipment for
Rs. 240,000.

31 March 2015 Sold some of the items which it had purchased on

1 January 2013. These items had cost Rs.

300,000.

The company depreciates assets on a straight line basis at 10% per

annum.

The depreciation in 2013, 2014 and 2015 can be calculated as follows:

2013 purchase (Rs. 800,000)

800,000 x 10% (2013 and 2014)

In 2015 this must be split:

Assets retained:
500,000 x 10%

Assets sold:
300,000 x 10% x3/12

2014 purchase (Rs. 500,000)
500,000 x 10% x 8/12
500,000 x 10%

2015 purchase (Rs. 200,000)
240,000 x 10% x 10/42

Depreciation charge

Depreciation on the assets sold:

Depreciation:
2013 2014 2015

80,000 80,000

50,000

7,500
57,500

25,000
50,000

20,000

80,000 105,000 127,500

300,000 x 10% x 2.25 (2 + 3/12) = Rs. 67,500

Examples are always more complicated when depreciation is calculated using the
reducing balance method.
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A business has entered into the following transactions involving plant and

Q Example: Depreciation of several assets (reducing balance)

1 January 2013

30 June 2014

28 February 2015

31 March 2015

800,000 x 20%

Depreciation charge

equipment over the last three years.

Bought several items of plant and equipment for
Rs. 800,000.

Bought several items of plant and equipment for
Rs. 500,000.

Bought several items of plant and equipment for
Rs. 240,000.

Sold some of the items which it had purchased on
1 January 2013. These items had cost Rs.
300,000.

The company depreciates assets using 20% reducing balance.
The depreciation in 2013, 2014 and 2015 can be calculated as follows:

Depreciation:
2013 2014 2015

2013 purchase (Rs. 800,000)

160,000

(800,000 - 160,000) x 20% 128,000

In 2015 the carrying amount of the
asset (800,000 - 160,000 -128,000
= 512,000) must be split:

Assets retained (512,000 x 500/gq0):
320,000 x 20%

Assets sold: (512,000 x 300/gq0):
192,000 x 20% x 3/12 9,600

64,000

73,600

2014 purchase (Rs. 500,000)
500,000 x 20% x /12 50,000
(500,000 - 50,000) x 20% 90,000

2015 purchase (Rs. 200,000)
240,000 x 20% x 10/12 40,000

160,000 178,000 203.600

Depreciation on the assets sold: Rs.
300,000 x 20% 60,000
(300,000 - 60,000) x 20% 48,000
(300,000 - 60,000 - 48,000) x 20% x 3/12 9,600

117,600
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7.2 Working backwards

A question may require you to construct figures by working backwards from
information provided. Such questions might provide information at the end of a
period and ask you to construct the ledger accounts that resulted in the
information. Alternatively, the question might reveal only one side of a double
entry and require you to construct the other.

Solving such questions requires a strong understanding of the measurement
rules for depreciation and of double entry principles.

Each question has different features. The following example illustrates some of

these.
Q Example
Accumulated depreciation
Rs. Rs.
1 January: Balance b/f 200,000
31 August: Disposal 30,667
31 December 31 December
Balance c/f 384,000 | Charge for the year 214,667
414,667 414,667
Disposal
Rs. Rs.
31 August: Cash 75,000
31 August: Cost 100,000 | 31 August: Disposal 30,667
Profit on disposal 5,667
105,667 105,667
Further information:
Assets are depreciated at 20% reducing balance.
The accumulated depreciation at the start of the year represents
depreciation charged on assets owned from the beginning of the previous
period.
The assets disposed of were all owned at the start of the year.
There were additions this year on 31 March.
Required: Construct the cost account for this category of non-current assets
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Example
Q Step 1: Draw the cost T account and fill in any easy detail (double entries that you
know about from the other accounts, narrative for other entries etc.)

Cost
Rs. Rs.
1 January: Balance b/f
31 March: Additions
31 August: Disposal 100,000
31 December
Balance c/f

You should now try to calculate the missing figures in order of difficulty

Example
Q Step 2: Calculate the opening balance.

The question tells us that the opening accumulated depreciation is that charged on
assets owned from the beginning of the previous period.

If this statement is true, there cannot have been any additions or disposals last
year.

Therefore the accumulated depreciation (Rs. 200,000) is 20% of the assets held at
the start of last year and these were still held at the end of the year.

Grossing this up provides the cost of assets.
Rs. 200,000 x 100/5 = Rs. 1,000,000.

Cost
Rs. Rs.

1 January: Balance b/f 1,000,000
31 March: Additions

31 August: Disposal 100,000
31 December
Balance c/f
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Example
Q Step 3: Calculate the depreciation on additions.

The question gives the depreciation charge for the year.

The total charge is the sum of depreciation on assets held for the whole year plus
assets up to the date of disposal plus assets from the date of purchase.

The question gives the total and gives information which allows you to calculate the
first two. Therefore the depreciation on assets from the date of purchase can be
found as a balancing figure.

This can be grossed up to give the cost of the additions.

Rs.

Depreciation on assets held for the whole year

(1,000,000 - 100,000) x 80% x 20% 144,000
Depreciation on assets sold (1 January to 31 August)

100,000 x 80% x 20% x 8/12 10,667
Depreciation on assets purchased (31 March to 31
December) - a balancing figure 60,000
Total depreciation charge for the year 214,667

Step 4: Gross up the depreciation on additions to find the cost of additions

Rs. 60,000 is 20% x 9/12 of the cost.
But 20% x 9/12 = 15%
Therefore the cost = Rs.60,000 x 100/,5 = Rs. 400,000

Step 5: Complete the T account.

Cost
Rs. Rs.
1 January: Balance b/f 1,000,000
31 March: Additions 400,000
31 August: Disposal 100,000
31 December
Balance c¢/f 1,300,000
1,400,000 1,400,000
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7.3 Correcting errors

Questions often feature mistakes made in terms of a transaction incorrectly
classified as capital or as repair.

Q Example: Error: Repair incorrectly capitalised

The balance on a business’s plant account as at 31 December is as follows.

Rs.
Cost 1,200,000
Accumulated depreciation (500,000)
Carrying amount 700,000

The company has discovered that a repair which cost Rs. 200,000 was
incorrectly capitalised on 31 July.

Depreciation is charged at 15% reducing balance.

Correction of the error:

The amount capitalised would have been depreciated so the amount
must be removed from cost and the depreciation incorrectly charged
must be removed.

The correcting journals are: Dr Cr

Statement of comprehensive income:
line item to which repairs are charged 200,000

Plant - cost 200,000
and

Accumulated depreciation
(200,000 x 15% x 5/12) 12,500

Statement of comprehensive income:
Depreciation expense 12,500

The impact on the carrying amount of the plant is as follows:

Before (Rs.) After (Rs.)
Cost 1,200,000 (200,000) 1,000,000
Accumulated depreciation (500,000) 12,500 (487,500)
Carrying amount 700,000 512,500
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O

Example: Errors: Asset incorrectly expensed

The balance on a business’s plant account as at 31 December is as follows.

Rs.
Cost 1,200,000
Accumulated depreciation (500,000)
Carrying amount 700,000

The company has discovered that on 31 July an amount of Rs. 200,000
was charged to the statement of comprehensive income but it should
have been capitalised.

Depreciation is charged at 15% reducing balance.

Correction of the error:
The amount must be capitalised and depreciated.

The correcting journals are: Dr Cr

Plant - cost 200,000

Statement of comprehensive income:

line item to which repairs are charged 200,000
and

Statement of comprehensive income:
Depreciation expense 12,500

Accumulated depreciation
(200,000 x 15% x 5/12) 12,500

The impact on the carrying amount of the plant is as follows:

Before (Rs.) After (Rs.)
Cost 1,200,000 200,000 1,400,000
Accumulated depreciation (500,000) (12,500) (512,500)
Carrying amount 700,000 887,500
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SOLUTIONS TO PRACTICE QUESTIONS

Solution 1
Original depreciation=(150,000 - 30,000/, = Rs,.12,000 per annum
Carrying amount at start of year 5 = 150,000 - (12,000 x 3) =
Rs.114,000
If the total useful life is anticipated to be 7 years then there are four
years remaining.
Depreciation charge for year 5 =Rs 114,000/, = Rs.28,500
Solution 2
a Building account
Rs.(000) Rs.(000)
Balance b/d 1,000
Revaluation surplus
(Rs.2m - Rs. 1m) 1,000 | Balance c/d 2,000
2,000 2,000
Balance b/d 2,000
b Accumulated depreciation
Rs.(000) Rs.(000)
Revaluation surplus 60 | Balance b/d 60
60 60
c Revaluation surplus
YEAR 1 Rs.(000) Rs.(000)
Building account 1.000
Balance c/d 1,060 | Accumulated depreciation 60
1,060 1,060
- Balance b/d W
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Solution 3
Annual depreciation = Rs(96,000 - 16,000)/5 ., = Rs.16,000.
Monthly depreciation = Rs.16,000/45, = Rs, 1,333.33.
Rs. Rs.

Disposal value less disposal costs 68,000

Cost of the asset 96,000

Accumulated depreciation at the time of

disposal (27 months xRs. 1,333.33) (36,000)

Carrying amount at the date of disposal - 60,000

Gain on disposal W
Solutions 4
Annual depreciation = Rs.(216,000 - 24,000) /g yo.rs = Rs.24,000.

Rs. Rs.
Disposal value 163,000
Less disposal costs (1,000)
162,000

Accumulated depreciation at the time of

disposal

Year to 31 December Year 1: (Rs.24,000 x 7/12) 14,000

Years 2 and 3: (Rs.24,000 x 2 years) 48,000

Year to 31 December Year 4: (Rs.24,000 x 8/15) 16,000

78,000

Cost of the asset 216,000

Carrying amount at the date of disposal 138,000

Gain on disposal 24,000
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Solution 5
Rs. Rs.
Cost of the asset 80,000
Year 1 depreciation (x 25%) (20,000) 20,000
Carrying amount at end of Year 1 60,000
Year 2 depreciation (x 25%) (15,000) 15,000
Accumulated depreciation at date of disposal 35,000

Disposal account

Rs. Rs.
Motor vehicles account 80,000 | Accumulated depreciation 35,000
Bank (disposal costs) 200 | Receivables 41,000
Statement of
comprehensive income
(loss on disposal) 4,200
80,200 80,200
b Motor vehicles
Rs. Rs.
Opening balance b/d 720,000 | Disposal of asset account 80,000
Closing balance c¢/d 640,000
720,000 720,000
Opening balance b/d 640,000
c Accumulated depreciation on motor vehicles
Rs. Rs.
Disposal of asset
account 35,000 | Opening balance b/f 250,000
Closing balance c/d 215,000
250,000 250,000
Opening balance b/d 215,000
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Solution 6
Rs. Rs.
Sale proceeds on disposal (part-exchange value) 8,000
Asset at cost 28,000
Less: Accumulated depreciation (18,000)
Carrying amount at date of disposal (10,000)
Loss on disposal (2,000)

Disposal account

Rs. Rs.
Accumulated depreciation
Motor vehicles account 28,000 | account 18,000
Motor vehicles account
(Trade-in value) 8,000
Loss on disposal 2,000
28,000 28,000
b Motor vehicles
Rs. Rs.
Opening balance 120,000 | Disposal account 28,000
Bank (31,000 - 8,000) 23,000
Disposal of asset
account ___ 8,000 | Closing balance 123,000
_ 151,000 | _ 151,000
Opening balance 151,000
c Accumulated depreciation on motor vehicles
Rs. Rs.
Disposal account 18,000 | Opening balance 64,000
Closing balance 46,000
64,000 64,000
Opening balance 46,000
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INTRODUCTION

Learning outcomes

The overall objective of the syllabus is to broaden the knowledge base of basic accounting
acquired in earlier modules with emphasis on International Financial Reporting Standards.

LO2 Account for transactions relating to tangible and intangible assets
including transactions relating to their common financing matters.

LO2.1.1 Explain and apply the accounting treatment of property, plant and equipment
and intangible assets.

LO2.1.2 Formulate accounting policies in respect of property, plant and equipment and
intangible assets
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1 |AS 38: INTANGIBLE ASSETS - INTRODUCTION

Section overview

Introduction

Definition of an intangible asset

Recognition criteria for intangible assets
Separate acquisition

Exchange transactions

Granted by government

Subsequent expenditure on intangible assets

11

Introduction

IAS 38: Intangible assets sets out rules on the recognition, measurement and
disclosure of intangible assets.

IAS 38 establishes similar rules for intangible assets to those set out elsewhere
(mainly in IAS 16) for tangible assets. It was developed from the viewpoint that
an asset is an asset so there should be no real difference in how tangible and
intangible assets are accounted for. However, there is an acknowledgement that
it can be more difficult to identify the existence of an intangible asset so IAS 38
gives broader guidance on how to do this when an intangible asset is acquired
through a variety of means.

IAS 38:

O  requires intangible assets to be recognised in the financial statements if,
and only if, specified criteria are met and explains how these are applied
however an intangible asset is acquired.

. A key issue with expenditure on ‘intangible items’ is whether it should
be treated as an expense and included in full in profit or loss for the
period in which incurred, or whether it should be capitalised and
treated as a long-term asset.

. IAS 38 sets out criteria to determine which of these treatments is
appropriate in given circumstances.

O  explains how to measure the carrying amount of intangibles assets when
they are first recognised and how to measure them at subsequent reporting
dates;

. Most types of long-term intangible asset are ‘amortised’ over their
expected useful life. (Amortisation of intangible assets is the
equivalent of depreciation of tangible non-current assets.)

U  sets out disclosure requirements for intangible assets in the financial
statements.
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1.2 Definition of an intangible asset

Definitions
o)
&

An asset: A resource controlled by the company as a result of past events and from
which future economic benefits are expected to flow.

Intangible asset: An identifiable, non-monetary asset without physical substance’

An intangible asset is a type of asset. Therefore expenditure on an intangible
item must satisfy both definitions before it can be considered to be an asset.

Commentary on the definitions
Control

The existence of control is useful in deciding whether an intangible item meets
the criteria for treatment as an asset.

Control means that a company has the power to obtain the future economic
benefits flowing from the underlying resource and also can restrict the access of
others to those benefits.

Control would usually arise where there are legal rights, for example legal rights
over the use of patents or copyrights. Ownership of legal rights would indicate
control over them. However, legal enforceability is not a necessary condition for
control.

For tangible assets such as property, plant and equipment the asset physically
exists and the company controls it. However, in the case of an intangible asset,
control may be harder to achieve or prove.

A company might have a team of skilled staff and may be able to identify
incremental staff skills leading to future economic benefits from training
and expect that the staff will continue to make their skills available to the
company.

@ lllustration: Team of skilled staff

However, staff could leave their employment at any time, taking with them
the skills they have acquired through training. Therefore, a company usually
has insufficient control over the expected future economic benefits for
these items to meet the definition of an intangible asset.

@ lllustration: Customer lists

A company may have a portfolio of customers which it expects to continue
to trade with the company. In the absence of legal rights to protect the
relationship, the company usually has insufficient control over the expected
economic benefits to meet the definition of an intangible asset.

However, exchange transactions for the same or similar non-contractual
customer relationships provide evidence that the company is able to control
those benefits in the absence of such legal rights.

Such exchange transactions also provide evidence that the customer
relationship is separable so, thus meeting the intangible asset definition.

This means that a purchased customer list would usually be capitalised.
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Future economic benefits
These may include revenues and/or cost savings.

Evidence of the probability that economic benefits will flow to the company may
come from:

(| market research;
a feasibility studies; and,

O  abusiness plan showing the technical, financial and other resources
needed and how the company will obtain them.

Need to be identifiable

An intangible asset must also be ‘identifiable’. Intangibles, by their very nature,
do not physically exist. It is therefore important that this ‘identifiability test’ is
satisfied.

IAS 38 states that to be identifiable an intangible asset:
Q must be separable; or
O  must arise from contractual or other legal rights.

To be separable, the intangible must be capable of being separated or divided
from the company, and sold, transferred, licensed, rented or exchanged.

Many typical intangibles such as patent rights, copyrights and purchased brands
would meet this test, (although they might fail other recognition criteria for an
intangible asset).

Without physical substance
Non-physical form increases the difficulty of identifying the asset.

Certain intangible assets may be contained in or upon an article which has
physical substance (e.g. floppy disc). Whether such assets are treated as
tangible or intangible requires. This judgement is based on which element is the
most significant.

U Computer software for a computer controlled machine tool that cannot
operate without that specific software is an integral part of the related
hardware and it is treated as property, plant and equipment. The same
applies to the operating system of a computer.

O  Computer software, other than the operating system, is an intangible asset.
The same applies to licences, patents or motion picture films acquired or
internally generated by the reporting company.

Identifiable assets that result from research and development activities are
intangible assets because any physical element of those assets (for example, a
prototype) is secondary to the knowledge that is the primary outcome of those
activities.
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1.3 Recoghnition criteria for intangible assets

Introduction

If an intangible item satisfies the definitions it is hot necessarily recognised in the
financial statements. In order to be recognised it must satisfy the recognition
criteria for intangible assets.

If an item meets the definitions of being an asset, and being intangible, certain
recognition criteria must be applied to decide whether the item should be
recognised as an intangible asset.

Recoghnition

An intangible asset is recognised when it:

Q complies with the definition of an intangible asset; and,

U meets the recognition criteria set out in the standard.

Recoghition criteria
An intangible asset must be recognised if (and only if):

O itis probable that future economic benefits specifically attributable to the
asset will flow to the company; and,

U the cost of the asset can be measured reliably.

The probability of future economic benefits must be assessed using reasonable
and supportable assumptions that represent management’s best estimate of the
set of economic conditions that will exist over the useful life of the asset.

These recognition criteria are broadly the same as those specified in IAS 16 for
tangible non-current assets.

Measurement

An intangible asset must be measure at cost when first recognised.

Means of acquiring intangible assets

A company might obtain control over an intangible resource in a number of ways.
Intangible assets might be:

O  purchased separately;

U acquired in exchange for another asset;

U given to a company by way of a government grant.
U  internally generated; or

O  acquired in a business combination;

IAS 38 provides extra guidance on how the recognition criteria are to be applied
and/or how the asset is to be measured in each circumstance.
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1.4 Separate acquisition

Recoghnition guidance

The probability recognition criterion is always satisfied for separately acquired
intangible assets.

The price paid to acquire separately an intangible asset normally reflects
expectations about the probability that the future economic benefits embodied in
the asset will flow to the company. The effect of the probability is reflected in the
cost of the asset.

Also the cost of a separately acquired intangible asset can usually be measured
reliably especially when the purchase consideration is in the form of cash or other
monetary assets.

Cost guidance

Cost is determined according to the same principles applied in accounting for
other assets.

The cost of a separately acquired intangible asset comprises:

O  its purchase price, including any import duties and non-refundable
purchase taxes, after deducting any trade discounts and rebates; and

O  any directly attributable expenditure on preparing the asset for its intended
use. For example:

. costs of employee benefits (as defined in IAS 19, Employee Benefits)
arising directly from bringing the asset to its working condition;

. professional fees for legal services; and
. costs of testing whether the asset is functioning properly.

The recognition of costs ceases when the intangible asset is in the condition
necessary for it to be capable of operating in the manner intended by
management.

Deferred payments are included at the cash price equivalent and the difference
between this amount and the payments made are treated as interest.

1.5 Exchange transactions

An intangible asset may be acquired in exchange or part exchange for another
intangible asset or another asset.

The cost of such items is measured at fair value unless:
U the exchange transaction lacks commercial substance; or,

U the fair value of neither the asset received nor the asset given up is reliably
measurable.

If the acquired item is not measured at fair value it is measured at the carrying
amount of the asset given up.

Note, that these rules are the same as those described for tangible assets in an
earlier chapter.
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1.6 Granted by government

A government transfers or allocates intangible assets such as airport landing
rights, licences to operate radio or television stations, import licences or quotas
or rights to access other restricted resources.

An intangible asset may be acquired free of charge, or for nominal consideration,
by way of a government grant.

IAS 20: Accounting for Government Grants and Disclosure of Government
Assistance, allows the intangible asset and the grant to be recorded at fair value
initially or at a nominal amount plus any expenditure that is directly attributable to
preparing the asset for its intended use.

1.7 Subsequent expenditure on intangible assets

Subsequent expenditure is only capitalised if it can be measured and attributed to
an asset and enhances the value of the asset. This would rarely be the case:

O  The nature of intangible assets is such that, in many cases, there are no
additions to such an asset or replacements of part of it.

O  Most subsequent expenditure is likely to maintain the expected future
economic benefits embodied in an existing intangible asset rather than
meet the definition of an intangible asset and the recognition criteria.

O  Also it is often difficult to attribute subsequent expenditure directly to a
particular intangible asset rather than to the business as a whole.

Maintenance expenditure is expensed.
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2 INTERNALLY GENERATED INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Section overview

m Internally-generated intangible items
m Research and development
m  Accounting treatment of development costs

2.1 Internally-generated intangible items

An internally-generated intangible asset is an asset created by a company
through its own efforts. (An internally-generated asset differs from an acquired
asset that has been purchased from an external seller.) For example, a
publishing company may build up legal copyrights by publishing books.

It can sometimes be difficult for a company to assess whether an internally-
generated asset qualifies for recognition as an asset in the financial statements
because:

a it is not identifiable: or

O  its cost cannot be determined reliably.

Recoghnition prohibited

IAS 38 prohibits the recognition of the following internally-generated intangible

items:
a  goodwill
a brands

O  mastheads (Note: a masthead is a recognisable title, usually in a distinctive
typographical form, appearing at the top of an item. An example is a
newspaper masthead on the front page of a daily newspaper)

U publishing titles

U customer lists.

Recognition of these items as intangible assets when they are generated

internally is prohibited because the internal costs of producing these items cannot

be distinguished separately from the costs of developing and operating the
business as a whole.

Note that any of these items would be recognised if they were purchased
separately.

Other internally generated intangibles

IAS 38 provides further guidance on how to assess whether other internally
generated intangibles assets meet the criteria for recognition.
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2.2 Research and development

The term ‘research and development’ is commonly used to describe work on the
innovation, design, development and testing of new products, processes and
systems.

Assessment of whether an internally generated intangible asset meets the criteria
for recognition requires a company to classify the generation of the asset into:

O  aresearch phase; and
O  adevelopment phase.

If the research phase cannot be distinguished from the development phase the
expenditure on the project is all treated as that incurred on the research phase.

Research phase

Definition: Research
o)

& Research is original and planned investigation undertaken with the prospect of
gaining new scientific or technical knowledge and understanding.

Examples of research activities include:
O  Activities aimed at obtaining new knowledge.

O  The search for and evaluation of applications of knowledge obtained from
research.

O  The search for alternative materials, products or processes.

U The formulation and testing of possible alternatives for new materials,
products or processes.

Research costs cannot be an intangible asset. Expenditure on research should
be recognised as an expense as it is incurred and included in profit or loss for the
period.

Development phase

Definition: Development
o)

Development is the application of research findings or other knowledge to a plan or
design for the production of new or substantially improved materials, devices,
products, processes, systems or services before the start of commercial production
or use.

Examples of development activities include:

O  The design, construction and testing of pre-production prototypes and
models.

U  The design of tolls involving new technology.

O  The construction and operation of a pilot plant that is not large enough for
economic commercial production.

U  The design, construction and testing of new materials, products or
processes.
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2.3 Accounting treatment of development costs

Development costs are capitalised when they meet certain further criteria. (These
comprise more detailed guidance on whether it is probable that future economic
benefits from the asset will flow to the entity and whether the cost can be
measured reliably).

Development costs must be recognised as an intangible asset, but only if all the
following conditions can be demonstrated.

O  Itis technically feasible to complete the development project.

O  The company intends to complete the development of the asset and then

use or sell it.
U  The asset that is being developed is capable of being used or sold.
O  Future economic benefits can be generated. This might be proved by the

existence of a market for the asset’s output or the usefulness of the asset
within the company itself.

U  Resources are available to complete the development project.

O  The development expenditure can be measured reliably (for example, via
costing records).

If any one of these conditions is not met, the development expenditure must be
treated in the same way as research costs and recognised in full as an expense
when it is incurred.

Only expenditure incurred after all the conditions have been met can be
capitalised.

Once such expenditure has been written off as an expense, it cannot
subsequently be reinstated as an intangible asset.

Example:
Q Company Q has undertaken the development of a new product. Total costs to date
have been Rs. 800,000. All of the conditions for recognising the development costs
as an intangible asset have now been met.

However, Rs. 200,000 of the Rs. 800,000 was spent before it became clear that
the project was technically feasible, could be resourced and the developed product
would be saleable and profitable.

Development costs.

The Rs. 200,000 incurred before all of the conditions for recognising the
development costs as an intangible asset were met must be written off as an
expense.

The remaining Rs. 600,000 should be capitalised and recognised as an intangible
asset (development costs).
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Initial measurement

The cost of an internally generated intangible asset is the sum of expenditure
incurred from the date when the intangible asset first meets the recognition
criteria for such assets.

Expenditure recognised as an expense in previous annual financial statements or
interim financial reports may not be capitalised.

The cost of an internally generated intangible asset comprises all expenditure
that can be directly attributed, and is necessary to creating, producing, and
preparing the asset for it to be capable of operating in the manner intended by
management.

Where applicable cost includes:
U expenditure on materials and services used or consumed;

O the salaries, wages and other employment related costs of personnel
directly engaged in generating the asset; and

O  any expenditure that is directly attributable to generating the asset.

In addition, IAS 23 specifies criteria for the recognition of interest as an element
of the cost of an internally generated intangible asset. The IAS 23 guidance was
covered in the previous chapter.

Costs that are not components of cost of an internally generated intangible asset
include:

Q selling and administration overhead costs;
U initial operating losses incurred,;

O  costs that have previously been expensed, (e.g., during a research phase)
must not be reinstated; and,

U training expenditure.
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3 INTANGIBLE ASSETS ACQUIRED IN A BUSINESS COMBINATION

Section overview

m  Recognition guidance
m Cost guidance

In-process research and development

31

This section relates to intangible assets acquired when a company (the acquirer)
buys a controlling interest in another company (the acquiree). The section largely
relates to the recognition of intangibles in the consolidated financial statements of
the parent.

Recognition guidance

Any intangible asset identified in a business combination will be recognised as
both recognition criteria are deemed to be recognised.

The probability recognition criterion always considered to be satisfied for
intangible assets acquired in business combinations. This is because the fair
value of an intangible asset reflects expectations about the probability that the
expected future economic benefits embodied in the asset will flow to the
company. In other words, the entity expects there to be an inflow of economic
benefits.

The reliable measurement criterion is always considered to be satisfied for
intangible assets acquired in business combinations. If an asset acquired in a
business combination is separable or arises from contractual or other legal rights,
sufficient information exists to measure reliably the fair value of the asset.

Commentary

This means that an intangible asset that was not recognised in the financial
statements of the new subsidiary might be recognised in the consolidated
financial statements.

lllustration:

Company X buys 100% of Company Y.

Company Y owns a famous brand that it launched several years ago.
Analysis

The brand is not recognised in Company Y’s financial statements (IAS 38 prohibits
the recognition of internally generated brands).

From the Company X group viewpoint the brand is a purchased asset. Part of the
consideration paid by Company X to buy Company Y was to buy the brand and it
should be recognised in the consolidated financial statements.
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Examples of intangible assets

The following are all items that would meet the definition of an intangible asset if
acquired in a business combination.

O  Market related intangibles

o Trademarks, trade names, service marks, collective marks and
certification marks;

o Internet domain names;
. Newspaper mastheads; and
. Non-competition agreements
O  Customer related intangibles
. Customer lists;
. Order or production backlog;
o Customer contracts and the related customer relationships; and
O  Artistic related intangibles
. Plays, operas and ballets;
. Books, magazines, newspapers and other literary works;
. Musical works (compositions, song lyrics and advertising jingles);
. Pictures and photographs; and
. Video and audio visual material:
o Music videos; and
. Television programmes
O  Contract based intangibles
. Licensing and royalty agreements;
o Construction permits;
o Franchise agreements
. Operating and broadcasting rights;

o Use rights such as drilling, water, air, mineral, timber-cutting and
route authorities;

O  Technology based intangibles
. Patented and unpatented technology;
. Computer software and databases; and

. Trade secrets (secret formulas, processes, recipes)

3.2 Cost guidance

If an intangible asset is acquired in a business combination, its cost is the fair
value at the acquisition date.

If cost cannot be measured reliably then the asset will be subsumed within
goodwill.
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3.3 In-process research and development
Another similar example involves in-process research and development

The acquiree might have a research and development project in process.
Furthermore, it might not recognise an asset for the project because the
recognition criteria for internally generated intangible assets have not been met.

However, the acquirer would recognise the in-process research and development
as an asset in the consolidated financial statements as long as it:

(| meets the definition of an asset; and

O isidentifiable, i.e. is separable or arises from contractual or other legal
rights.

@ lllustration:
h Company X buys 100% of Company Y.

Company Y has spent Rs. 600,000 on a research and development project. This
amount has all been expensed as the IAS 38 criteria for capitalising costs incurred
in the development phase of a project have not been met. Company Y has
knowhow as the result of the project.

Company X estimates the fair value of Company Y’s knowhow which has arisen as
a result of this project to be Rs. 500,000.

Analysis

The in-process research and development is not recoghised in Company Y’s
financial statements (IAS 38 prohibits the recognition of internally generated
brands).

From the Company X group viewpoint the in-process research and development is
a purchased asset. Part of the consideration paid by Company X to buy Company Y
was to buy the knowhow resulting from the project and it should be recognised in
the consolidated financial statements at its fair value of Rs. 500,000.

Subsequent expenditure on an acquired inprocess research and development
project

Expenditure incurred on an in-process research or development project acquired
separately or in a business combination and recognised as an intangible asset is
accounted for in the usual way by applying the IAS 38 recognition criteria.

This means that further expenditure on such a project would not be capitalised
unless the criteria for the recognition of internally generated intangible assets
were met.
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@ lllustration:

h Continuing the previous example. Company X owns 100% of Company Y and has
recoghised an intangible asset of Rs. 500,000 as a result of the acquisition of the
company.

Company Y has spent a further Rs. 150,000 on the research and development
project since the date of acquisition. This amount has all been expensed as the IAS
38 criteria for capitalising costs incurred in the development phase of a project
have not been met.

Analysis

The Rs. 150,000 expenditure is not recognised in Company Y’s financial
statements (IAS 38 prohibits the recognition of internally generated brands).

From the Company X group viewpoint, further work on the in-process research and
development project is research and the expenditure of Rs. 150,000 must be
expensed.
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4 MEASUREMENT AFTER RECOGNITION

Section overview

Choice of policy

Revaluation model

Amortisation of intangible assets
Disposals of intangible assets

4.1 Choice of policy

Intangible assets are recognised at cost when first acquired.

IAS 38 allows a business to choose one of two measurement models as its
accounting policy for property, intangible assets after acquisition. The same
model should be applied to all assets in the same class.

The two measurement models for intangible assets after acquisition are:

O  cost model (i.e. cost less accumulated depreciation); and

U revaluation model (i.e. revalued amount less accumulated depreciation
since the most recent revaluation).

Class of assets

The same model should be applied to all assets in the same class. A class of
intangible assets is a grouping of assets of a similar nature and use in an entity’s
operations. Examples of separate classes may include:

a brand names;

mastheads and publishing titles;
computer software;

licences and franchises;

(I Iy Iy

copyrights, patents and other industrial property rights, service and
operating rights;

O  recipes, formulae, models, designs and prototypes; and

O  intangible assets under development.

Cost model

An intangible asset is carried at its cost less any accumulated amortisation and
any accumulated impairment losses after initial recognition.
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4.2 Revaluation model

Intangible assets can be revalued according to the same rules as those applied
to the revaluation of property, plant and equipment. These were explained in
detail in the previous chapter so will be covered in less detail here.

An intangible asset is carried at a revalued amount, (its fair value at the date of
the revaluation less any subsequent accumulated amortisation and any
accumulated impairment losses).

This is only allowed if the fair value can be determined by reference to an active
market in that type of intangible asset.

,D Definition: Active market

- An active market is a market in which all the following conditions exist:
(a) the items traded in the market are homogeneous;

(b) willing buyers and sellers can normally be found at any time; and

(c) prices are available to the public.

Active markets for intangible assets are rare. Very few companies revalue
intangible assets in practice.

The requirement that intangible assets can only be revalued with reference to an
active market is a key difference between the IAS 16 revaluation rules for
property, plant and equipment and the IAS 38 revaluation rules for intangible
assets.

An active market for an intangible asset might disappear. If the fair value of a
revalued intangible asset can no longer be measured by reference to an active
market the carrying amount of the asset going forward is its revalued amount at
the date of the last revaluation less any subsequent accumulated amortisation
and impairment losses.

Frequency of revaluations

Revaluations must be made with sufficient regularity so that the carrying amount
does not differ materially from its fair value at the reporting date.

The frequency of revaluations should depend on the volatility in the value of the
assets concerned. When the value of assets is subject to significant changes
(high volatility), annual revaluations may be necessary.

However, such frequent revaluations are unnecessary for items subject to only
insignificant changes in fair value. In such cases it may be necessary to revalue
the item only every three or five years.
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Changing the carrying amount of the asset

When an item of property, plant and equipment is revalued, any accumulated
depreciation at the date of the revaluation is treated in one of the following ways:

Method 1: Restate accumulated depreciation proportionately with the change in
the gross carrying amount of the asset so that the carrying amount of the asset
after revaluation equals its revalued amount.

Method 2:

O  Step 1: Transfer the accumulated depreciation to the asset account. The
result of this is that the balance on the asset account is now the carrying
amount of the asset and the accumulated depreciation account in respect
of this asset is zero.

O  Step 2: Change the balance on the asset account to the revalued amount.

Accounting for the revaluation

The revaluation is carried out according to the same principles applied in
accounting for other assets.

Again there is a conflict between IFRS and the Companies’ Ordinance 1984. The
two sets of rules are summarised below:

Companies’ Ordinance 1984 IAS 38

Upwards
revaluations

Recognised directly in an
account outside equity called
revaluation surplus.

Recognised in other
comprehensive income and
accumulated in equity under
the heading of revaluation
surplus.

However: An increase is recognised in an increase is recognised in
profit or loss to the extent that  profit or loss to the extent that
it reverses a revaluation it reverses a revaluation
decrease of the same asset decrease of the same asset
previously recognised in profit  previously recognised in profit
or loss. or loss.

Downward  Recognised in profit or loss. Recognised in profit or loss.

revaluations
However:

A decrease is recognised in
directly in the revaluation
surplus to the extent of any
credit balance in the
revaluation surplus in respect
of that asset

A decrease is recognised in
other comprehensive income
to the extent of any credit
balance in the revaluation
surplus in respect of that asset
thus reducing the amount
accumulated in equity under
the heading of revaluation
surplus.
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4.3

Realisation of the revaluation surplus

Most intangible assets eventually disappear from the statement of financial
position either by becoming fully amortised or because the company sells them.

If nothing were done this would mean that there was a revaluation surplus on the
face of the statement of financial position that related to an asset that was no
longer owned.

O  IAS 38 allows (but does not require) the transfer of a revaluation surplus to
retained earnings when the asset to which it relates is derecognised
(realised).

O  Section 235 Companies Ordinance 1984 requires this.

This might happen over several years as the asset is depreciated or at a point in
time when the asset is sold.

Revaluation of an asset causes an increase in the annual depreciation charge.
The difference is known as excess depreciation (or incremental depreciation):

Excess depreciation is the difference between:
O  the depreciation charge on the re-valued amount of the asset, and
O  the depreciation that would have been charged on historical cost.

Each year a business might make a transfer from the revaluation surplus to the
retained profits equal to the amount of the excess depreciation.

Amortisation of intangible assets

A company must assess whether the useful life of an intangible asset is:
a  finite: or

U indefinite.

If the useful life of an intangible asset is assessed as being finite the company
must assess its useful life.

An intangible asset is assessed as having an indefinite useful life when (based
on an analysis of all of the relevant factors) there is no foreseeable limit to the
period over which the asset is expected to generate net cash inflows.

Intangibles with a finite useful life

The depreciable amount of an intangible asset with a finite useful life is allocated
on a systematic basis over its useful life.

Amortisation begins when the asset is available for use, i.e. when it is in the
location and condition necessary for it to be capable of operating in the manner
intended by management.

Amortisation ends at the earlier of the date that the asset is classified as held for
sale in accordance with IFRS 5 and the date that the asset is derecognised.

The amortisation method used must reflect the pattern in which the asset's future
economic benefits are expected to be consumed by the entity. If that pattern
cannot be determined reliably, the straight-line method must be used.
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The residual value of an intangible asset must be assumed to be zero unless:

O  there is a commitment by a third party to purchase the asset at the end of
its useful life; or

(| there is an active market for the asset and:
o residual value can be determined by reference to that market; and

. it is probable that such a market will exist at the end of the asset's
useful life.

The amortisation period and the amortisation method must be reviewed at least
at each financial year-end.

O  Where there is a change in the useful life, the carrying amount (cost minus
accumulated depreciation) of the asset at the date of change is written off
over the (revised) remaining useful life of the asset.

O  Where there is a change in the depreciation method used, this is a change
in accounting estimate. A change of accounting estimate is applied from the
time of the change, and is not applied re